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The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences (MAAS) acknowledges 
Australia’s First Nations Peoples as the traditional owners and custodians 
of the land and gives respect to the Elders — past and present — and 
through them to all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

MAAS recognises and shares the value and importance of preserving, 
revitalising and strengthening Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
cultures, histories and achievements. Central to achieving the MAAS 
vision for reconciliation is the exploration and fulfilment of a range of 
mutually beneficial opportunities in partnership with Traditional Owners 
and Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander cultures and networks, allowing the 
activities of MAAS to be linked to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples as a fundamental human right.

Acknowledgment  
of country  
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Mission
To be a catalyst for creative 
expression and curious minds.

Vision
To be the leading museum  
of applied arts and sciences; 
inspiring people and communities 
to transform our world.

Values
Integrity. Courage. Passion.



4
MAAS   
Annual Report  
2017–18

MAAS is Australia’s only museum of applied arts and sciences with  
an exceptional collection, significant venues and location in Sydney, 
Australia’s global city. The MAAS collection is not bound by time or  
place, rather it seeks to represent and encompass human creativity  
in all its expressions across the arts and sciences and tells a story of 
innovation, imagination and ingenuity.  

MAAS understands that a successful, more culturally diverse, innovative 
society is based on the creative use of knowledge. The best ideas emerge 
from a culture that values experimentation, interdisciplinary conversation 
and an openness to the unexpected.  

The MAAS direction in 2017–18 was guided by the priorities of the MAAS 
2017–22 Strategic Plan (viewable at maas.museum/strategic-plan/).

The MAAS Strategic Plan seeks to position the organisation at the 
forefront of contemporary museums. It outlines the MAAS vision, mission 
and values and an interdisciplinary way of working. The focus for MAAS 
during 2017–18 was on: 

•  Planning and delivering an audience-centric schedule of exhibitions  
and programs across all three MAAS venues which both retains  
existing audiences and strategically builds new audiences.

•  Continual improvement of customer service approach and forward-
facing systems across sites, monitored by evaluative research. 

•  Driving international tourism at Sydney Observatory, intra and interstate 
tourism at the Powerhouse Museum, and intrastate tourism at Museums 
Discovery Centre through a dedicated strategy and the support of 
funding partners. 

•  Establishing a whole of organisation approach to partnerships,  
focusing on partnerships which drive income, research, reputation,  
new experiences and best practice governance. 

•  Optimising internal systems and processes across venues to coordinate  
a whole of organisation approach to the development of the offer and 
ensure the organisation is best placed to maximise revenue and is 
compliant with government requirements. 

•  Implementing the Collection Development Policy and Strategic 
Collections Policy Framework, alongside developing a strategic  
approach to commissions, and digitisation and documentation  
of the collection. 

•  Establishing a whole-of-organisation understanding of the MAAS brand, 
alongside a focus on content, media, loans and awards, to build national 
and international reputation. 

•  Increasing access to programs and collections regionally, internationally 
and digitally through touring, digital tools and a strategic approach to 
engaging more diverse audiences. 

•  Promoting touring exhibitions and addressing the needs of a range  
of specific audiences including schools, children and families, adults, 
Indigenous communities, Western Sydney and regional NSW. 

Strategic 
Direction  
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In light of the NSW Government’s announcement regarding the flagship 
campus in Parramatta, MAAS will consider the strategic direction of  
the Museum and continue to transform itself in response to growth, 
demographic trends, the evolving social landscape and the changing 
shape of the city and state in which we live. 

In this age, the boundaries between the digital and material worlds,  
and between the arts and the sciences, are increasingly blurred.  
They provide infinite opportunities to make relevant our complex  
and interconnected world.  

WALL SCULPTURE GORGONIA 15  
BY TIMOTHY HORN. THIS MAJOR 
ACQUISITION WAS ACQUIRED 
THROUGH THE GENEROUS SUPPORT 
OF THE BARRY WILLOUGHBY 
BEQUEST IN 2018.   
Photo: Mark Harding
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President’s 
Foreword 

This year was one of the most significant in the history of the Museum  
of Applied Arts and Sciences (MAAS). In April 2018, the Hon Gladys 
Berejiklian MP, NSW Premier and the Hon Don Harwin MLC, Minister  
for the Arts, announced a once-in-a-generation investment by the NSW 
Government in the MAAS, the City of Parramatta, the people of NSW  
and our national and international visitors.    

Over the next five years, MAAS will be supported by the NSW 
Government to build a new flagship campus in Western Sydney,  
on the Parramatta Riverbank site. The NSW Government will invest  
$645m in the construction of what will be the largest museum in  
NSW with a focus on science, technology, engineering, arts and 
mathematics (STEAM). In addition to facilities for exhibitions, public 
programs and learning, the MAAS Parramatta will also feature a  
domed planetarium. This investment will also include an expansion  
of the Museums Discovery Centre at Castle Hill to increase capacity  
for collection storage and management and assist in servicing the  
Parramatta flagship site.   

Western Sydney is home to more than half of Greater Sydney’s population 
and Parramatta is its geographical centre. The new MAAS flagship site, 
embedded in the heart of Australia’s fastest growing community, will be  
a vibrant focal point for knowledge exchange for decades to come.  
This has been not only a significant investment for the people of NSW,  
but in the arts, and I congratulate the NSW Government on their 
commitment and foresight. 

SYDNEY SCIENCE FESTIVAL  
FAMILY DAY. 
Photo: Jayne Ion
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The NSW Government also announced its intention to retain a creative 
industries presence at the MAAS Ultimo site. This will include a new 
design and fashion museum to showcase the world class design and 
fashion collection MAAS holds, and celebrate the best of Australian  
and international practice.  

Throughout the business planning process, the Trust has strongly 
advocated that the MAAS is a single organisation, inclusive of its 
collection, facilities, stakeholders and professional staff, working fluidly 
across the current sites — the Powerhouse Museum in Ultimo, the historic 
Sydney Observatory in Millers Point, the world class collection and 
conservation facility at the Museums Discovery Centre in Castle Hill; and 
its coming presence in Parramatta. This connected vision has been 
realised in the Government’s announcements and will result in more 
people being able to experience more of the globally-renowned collection 
of Australia’s first and only applied arts and sciences museum.  

This year we farewelled the MAAS Director, Dolla Merrillees. Dolla has 
made a very significant contribution during her time with us. She led  
a number of initiatives and pursued new opportunities including, very 
importantly, the pending development of the MAAS flagship museum in 
Parramatta. She has maintained an outstanding exhibition program, both 
showcasing the extensive world class MAAS collection, and attracting 
major touring programs to the Museum. Dolla has embodied the MAAS 
mission to be a catalyst for creative expression and curious minds and  
the MAAS Trust sincerely thanks Dolla for her outstanding leadership  
and contribution.   

This year we also farewell two Trust members, Janet McDonald AO  
and Lynne Anderson. They have brought a wealth of experience from  
their respective fields and I thank them for their service and expertise.  

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the dedication and commitment  
of the MAAS executive, its workforce and volunteers, who continue to 
deliver acclaimed exhibitions and programs, all while planning for the new 
flagship site in the West, an expansion of the Museums Discovery Centre 
site in Castle Hill and contributing the business case for Ultimo. We look 
forward to the period ahead, where the MAAS vision to lead, inspire and 
transform will continue to catalyse creative expression and provoke 
curious minds.

Professor Barney Glover FTSE FRSN 
President

The new MAAS 
flagship site, 
embedded in the 
heart of Australia’s 
fastest growing 
community, will be a 
vibrant focal point for 
knowledge exchange 
for decades to come.
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Director’s 
Foreword 

MAAS has continued to enhance its collection, programs and exhibitions 
to provide our audiences with memorable experiences across our three 
venues this past year. In 2017–18 we increased visitation by 14% on the 
previous year — demonstrating our ability to offer exhibitions and 
experiences that resonate with our visitors.    

Highlights  
Touring exhibition, Learn & Play! teamLab Future Park presented by Toyota, 
was a resounding success for MAAS this year. The exhibition achieved 
visitation of more than 146,000, and it was an extremely popular offer for 
our family audiences, who were able to enjoy the immersive magical world 
of art, technology and science.

During the year our signature festivals, Sydney Science Festival and 
Sydney Design Festival continued to unite our city through programming 
and engagement with industry and our community. Held in August 2017, 
Sydney Science Festival celebrated and showcased Sydney’s diverse and 
multidisciplinary science and innovation community and attracted more 
than 70,000 people. Likewise, Sydney Design Festival was re-launched in 
March 2018 to great success with more than 120 programs from over  
70 partners held across Sydney.

January saw a total lunar eclipse that was visible from across Australia  
and New Zealand. Our team at the Sydney Observatory demonstrated 
their expertise by running a sold-out event for visitors to observe this 
eclipse, while being able to ask questions from the MAAS team of expert 
guides, in addition to receiving extensive media coverage.  

MAAS continued to build its culture of commitment to working in 
partnership with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities and 
embedding Indigenous perspectives in all things we do. This includes 
working with MAAS Elders in Residence, Aunty Euphemia Bostock  
and Bruce Pascoe.  

MAAS was also recognised for its achievements in 2017–18 with the ICOM 
Institution award for its major touring exhibition Faith, Fashion, Fusion. 
This award further enhanced our reputation for curating and presenting 
ground-breaking exhibitions in a national and international context.  

Future of MAAS
There is no doubt that this year has been defined by opportunities for 
MAAS to grow into the future. In April 2018, the NSW Government 
announced that MAAS Parramatta will become the anchor of a new 
Parramatta arts and cultural precinct, offering a once-in-a-generation 
opportunity to build a new museum for the future in Western Sydney.  
In addition, the Government announced its intention to maintain an arts 
and cultural space in Ultimo including a design and fashion museum and  
to increase the capacity of the Museums Discovery Centre in Castle Hill.  

LIGHT BALL ORCHESTRA  
FROM FUTURE PARK. 
Photo: Powerhouse Museum Facebook
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These announcements have cemented MAAS as Australia’s contemporary 
museum for excellence and innovation in applied arts and sciences. MAAS 
looks forward to continuing to work with Government, industry and 
importantly the community to develop the state’s largest museum.   

At the centre of the New Museum is our audience and we are excited to 
continue to grow our relationship with the people of Parramatta and 
Western Sydney. MAAS is already actively engaged in this region with long 
standing partnerships with organisations such as Penrith Regional Gallery, 
Information + Cultural Exchange (ICE) and through our education outreach 
with local schools.  

Over the coming years we will be exploring how we can continue to  
bring the experience of MAAS from our existing sites to communities  
right across Sydney and NSW. To achieve this, we will be working in 
collaboration and co-design with partners in education, industry, culture 
and community, connecting local, regional and national contexts to  
global perspectives through the intersections of STEAM. 

Acknowledgments   
I want to acknowledge the contribution made by former MAAS Director, 
Dolla Merrillees, who led the Museum for almost three years. Dolla was 
pivotal in positioning the Museum for future growth. She also championed 
exhibitions celebrating the state collection, such as Icons, and the Centre 
for STEAM and the Centre for Fashion which led to the development of 
many partnerships, both domestically and internationally.  

I would also like to express my gratitude to the Trust for their expert 
guidance over the past 12 months. In particular, I want to thank Professor 
Barney Glover for his leadership navigating new opportunities for the 
Museum as we work towards a one Museum, four sites model.   

Finally, I want to thank the MAAS team for their integrity and dedication 
over the past year. MAAS is a workforce of talented and committed 
professionals that passionately work across disciplines and sites while 
continuing to deliver exceptional experiences for our visitors.   

I look forward to the content they create in 2018–19.  

Andrew Elliott   
Acting Director, MAAS 
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Future  
of MAAS 

MAAS Project
On 28 April 2018, the NSW Government announced a $645 million 
investment in the Museum.  

ARTIST’S IMPRESSION OF THE 
NEW MUSEUM IN PARRAMATTA.
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Parramatta 
Over the next five years, MAAS will be supported to build a new flagship 
campus in Western Sydney, on the Riverbank site. The NSW Government 
will invest in the construction of what will be the largest museum in NSW 
with a focus on STEAM. In addition to facilities for exhibitions, public 
programs and learning, the Museum will also feature the state’s first major 
planetarium. 

The New Museum will be the focus on an international design competition 
and will form the centrepiece of a new arts and cultural precinct on the 
banks of the Parramatta River, alongside a revamped Riverside Theatre 
performing arts centre. 

Museums Discovery Centre  
The NSW Government also announced an expansion of the Museums 
Discovery Centre (MDC) in Castle Hill to increase our capacity for collection 
storage and management and assist in servicing the Parramatta campus.  

The MDC will see its floor space increase by approximately 35% or 
5,000 sqm. The expanded custom-built storage and collection care spaces 
will provide capacity for continued care of the state’s collections. 

Ultimo 
At the Ultimo site, the NSW Government has outlined plans for a creative 
industries precinct which could see MAAS develop a design and fashion 
museum to sit alongside a 1500-seat performing arts theatre, and 
commercial and residential offerings.  

Further planning is currently underway to scope this aspect of the project, 
and a master planning process will be undertaken. 

Sydney Observatory 
The Sydney Observatory will continue to offer Australia’s most accessible 
telescope domes, a 3D Space Theatre and the Sydney Planetarium.
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More information about the MAAS Project can be found online at new.maas.museum.

1879: Garden Palace built in the Botanic Garden for 
Sydney International Exhibition. Government buys 
many of the exhibits and sets up the Technological, 
Industrial & Sanitary Museum1882: Garden Palace burns down. Collection 

moved to the Agricultural Hall in the Domain
1893: Collection moved to Ultimo and renamed  
the Technological Museum

1982: Sydney Observatory joins MAAS

1988: The Powerhouse Museum opens  
at the old power station in Ultimo

2007: Powerhouse Discovery Centre opens at Castle Hill

2015: NSW Government announces a new 
MAAS Museum in Greater Western Sydney 2016: Powerhouse Discovery Centre rebranded to 

Museums Discovery Centre and following 
refurbishment, reopened in collaboration with 
Australian Museum and Sydney Living Museums2017: Community consultation to inform the 

final business cases for the New Museum in 
Greater Western Sydney and Ultimo site

2018: International Design Competition for Parramatta

2019: Early works commence in Parramatta
2020: MAAS exhibitions begin to tour regionally  
and internationally

2023: Projected opening of the New Museum

Timeline



13
MAAS   

Annual Report  
2017–18

13
MAAS   

Annual Report  
2017–18

MAAS continued to build  
its culture of commitment to 
working in partnership with 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities and 

embedding Indigenous 
perspectives in all things  

we do. This year including 
working with MAAS Elders in 
Residence, Aunty Euphemia 
Bostock and Bruce Pascoe.

investment by NSW 
Government in a new  

flagship campus

new acquisitions 
 to the MAAS collection 
comprising 493 objects

visits to our websites  
including the MAAS  

Collection Search 

engagements across  
MAAS social media  

platforms 

award winner 2018 for  
an innovative project 
(institution) for Faith,  

Fashion, Fusion exhibition

students and teachers  
engaged onsite at  

MAAS venues 

 onsite visitors across MAAS

collection objects loaned to  
38 institutions around NSW, 
Australia and internationally

public programs run  
throughout the year onsite  

and offsite

hours our volunteers  
contributed of their time  

to support MAAS  

new exhibitions and installations 
opened, including one national 
and one international touring 

exhibition, showcasing 409 
objects from the collection

$645 million

113

1.3 million 225,000+

60,000+ 830,000+ 

259 

3000+ 

29,000+ 23 ICOM

MAAS at 
a glance
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Experience 
Highlights

July
School holidays 
Photo: Sotha Bourn 

August
Sydney Science Festival 
Photo: Jayne Ion

September
Western Sydney  
Coding Club 
Photo: Ryan Hernandez 

October 
Kaldor Public  
Art Projects 
Photo: Pedro Greig

November 
Faith, Fashion, Fusion  
in Malaysia 
Photo: Kate Ford

December 
Future Park 
Photo: Leila Joy Photography
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January
Lunar Eclipse 
Photo: Geoff Wyatt

February 
Shape 2017 
Photo: Ryan Hernandez  

March 
Sydney Design Festival 
Photo: Ryan Hernandez 

April 
MAAS Parramatta
Artist’s impression

May 
Star Wars Ultimate  
Fan Weekend 
Photo: Leila Berney

June 
Free weekend 
Photo: Ryan Hernandez
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Visitation1
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In 2014, the State Government announced the NSW State Priorities,  
which outlines 18 focus areas. In addition to the 12 Premier’s Priorities,  
the focus areas form a commitment to whole-of-government approaches 
to increasing quality of life in NSW.  

Amongst the State Priorities is a commitment to increasing attendance  
at cultural venues and events in NSW by 15% by 2019. MAAS met the  
15% visitation growth target in the first year of this 3-year time-period and 
continued to build on this growth. 

2014–15 — 573,730 (Baseline) 

2015–16 — 732,314 (+28% on previous year/baseline)   

2016–17 — 734,916 (+0.2% on previous year and +28% on 14–15 baseline) 

2017–18 — 836,108 (+14% on previous year and +46% on 14–15 baseline)

2017–18    
Visitation

Powerhouse Museum 659, 340 

Sydney Observatory 159, 287 

Museums Discovery Centre* 17, 481 

TOTAL onsite visitation 836, 108 

TOTAL offsite visitation** 1, 475,589 

TOTAL visitation 2, 311, 697 

* Museums Discovery Centre is a venue run in collaboration with Australian Museum  
and Sydney Living Museums and visitation to this site is attributed to all three 
collaborating agencies.  

** Offsite visitation includes engagement with MAAS collection items on loan  
to other institutions.  

Onsite audiences 
MAAS exceeded its visitation targets in 2017–18 and the previous year’s 
achievement by 14%. This outstanding visitation result was, in large part 
due to the success of Future Park, which saw particularly strong visitation 
over the summer months from local families. Overall, our family visitation 
was significantly higher in 2017–18, than the previous year. 

Three quarters of the Powerhouse Museum’s audience were from Sydney 
this year and the Museums Discovery Centre also continued to attract the 
local market. Sydney Observatory experienced growth in out-of-state 
visitation, particularly international tourists, making up 37%.1  

Education visitation also saw an increase on the previous year,  
with educator-led offers at Sydney Observatory particularly popular  
with schools experiencing most growth. 

Premier’s 
target met

STAR WARS MAY THE 4TH WEEKEND. 
Photo: Leila Berney

1.   Visitor origin is established using postcodes provided by general admission,  
exhibition and education visitors. Reported visitor origin is reflective of visitors  
providing a postcode in these reporting categories.
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Offsite audiences 
Offsite visitation represents engagement through offers delivered by 
MAAS outside MAAS venues, including public programs and touring 
exhibitions and through offsite engagement with MAAS collection items.  

MAAS had strong offsite engagement through the international tour of 
Faith, Fashion, Fusion and by way of Sydney Science Festival and Sydney 
Design Festival programming. The MAAS education team delivered 
extensively throughout NSW via video conference and visits into schools, 
and MAAS staff shared their expertise at a range of conferences, 
specialised workshops and events. 

A strong offsite result can also be attributed to the loan of MAAS 
collection items globally, including a speedo swimsuit from the 1972 
Munich Olympic Games to the Museum of Modern Art, New York, for 
inclusion in their Items: Is Fashion Modern? exhibition.   

Digital audiences 
MAAS continues its focus on growing digital audiences and our websites 
received more than 1,300,000 users this year. Public engagement with 
MAAS online content grew year on year, notably with increased visitation 
to the Museum’s online collection, astronomy-focused Observations blog, 
and the Inside the Collection blog.  

SCHOOLCHILDREN TAKING PART IN 
DIGITAL WORKSHOPS. 
Photo: Zowie Crump
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Experiences2
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Our focus on creativity, ideas and innovation as well as engagement  
with STEAM has seen MAAS rapidly establishing a reputation for 
delivering high quality experiences that sit at the nexus of art and science. 

As we plan for the longer-term future, we are excited to embrace  
a once in a generation opportunity to develop a 21st century museum.  
This museum will respond to the changing shape of Sydney, and to 
contemporary methods of content delivery, learning and collaboration, 
conceived as a holistic, audience-centric experience.  

FUTURE PARK OPENING,  
NOVEMBER 2017. 
Photo: Marinco Kojdanovski
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Exhibitions  

Learn & Play! teamLab Future Park  
This year visitors immersed themselves in an interactive world of light  
and colour where imagination met technology, and people brought their 
creations to life at our summer exhibition, Learn & Play! teamLab Future 
Park presented by Toyota. 

Created by Japanese collective teamLab, this exhibition — their first in 
Australia — was designed for visitors young and old. Fuelled by human 
interaction, audiences were able to step inside this digital playground and 
journey through eight collaborative and interactive installations. Visitors 
added their own artworks and watched them come alive, constantly 
evolving and responding to touch and the world around them. 

This exhibition proved extremely popular with local audiences with over 
146,000 visits and 3,000 new members recorded during the run of this 
exhibition. MAAS included low sensory sessions for this exhibition which 
proved very popular and were run once a week due to popular demand.  

GRAFFITI NATURE AT FUTURE PARK.  
Photo: Leila Berney  
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This is a voice 
Headlining the 2017 Sydney Science Festival, This is a Voice, invited visitors 
to contemplate the power of voice before and beyond words and explore 
the human voice in this immersive exhibition. 

Designed as an acoustic journey, audiences delved inside vocal tracts, 
restless minds and speech devices to discover how meaning and emotions 
are conveyed through the patterns of rhythm, stress and intonation. 

Blending performance, video, visuals and sound, This is a Voice presented 
works by artists and vocalists, punctuated by paintings, manuscripts, 
medical illustrations and ethnographic objects. 

The exhibition, produced in collaboration with MAAS, included artefacts 
from both the MAAS and Wellcome Collection, and featured specially 
commissioned works and performances from Australian artist and 
composer Lawrence English. His giant interactive sound ‘chandelier’ titled 
A People’s Choir invited audiences to record their aspirations and dreams 
for the future. There were also 14 historical gramophone horns from the 
MAAS collection which were brought to life in a sound installation that 
considered what it means when people are not permitted to speak, 
providing a space for shared understanding.  

SOUND INSTALLATION, THIS IS 
BEFORE WE DISAPPEAR FROM VIEW, 
MULTI-CHANNEL MADE BY SONIA 
LEBER AND DAVID CHESWORTH, IN 
THIS IS A VOICE EXHIBITION. 
Photo: Leila Berney
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Common Good 
As part of the 2018 Sydney Design Festival, Common Good was a survey  
of contemporary design from the Asia-Pacific region that explored  
design-led responses to social, ethical and environmental challenges  
by a new generation of socially-engaged designers. Diminishing natural 
resources, population pressure and the preservation of our cultural 
heritage were among the issues explored. 

Curated and developed by MAAS, Common Good profiled several key 
movements emerging in contemporary design practice through an 
expansive selection of innovative projects ranging from material 
explorations, contemporary craft, video game design, speculative  
practice and large-scale architectural interventions. The exhibition 
presented emerging sustainable design practices, international 
development initiatives and projects that demonstrate the ability  
of technology to generate social awareness and influence personal 
behaviour. 

Common Good included work from eminent international designers 
Nendo, Studio Swine, Bijoy Jain, Jo Nagasaka, Kwangho Lee and WOHA. 
Globally recognised local designers included Ken Wong, Lucy McRae and 
Henry Wilson with several key works acquired for the collection. MAAS 
produced a book to accompany the exhibition that features detailed artist 
interviews, essays and in-depth information on materials, themes and 
projects focusing on the diversity of design practice.  

COMMON GOOD EXHIBITION VIEW. 
Photo: Zan Wimberley
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Reigning Men: Fashion in Menswear, 
1715–2015 and Australian’s Men’s Style 
Reigning Men: Fashion in Menswear, 1715–2015 was the key offer from  
the MAAS Centre for Fashion in 2018 and explored the history of men’s 
fashionable dress from the 18th century to the present. A riot of colour and 
style, Reigning Men was the largest and most important menswear exhibition 
ever assembled, and exploded the myth that menswear is restrained. 

This exhibition featured over 130 garments by renowned menswear designers 
including Alexander McQueen, Burberry, Calvin Klein, Chanel, Giorgio 
Armani, Gucci, Jean Paul Gaultier, Louis Vuitton and Yves Saint Laurent. 
Reigning Men made illuminating connections between history and high 
fashion. Drawing primarily from the Los Angeles County Museum of Art’s 
(LACMA) renowned collection with key items from the MAAS collection, 
the exhibition traced cultural influences over the centuries, examined how 
elements of the uniform have profoundly shaped fashionable dress, and 
revealed how cinching and padding the body was, and is, not exclusive  
to women. To create a further local connection MAAS worked with seven 
Style Ambassadors who featured in interviews and at exhibition events. 

Accompanying this exhibition, MAAS also opened Australian’s Men Style. 
From gentlemen’s attire in the early colonial period to post-World War II 
outfits and contemporary design, Australian Men’s Style featured some of 
the milestones in the evolution of Australian menswear. Exploring aspects 
of men’s clothing and accessories over the past 200 years, this display 
highlighted a selection of objects primarily from the MAAS collection.  

REIGNING MEN: FASHION  
IN MENSWEAR 1715–2015 
EXHIBITION VIEW. 
Photo: Ryan Hernandez
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Design Nation 
Design Nation, curated in collaboration with Tim Ross, brought together 
outstanding examples of Australian ingenuity and innovation from the 
MAAS collection. Many of these objects are mainstays in Aussie 
households including the Dolphin torch, Staysharp knife and the Esky.  

Through the showcase and series of audio interviews and recordings, 
audiences were invited to rediscover these ubiquitous, everyday objects  
of Australian design as Tim Ross revealed previously untold stories and 
design narratives to show how our unique design histories have helped 
shape our national identity. Tim delivered a series of three sold-out live 
storytelling performances as part of the Sydney Design Festival 
highlighting design in the MAAS collection. 

GUEST CURATOR TIM ROSS  
AT THE OPENING OF DESIGN 
NATION FOR SYDNEY DESIGN 
FESTIVAL 2018. 
Photo: Ryan Hernandez
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2018 Architecture Commission 
This year MAAS announced a new three-year annual Architecture 
Commission which provides a unique opportunity for emerging and 
established architecture and design talent in Australia to transform the 
Powerhouse Museum into an immersive, multi-functional environment  
for audiences.  

The inaugural winners of the Architecture Commission at the Powerhouse 
Museum were emerging Australian architecture studio TRIAS. Their 
installation, titled Four Periscopes, unveiled as part of the 20th Sydney 
Design Festival in 2018, consisted of multiple towers — evocative of 
Sydney’s skyscrapers — filled with a series of periscopic mirrors 
suspended above the ground, inviting visitors to look up inside them,  
the reflections connecting people from the balconies to the ground  
floor, and from one tower to another. Visible from all levels of the Museum, 
TRIAS’s winning work was a playful installation intended  
to evoke curiosity, encourage interaction and inspire engagement. 

Made possible by a generous donor, the three-year annual commission  
is the first of its kind in Australia and offers architects and designers the 
opportunity to design and present innovative projects at the Powerhouse 
Museum. 

VISITORS INTERACT WITH THE  
FOUR PERISCOPES INSTALLATION  
IN THE TURBINE HALL.  
Photo: Benjamin Hosking Photography
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Programs

MABO Day Address  
This year the annual MAAS Mabo Day Address 2018 marked  
the conclusion of the Mabo Decision 25th Anniversary display. 

The Mabo Decision was a turning point for the recognition of Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples’ rights, acknowledging unique  
ancestral connections to country; and challenging Governor Bourke’s  
1835 Declaration of Terra Nullius — the notion of no-man’s land. It also  
led to the Australian Parliament passing the Native Title Act 1993. 

The MAAS Mabo Day Address is developed and delivered in recognition 
of the leadership and important cultural and human rights legacy of Uncle 
Eddie Koiki Mabo. Previous MAAS Mabo Day addresses have been 
presented by Aunty Pat O’Shane AM, Genevieve Grieves and Terri Janke. 

In 2018 we were honoured to have Gail Mabo deliver the public address, 
honouring her father and focusing on the remarkable contribution of  
her mother, Aunty Bonita Mabo AO, to cultural and social equity in 
Australia. 

because of her … we can.   

GAIL MABO GIVES THE MABO DAY 
ADDRESS AT MAAS, WITH AUNTY 
DONNA INGRAM, RIGHT, JUNE 2018. 
Photo: Ryan Hernandez
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RIGHT: OBJECT DISPLAY AND 
STORAGE DAY PROGRAM AT MDC. 
Photo: Marinco Kojdanovski

BELOW: SURF REEL FROM SOUTH 
CURL CURL SURF LIFE SAVING CLUB, 
ABOUT 1960. 
Photo: Andrew Frolows

Life and Death in the Museum Tours 
This year MAAS ran Life and Death in the Museum Tours at the Museums 
Discovery Centre. These tours are run by volunteers and explore objects 
that have impacted on the life and death of people around the world. 
Delving into life and death in art, design, technology, science, mythology 
and above all, stories of the human experience. 

From chairs to miners’ safety lamps, and model snakes to ceramic figures, 
the tour gives insight into fascinating stories behind objects that have 
helped sustain human life or, in certain instances, represent its demise. 

One example is the surf lifesaving reel from about 1960. Surf lifesaving 
clubs originated in Australia in response to drownings at Sydney beaches. 
In 1906 Lyster Ormsby of the Bondi Surf Bathers Lifesaving Club made a 
model of a surf reel using a cotton reel and two hairpins. The first full-sized 
reel was built by Sergeant John Bonds and was subsequently improved by 
local coach builder CH Olding, whose final design was used until 1993.  
It is said the first person saved on Bondi Beach by a lifesaving reel was  
a nine-year-old Charles Kingsford-Smith. 
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Sydney Observatory  
160th Celebrations 
Sydney Observatory celebrated 160 years in June 2018 with a series  
of events and a new time ball.  

Since opening in 1858 Sydney Observatory has set the time for ships in 
Sydney Harbour, contributed to charting the southern hemisphere night 
sky and inspired a fascination with galaxies far away for hundreds of 
thousands of visitors both locally and across the world. 

Sydney Observatory is the nation’s oldest operating observatory. This 
history is captured in a new book produced by MAAS and launched in 
March 2018; The Story of Sydney Observatory, written by astronomers, 
historians and staff past and present.  

Built on the highest natural point in Sydney, Sydney Observatory originally 
set the time for Sydney by dropping the time ball each day for ships in the 
harbour to set their chronometers. For the past 160 years the time ball has 
continued to drop at 1.00 pm each day. In 2017 the MAAS Annual Appeal 
raised money to refurbish the time ball, which was conserved then placed 
back atop the Observatory in all its bright yellow glory in time for the 
160th anniversary.  

NIGHT TIME TELESCOPE VIEWING  
AT SYDNEY OBSERVATORY. 
Photo: James Horan
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Lunar Eclipse 
On 31 January 2018, a total lunar eclipse was visible from across Australia 
and New Zealand. It was the first such eclipse visible from these locations 
since 2015. The Moon was at its full phase as it entered Earth’s shadow and 
this particular full Moon was also a blood and super moon.  

To acknowledge the occasion, Sydney Observatory held a sold-out event 
to view the lunar eclipse through the Observatory’s north and south dome 
telescopes. 

LUNAR ECLIPSE VIEWED FROM 
NATIONAL ARBORETUM, CANBERRA.  
Photo: Geoff Wyatt
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THE MINIS AND TINIES PUBLIC 
PROGRAM EXPLORES SCIENCE, 
TECHNOLOGY, ENGINEERING, ART 
AND MATHS FOR PRE-SCHOOLERS 
AND THEIR CARERS USING THE 
EDUCATION COLLECTION. 
Photo: Jayne Ion

MAAS is an interdisciplinary museum, uniquely placed to help learners 
understand the past, present and future through the lens of STEAM.  

This year we ran a series of initiatives that encouraged learners to ask 
questions and make connections with the world around them across  
our venues and within the community. 

Families and children 
Our programming for families continued to focus on giving children  
a sense of autonomy and agency by providing experiences that are 
self-directed, co-created and participatory.  

MAAS Minis and MAAS Tinies, our educator-led program for children 
under five, completed its pilot phase and was rolled out monthly at the 
Powerhouse Museum and the Museums Discovery Centre to great  
success this year. Overall, 817 children and their families experienced  
the science/art themed content over the year with many extra sessions 
added due to audience demand. 

UPSTARTS, the MAAS teen advisory programming group launched in 2017, 
met monthly throughout the year to identify what teen audiences were 
looking for from museums. The group consulted with MAAS team 
members from across departments to identify gaps and help plan and 
deliver interactive programs for teens.  

The work of the UPSTARTS group led to Journeys, a newly created 
experience that rethought and reinvented the museum experience from  
a youth perspective. Journeys involves an online navigation aid to MAAS, 
designed to guide young visitors to objects and experiences that excite, 
interest and challenge. There are four different-themed experiences within 
the Journeys program connecting to the MAAS collection: Isolation, 
Nostalgia, Globalisation and Innovation.  

UPSTARTS also co-curated a sold out under 18s teen takeover of  
the Museum, UPSTARTS up late which saw 200 teenagers explore  
the Museum at night.  

Learning
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Schools 
Our schools program offers a year-round suite of on-demand and 
scheduled experiences, available to schools online via video conferencing 
and onsite via excursion to the three MAAS venues. Connection to the 
curriculum lies at the heart of each of our school experiences, and our 
2017–18 programs drew attendance of 69,784, which was 7% above 
forecasts for the year.  

At the Powerhouse Museum, new English curriculum partnership initiatives 
with The English Teachers Association of Australia and the Red Room 
Company successfully engaged educators and learners from South-West 
Sydney schools. These engaging cross-curricula programs are built around 
the MAAS collection, as inspiration for creative prose and poetry 
expressions published online or in ’zine form.  

CUMBERLAND HIGH SCHOOL AND 
CARLINGFORD WEST PUBLIC 
SCHOOL STUDENTS VISIT THE 
MUSEUMS DISCOVERY CENTRE. 
Photo: Valentina Schulte

‘… A very well planned 
and thought out 
excursion … beneficial 
and engaging for the 
learners. So easy  
for the teachers … 
highly recommend!’
Stage 4 TAS teacher, Dulwich 
High School of Visual Arts and 
Design

The Museums Discovery Centre continued to grow its education audience 
in the second year since re-opening. This year we focused on developing 
local school partnerships and co-designing new history syllabus programs 
including Find a Family and Special Objects.  

Our school attendance at Sydney Observatory was also strong this year, 
with 20,681 learners attending the site. This excellent result can be 
attributed to the new curriculum-targeted programs and the new site-
specific learning materials. 

The Young Creators Conference, a feature event of Sydney Science 
Festival, was held at the Powerhouse Museum in August. This Maker Faire 
event showcases classroom creative science and STEAM projects and 
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provided a platform for young people to interact as ‘experts’ with museum 
visitors and corporate partners. In 2017, the 2nd annual conference 
engaged 184 learners and 20 teachers from 16 NSW schools including 
Canobolas High School from regional NSW. 

MAAS held further Teachmeets this year, which are themed, informal 
teacher-led teacher professional learning events run by the Museum. We 
partner with teachers and schools to host these events to raise awareness 
of the schools program offer and develop teacher networks. Teachmeets 
were held in November at the Powerhouse Museum and in June, a Reverse 
Teachmeet, in which the learners present to the teachers and adults, was 
held at Museums Discovery Centre. Over 200 teachers attended and 
presented at these events. 

THINKERSHIELD CODING 
KIT FOR SCHOOLS. 
Photo: Ryan Hernandez

Digital Learning
ThinkerShield, the MAAS developed coding tool kit for schools, continued 
to transform how children learn coding with the creation of a new  
online platform for accessing and sharing resources (thinkershield. 
maas.museum/educators/). Through strategic school, university and 
philanthropic partnerships, more than 30 schools have joined the program 
this year. 

To date over 5,000 ThinkerShields have been distributed to schools across 
NSW, engaging 10,000 learners from 300 schools with coding. Through 
this online platform, MAAS has now trained over 250 teachers to teach 
coding in their own classrooms.   

The MAAS digital learning program for school holidays also continued  
to grow in popularity with 3,320 young people participating. Supporting 
career pathways for girls through the Centre for STEAM, MAAS presented 
eight school holiday Just for Girls workshops in coding, digital media and 
game design reaching over 80 learners. 
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Adult 
MAAS continued to engage our adult audience across our sites this year, 
offering education programs and events that allowed them to explore their 
curiosity and provide opportunities for learning.  

MAASive Lates, a popular series of after-hours events at the Powerhouse 
Museum for adults, continued to provide visitors with an opportunity to 
explore and interact with the collection in an unconventional and unusual 
way and engage with novel and thought-provoking people and ideas. We 
held four MAASive Lates this year that focused on both major exhibitions 
and festivals, and welcomed nearly 4000 attendees. This year the nights 
were themed against the Sydney Design Festival, the Sydney Science 
Festival and the MAAS exhibitions Future Park and Reigning Men: Fashion 
in Menswear, 1715–2015.  

At Sydney Observatory, the annual Earth Hour and Valentine’s Day events 
were again popular and a fantastic way for audiences to engage with 
astronomy and the site in a social setting. We also reviewed our adult 
programming at Sydney Observatory to introduce a number of different 
tour options including shorter night tours, Mandarin language tours, and 
accessible East Dome tours. We also reviewed our adult astronomy 
courses which resulted in high audience numbers. 

This year we also began offering ongoing monthly architectural tours of 
the Sydney Observatory site, in partnership with the Architecture 
Association of Australia. These changes have resulted in a significant 
increase in numbers on both tours and programs, against our targets.   

HANDS-ON EXPERIMENTAL  
BIO-TEXTILES WORKSHOP RUN  
BY UNSWAD DESIGNERS AND 
RESEARCHERS ALIA PARKER,  
EMMA PETERS AND HANNAH  
YOUNG FOR MAASIVE LATES. 
Photo: Ryan Hernandez
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Western Sydney 
A key area of focus this year was growing our presence in Western Sydney. 
Our signature festivals, the Sydney Design and Sydney Science Festivals 
continued to grow engagement with Western Sydney audiences. Key 
partnerships with Western Sydney University and ICE saw the Museum’s 
popular digital workshops expanded into new venues in Parramatta. 

In 2017–18 we also increased the museum practice days at the Museums 
Discovery Centre for regional and Western Sydney organisations with a 
series including Programming; Mounting Artworks; Invisible Mannequin 
Making; Curating a Display; and Handling Objects. Participants from 
collecting organisations attending these workshops included Parramatta 
Historical Society, Brislington Medical and Nursing Museum, Berrima 
District Museum, Cavalcade of History and Fashion, Bathurst District 
Historical Society, Transport Heritage NSW and the Blue Mountains 
Historical Society. 

Regional 
This year we focused on professional development of the regional 
galleries, libraries, archives, and museum (GLAM) sector staff to ensure 
the biggest impact for regional communities in NSW. This development 
focused on workshops on conservation, curatorial and programming 
practice in key regions such as the Central Tablelands, Goulburn and the 
Northern Tablelands.  

In addition to workshops, we continued to run a video conferencing series 
for regional communities to offer opportunities for regional TAFE students 
to talk to STEAM practitioners. MAAS also went on the road to deliver 
eight workshops for 150 participants through the Regional Digital Mobile 
Unit in Deniliquin, delivering 3D Printing and Coding to primary schools 
Deniliquin North Primary, Blighty Primary, Jerilderie Primary, St Michaels 
Deniliquin, Mathoura Primary; as well as two adult workshops. 
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REGIONAL PROGRAMS DIGITAL 
MOBILE UNIT TEACHING 3D-PRINTED 
LACE IN DENILIQUIN. 
Photo: Zowie Crump
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Acquisition 
highlights 

A total of 113 new acquisitions comprising 493 objects were added to  
the MAAS collection throughout 2017–18. MAAS continued to enhance 
collection strengths and acquire significant objects that highlight the uniquely 
interdisciplinary nature of the collection. This year a strategic emphasis was 
placed on innovative objects that respond to global developments in digital 
technologies, cross-disciplinary design practice and contemporary issues 
ranging from sustainability to celebrating cultural diversity. 

Objects were acquired through the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 
Foundation as well as through donations and major bequests. Highlight 
acquisitions across the MAAS disciplines are outlined below. A full list of 
acquisitions can be found in Appendix 5.  

ABOVE: WARATAH DECANTER, 
WARATAH PUNCHBOWL AND PROTEA 
CUP MADE BY VERT DESIGNS BASED 
ON LUCIEN HENRY DESIGN. 
Photo: Marinco Kojdanovski

RIGHT: GORGONIA 15 BY  
TIMOTHY HORN.   
Photo: Mark Harding

Wall sculpture by Timothy Horn  
Australian artist Timothy Horn creates sculptures that blend real and 
fictional worlds. Gorgonia 15 expresses his concern about the damaging 
effects on the Great Barrier Reef coral of both climate change and the 
radioactive fallout from the Fukushima nuclear accident in Japan. Named 
after Gorgonian sea-fan coral, the hand blown glass and bronze sculpture 
was inspired by a French baroque earring pattern and by Old Plum, a 
drawing by a 17th century Japanese artist. It is a collection transforming 
acquisition for the Museum’s cross-disciplinary holdings in the areas of 
contemporary design and decorative arts.  

This major acquisition was acquired through the generous support of the 
Barry Willoughby Bequest in 2018.  
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Leisurewear by Peter Travis for 
Speedo Australia 
Comprising 164 items, this significant donation includes three-piece 
beachwear sets, individual shorts and swimming briefs, casualwear  
shirts, fabric swatches and promotional material designed by Peter  
Travis for Speedo Australia between 1960–62.  

Inspired by coastlines around the globe, Travis used his sophisticated 
understanding of colour, materials and design to create innovative 
products for emerging segments in the Australian fashion market. His 
designs celebrated the male body and enhanced the wearer’s physique 
bringing a new modernist visual aesthetic to Speedo’s leisurewear lines  
for men.  

This collection was a gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 
2018. 

TAHITIAN BRIEF AND SKIRT,  
MENS, PAGO PAGO DESIGN IN 
COPPER, COTTON, FOR THE 
SPEEDO GOLDEN SANDS SERIES 
BEACHWEAR/SWIMWEAR 1960/61 
COLLECTION, DESIGNED BY  
PETER TRAVIS. 
Photo: Marinco Kojdanovski
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New Armor stool by Kwangho Lee  
This stool is the work of Kwangho Lee, a Korean designer who combines 
traditional craft skills with contemporary design across a range of 
materials and is featured in the MAAS exhibition Common Good. The New 
Armor series was inspired by body armour from the Korean Joseon 
dynasty (1382–1897), and utilises the traditional Asian ‘ott-chil’ lacquer 
technique. 

This object represents a recent wave of international designers who are 
involved in the cultural preservation of traditional skills and craftsmanship 
and strengthens the Museum’s collection of contemporary design from the 
Asia-Pacific region. 

This item was purchased with funds from the Museum of Applied Arts and 
Sciences Foundation in 2017. 

3D printed objects based on  
Lucien Henry’s designs  
Waratah Decanter, Waratah Punchbowl and Protea Cup were 
commissioned by MAAS from Vert Designs for the MAAS exhibition  
Out of Hand: Materialising the Digital in 2016. 

They use modern digital manufacturing techniques to realise as objects  
for the first time, designs from Lucien Henry’s unpublished 1880s work 
Australian Decorative Arts: One Hundred Studies and Designs held in the 
MAAS collection.  

They demonstrate the use of digital technologies such as digital modelling 
and 3D printing in revisiting and reinterpreting earlier styles in a new form. 

This item was purchased with funds from the Museum of Applied Arts and 
Sciences Foundation, in 2018.  

NEW ARMOR BRONZE STOOL BY 
KWANGHO LEE, SOUTH KOREA, 2014. 
Photo: Ryan Hernandez
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Collection of photographs and video 
by Trevor Graham
This collection of still photographs and accompanying video footage taken 
by Trevor Graham from 1989 to 1997 detail aspects of Eddie Koiki Mabo’s 
life, legal fight and legacy, in particular the High Court visit to Mer (Murray 
Island), the news of the win and the opening and subsequent desecration 
of Mabo’s gravesite. These images from Life of an Island Man capture 
crucial moments in Australian history, both regarding Indigenous land 
rights and recognition.  

This item was purchased with funds from the Museum of Applied Arts and 
Sciences Foundation in 2018. 

Marriage Equality vote collection
The vote for marriage equality held in Australia in September 2017 was an 
issue of major importance nationally and the acquisition of highly visible, 
publicly identifiable objects that represent this issue are a significant 
addition to the collection. 

The T-shirts and badges were purchased with funds from the Museum of 
Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation in 2017 and the banner was a gift  
of Sydney City Council in 2017. 

CLOTHING, POSTER, BADGES, FLYER 
FOR THE MARRIAGE EQUALITY 
CAMPAIGN, PRODUCED IN 
AUSTRALIA, 2017 
Photo: Ryan Hernandez
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Sydney University Stellar 
Interferometer (SUSI) 
The Sydney University Stellar Interferometer allows researchers to 
determine the angular size of stars allowing other properties of the star, 
including its surface temperature, to be calculated.  

Designed and built in Australia this item is one of only a few long-baseline 
optical interferometers in the world. The acquisition strengthens our 
disciplines of engineering, physical sciences and technologies and allows 
MAAS to show the analogous and complementary technology of optical 
interferometry alongside our radio interferometry items.  

This item was a gift of the School of Physics, University of Sydney in 2018.

SYDNEY UNIVERSITY STELLAR 
INTERFEROMETER TELESCOPE 
(SUSI) AT NARRABRI. 
Photo: Ryan Hernandez
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Loans

Outgoing 
Relationships with cultural institutions locally and internationally were 
strengthened through the outgoing loans program. MAAS loaned 259 
collection objects to 38 institutions in 50 individual loan arrangements. 

Internationally, MAAS loaned a speedo swimsuit from the 1972 Munich 
Olympic Games to the Museum of Modern Art for inclusion in their 
exhibition, Items: Is Fashion Modern? exhibition and 16 jewellery items to 
the Dowse Art Museum, New Zealand, for their exhibition The Language 
of Things: Meaning and Value in Contemporary Jewellery. The loan of two 
collection items to the Museum of Modern Art in New York achieved close 
to 600,000 visitors in 2017–18. 

Throughout NSW and locally we have supported exhibitions by lending 
objects from the collection to organisations, including the Art Gallery of 
NSW and the Australian Aviation Museum, Bankstown. The collection was 
represented nationally in a diverse range of contexts including exhibitions 
at the Art Gallery of Western Australia, the National Gallery of Victoria and 
at the Heide Museum of Modern Art, Victoria.  

Incoming  
Each year MAAS is provided with incoming loans for inclusion in our 
exhibition program. This year we managed 152 active incoming loans, 
comprising 849 items.  

MAAS borrowed 564 pieces of clothing, shoes, hats and accessories from 
the Los Angeles County Museum of Art (LACMA) for Reigning Men: Fashion 
in Menswear, 1715–2015, including a silk velvet, three-piece suit made 
about 1760, and a suit belonging to Gregory Peck, made by H Huntsman 
and Sons in 1954.  

The exhibition Common Good, was supported by 22 loans from seven 
countries, including the Republic of Korea, Taiwan, Japan and China.  

Local students also lent material to the Museum for a number of 
exhibitions, including Shape 2017 and Student Fashion on display at  
the Powerhouse Museum. 
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Digital 
engagement

VISITOR USING TOUCH SCREEN IN 
THE DESIGN NATION EXHIBITION. 
Photo: Marinco Kojdanovski

MAAS saw increased engagement with the MAAS collection through  
a number of online and digital initiatives within the museum this year.  

Public engagement with our online content has grown year on year, 
notably with increased visitation to the MAAS online collection (44%), 
astronomy-focused Observations blog (70%) and the Inside the Collection 
blog (31%). Improvements to the website’s performance have on average 
halved the loading times for website venue pages, resulting in an improved 
user experience.  

Online, the What’s On section of the MAAS website as well as event pages 
were redesigned to allow visitors to easily find and book exhibitions and 
programs across all venues via a drop-down menu. These improvements 
were timed to support the Learning Programs 2018 launch, helping to 
achieve an above target result in Learning Program bookings over the year. 

In 2017 the MAAS Digital Studio team partnered with CSIRO’s Data61 
Immersive Environments Lab to develop a ‘mixed reality’ experience using 
the Microsoft HoloLens, a self-contained, holographic computer. This 
collaborative project aimed to prototype what mixed reality technologies 
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might offer in designing future museum visitor experiences. The result was 
a holographic augmented reality application built around a 3D model of 
the Catalina seaplane — a virtual diorama that combined holographic 
assets with archival photography and notes from the Catalina’s voyage  
to South America in 1951. 

In May 2018 MAAS and CSIRO were awarded an iAward for Innovation  
by the Australian Information Industry Association for the Catalina 
HoloLens mixed reality project. The award was presented by Andrew Barr, 
Chief Minister, ACT Government at a ceremony in Canberra. MAAS also 
presented the Catalina HoloLens project at the international Museums  
and the Web conference in Vancouver, Canada in April 2018.  

This year a new interface to the online collection, the MAAS Collection 
Explorer installation was also developed and launched for the Australian 
Men’s Style exhibition. This hands-on experience allowed visitors to 
browse through objects from the MAAS online collection, zooming in on 
details and exploring related objects based on one’s interests. 

Relocation 
Logistics

As part of the business case developed for the MAAS Project, MAAS 
prepared plans, costings and logistics for the relocation of the MAAS 
collection from the Ultimo site. This included the development of an 
end-to-end process for the management of the collection relocation.  
The process includes assessment, digitisation, packing, relocation, 
unpacking and inventory.  

Following the announcement by the NSW Government in April 2018 to 
invest in a new flagship campus in Western Sydney, work on this project 
will commence in the 2018–19 financial year. 
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MAAS BASEMENT TOUR. 
Photo: Ryan Hernandez
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MAAS is deeply committed to honouring and celebrating 60,000 years of 
Indigenous scientific and technological development and ingenuity. Its 
Indigenous engagement and strategic operations are focused on the 
investigation and establishment of exemplar models for engagement —
with and presentation — of tangible and intangible Indigenous cultural 
materials. The depth of the Museum’s relationships with Australia’s First 
Nations communities is critical to its ability to realise its vision for a 
post-reconciliation/post-treaty society. 

MAAS Indigenous programs are designed to build the broadest possible 
understanding of the complexity and sophistication of Australian 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultures for its audiences — both 
Indigenous and non-Indigenous. The programs are as diverse as the 
communities and perspectives they represent. 

In the 2017–18 year Indigenous programs were delivered with the 
participation and guidance of Australia’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander community. The MAAS Indigenous Cultural Development 
Residency Program Alumni was increased by the inclusion of Troy Jungagi 
Brady, Shellie Morris, Jaydin Cole and Uncle Jack Charles.   

As part of their residencies these artists, creators and thought-leaders 
shared their knowledge and perspectives with MAAS audiences in 
concerts, tours and in-conversations while participating in symposia and 
other audience engagement and networking activities. 

Commissioned writers in MAAS publications included Sam Wagan Watson 
(Time and Memory), Bruce Pascoe (The Story of Sydney Observatory), 
Kirsten Banks and Matthew Poll (Australasian Sydney Sky Guide 2018 and 
2019 respectively). 

The scope and depth of the Museum’s focus on the development and 
platforming of ongoing advancements in Indigenous STEAM has been 
enhanced through the establishment of partnerships with organisations 
including the CSIRO Indigenous STEM Project, Microsoft, Reconciliation 
NSW, the Aboriginal Education Advisory Group, the National Film and 
Sound Archive and the Australian Centre for Field Robotics which has 
resulted in a project to embed Indigenous cultural perspectives in 
curriculum material relating to agricultural robotic technology and coding. 

In a year of significant cultural milestones in Australian histories, MAAS 
developed two unique installations to commemorate the 50th anniversary 
of the 1968 Referendum and the Mabo Decision 25th Anniversary which 
involved the dedication of a star in the Sydney Southern Sky Catalogue to 
the legacy of Aunty Bonita Mabo in the presence of the NSW Judicial 
Commission and family representative.

LUKE CURRIE RICHARDSON FROM 
BANGARRA DANCE THEATRE  
MODELLING ENLIGHTENMENT, 2017, 
COMMISSIONED BY MAAS FOR 
AUSTRALIAN MEN’S STYLE, DESIGNED 
AND MADE BY GRACE LILLIAN LEE, 
CAIRNS, AUSTRALIA, 2017. THIS 
OBJECT HAS BEEN ACQUIRED INTO 
THE COLLECTION. 
Photo: Marinco Kojdanovski

Indigenous 
Leadership

‘After 250 years of 
colonial interruption 
… it’s all about  
the continued 
evolution of cultural 
craftsmanship in 
contemporary 
forms. That’s what 
is critical.’
Grace Lillian Lee, MAAS 
Indigenous Cultural 
Development Residency 
Alumni
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MAAS RAP and the MAAS  
ICIP Protocol
This year saw the rollout of the MAAS Australian Indigenous Cultural and 
Intellectual Property Protocol (ICIP) and the MAAS Reconciliation Action 
Plan (RAP) following its launch in 2016–17.  

The MAAS Australian ICIP Protocol provides the philosophical statement 
of intent and guiding principles that inform the direction of strategies 
contained in the MAAS Reconciliation Action Plan — the practical 
roadmap for achieving the MAAS vision for reconciliation. 

MAAS recognises and shares the value and importance of preserving, 
revitalising and strengthening Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander cultures, histories and achievements. 

Central to achieving the MAAS vision for reconciliation is the exploration 
and fulfilment of a range of mutually beneficial opportunities in 
partnership with Traditional Owners and Australian Aboriginal or Torres 
Strait Islander cultures and networks, allowing the activities of the 
Museum to be linked to Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples as a fundamental human right. 

Continuity of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander culture is built on 
enduring rights that relate to the ownership of context and interpretation; 
and the rights to protect, control, benefit from and to maintain, revitalise 
and advance on-going practice.   

For MAAS, the connection to community is built on principles of authority, 
integrity and exchange that fosters meaningful dialogue and consideration 
of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander perspectives and values. This is 
done in a way that is respectful, informed, ethical and timely and where 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander ownership of cultural materials 
— both tangible and intangible — is acknowledged, honoured and upheld. 

MAAS recognises and 
shares the value and 
importance of 
preserving, revitalising 
and strengthening 
Australian Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait 
Islander cultures, 
histories and 
achievements.

DETAIL OF A PHOTOGRAPH ENTITLED 
STORIES OF YOLNGU BY WAYNE 
QUILLIAM USED FOR THE COVER  
OF THE MAAS RAP BOOKLET. 
Photo: Wayne Quilliam
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SYDNEY OBSERVATORY  
AT NIGHT. 
Photo: Scott Donkin

Conservation Management Plan
In September 2017, MAAS commissioned leading heritage experts GML 
Heritage to a produce a comprehensive Conservation Management Plan 
for Sydney Observatory, a site of State heritage significance which has 
played a seminal role in the history of timekeeping, meteorology and 
astronomy in Australia. This project builds on the influential and important 
work of historian James Semple Kerr, author of the original Conservation 
Plan for the Observatory, and will guide MAAS in its ongoing care and 
preservation of this significant scientific and historic site. The 
Conservation Management Plan will also form the basis for development 
of future exhibitions, experiences and programs at the Observatory as it 
continues its role as a museum and public observatory with an important 
role in astronomy education and public telescope viewing.

Earth hour with WWF 
On 24 March 2018, MAAS held its popular Earth Hour event at Sydney 
Observatory in partnership with the World Wildlife Foundation (WWF). 
Guests enjoyed an evening of star gazing, climate action and hands-on 
activities promoting sustainability.  

Inspired by the WWF 2018 campaign Connect2Earth, guests enjoyed 
telescope viewings of planets and stars, talks on Zero Carbon Sydney by  
Dr Robert Rogemma from Swinburne University, guided walks of the local 
flying fox population by the Australasian Bat Society and a didgeridoo and 
violin duet by Eric Avery and Graham Davis King.  

The sold-out Sydney Observatory event was one of the highlights of the 
WWF Sydney Program and was featured on the WWF’s homepage and 
promotion of Earth Hour 2018. The ongoing partnership with WWF was  
an opportunity to introduce new audiences to Sydney Observatory and 
MAAS and an opportunity to engage in national conversations about 
science, community and environment. 

Sydney 
Observatory
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Festivals Sydney Science Festival  
Launched in 2015, Sydney Science Festival (SSF) continued to amplify the 
reach of National Science Week while showcasing Sydney’s diverse and 
multidisciplinary science and innovation community and encouraging an 
interest in science among the public and young people.  

This year the festival was produced by the Museum of Applied Arts and 
Sciences (MAAS) and the Australian Museum in collaboration with 
Inspiring Australia (NSW). In 2017, the public program comprised 140 
events, attracting 60,000 visitors. The Australian Museum school program 
consisted of 45 events that attracted 13,000 visitors.  

Key festival highlights included Life on Mars: NASA’s 2020 Rover Mission 
which brought together a panel of NASA experts including Australian 
astrobiologist Dr Abigail Allwood, Mars Exploration Program scientist Dr 
Mitch Schulte, theoretical physicist, cosmologist and astrobiologist 
Professor Paul Davies, and astrophysicist MC Dr Graham Phillips.  

Sydney Science Festival also included family focused events such as 
Science in the Swamp in Centennial Park. The free family day included 
hands on science experiments, life-size roaming dinosaurs, experiments, 
shows and demonstrations. 

MAAS also hosted an Indigenous Science Symposium as part of the 
festival in 2017–18. Indigenous Sciences: A Second Symposium … of Sorts 
was dedicated to honouring the work that has been and continues to be 
done by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women in the fields of 
science and technology — celebrating the diversity of their achievements. 

SYDNEY SCIENCE FESTIVAL 2017. 
Photo: Leila Berney
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A key focus for the gathering revolved around finding ways to support our 
Indigenous sisters’ ongoing research and development to support this 
leadership. 

This gathering brought together Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
academics, theorists, researchers, designers, engineers, educators and 
students from across the country. It provided an important opportunity to 
shape future research and investigations focused on exploring and sharing 
the sophistication, richness and leadership of Australia’s First Nations 
peoples within the scientific domain. Keynote presentation were given by 
Kaleesha Morris, Mikaela Jade, Karlie Noon, Renee Cawthorne with 
facilitation by Caroline Martin. 

Sydney Design Festival  
This year marked the 20th year of the Sydney Design Festival. The festival 
was transformed through an award-winning rebrand by Re: Agency, 
ensuring the festival identity is immediately recognisable amidst the cultural 
landscape. The branding work was the result of an industry partnership to 
commemorate the festival’s 20th year and strengthen its campaign and 
visual identity. The Festival Advisors Group was reviewed and reformed to 
cover all design disciplines for best industry advocacy and advice. 

This year’s festival was programmed around the provocation ‘Call to 
action’ which focused on the power of design — exploring both a 
celebration and a critique of design — and urged the design industry and 
our audience to think critically, to engage in responsive and reflexive 
dialogue about the role of design in contemporary society.  

SYDNEY DESIGN FESTIVAL 2018, 
OPENING OF THE COMMON GOOD 
EXHIBITION. 
Photo: Ryan Hernandez
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Through a public expression of interest process, MAAS worked with 83 
program partners at 122 events attracting 58,420 participants throughout 
the festival. The diverse program stretched across Sydney with new 
growth in Western Sydney, fostering strong connections and developing 
relationships for future iterations of the festival.   

These programs were supported by curated content, which was aligned 
closely to MAAS key exhibitions Common Good, Design Nation, Four 
Periscopes and Shape 2017 allowing the Powerhouse Museum to act as a 
festival headquarters. 

This year MAAS also trialled a residency component. MAAS worked with 
the Rizzeria to create a series of hands-on workshops for adults and 
students alike. The Rizzeria worked closely with the MAAS team as part of 
Shape 2017 and were feature artists as part of MAASive Lates: Sydney 
Design Festival. This is a highly successful model that will be explored 
further in the future. 

As part of this year’s festival, MAAS presented its inaugural Indigenous 
Design Symposium, Designing Country: Culture, Connection and 
Community — 60,000 Years in the Making. 

The program involved two days of sharing concepts and innovations in 
Indigenous design theory and practice with a range of guest speakers 
providing catalysts for conversation and yarn-ups showcasing the 
approaches and techniques of some of Australia’s leading Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander artists, designers, architects, engineers, urban 
planners and place makers whose work brings traditional cultural practices 
and perspectives into contemporary contexts.   

Presenters included Liam Ridgeway, Aroha Groves, Michael Hromek, Linda 
Kennedy, Nicole Monks, Emily McDaniel, Jason Wing, Kent Morris. The 
program was hosted by Dr Fiona Foley. 
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Research  

MAAS continued to build upon its strong research reputation this year with 
three ongoing collaborative projects funded through the Australian Research 
Council (ARC) and a joint research project on museums and learning 
expectations for children under five funded through Macquarie University. 

Innovative Learning Environments 
and Teacher Change (ILETC),  
2016–2020  
Funding body: ARC 
Project leader: Dr Wesley Imms, University of Melbourne 
MAAS project lead: Peter Mahony, Education & Digital Learning Manager  

The IELTC is an ongoing ARC Linkage Project led by the University of 
Melbourne’s Learning Environments Applied Research Network (LEaRN). 
MAAS is a partner on this project, along with four education departments 
in Australia and New Zealand, the Catholic Education Diocese of 
Parramatta, key industry partners and leading research focused schools 
including a new partner Monash University.  

The project explores how space enhances teaching practices by collecting 
a range of data from principals and teachers. This data will be used to 
design, test and implement practical tools and strategies to assist teachers 
in maximising learning in both physical and virtual environments.  

In 2017–18 PhD project candidates have attended the Powerhouse 
Museum and the Sydney Observatory, interviewed MAAS education team 
members and observed school programs to collect research data. The 
publications, learning and recommendations generated by this ground-
breaking project are a direct input to the learning space design 
considerations for the New Museum project. 

Curating Third Space: the value of  
art science collaboration, 2015–2018  
Funding body: ARC 
Project leader: Professor Jill Bennett, UNSW Art & Design 
MAAS project lead: Katie Dyer, Senior Curator Contemporary 

Work continued on this project, which applies an innovative research 
methodology, the visual matrix, to involve audiences in the exhibition 
aspect of the research. MAAS enhanced its reputation as a leader in 
collaborative arts-science research through its participation in a workshop 
at the Australian Science Channel in Adelaide as part of our partnership on 
the ARC Linkage Grant Curating Third Space: The Value of Art-Science 
Collaboration.  

The trip resulted in a documentary video of the research project which will 
be broadcast on the Australian Science Channel (online). The exhibition 
and audience involvement with MAAS will comprise Case Study 4.  
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The project includes the exhibition Human non Human, which opened at 
the Powerhouse Museum in August 2018. Featuring artists Maria Fernanda 
Cardoso, Lindsay Kelley, Liam Young and Ken Thaiday with Jason 
Christopher, the exhibition explores the impact of accelerating technology, 
connectivity and a rapidly changing environment. A leading science-arts 
initiative, it combines many perspectives, including architecture, design, 
biotechnology, botany, chemistry, film and performance.   

A national framework for managing 
malignant plastics in museum 
collections, 2016–2019 
Funding body: ARC 
Project leader: Dr Petronella Nel, University of Melbourne  
MAAS project lead: Sue Gatenby, Conservator

This ARC Linkage project aims to develop methods for extending the 
lifespan of at risk malignant plastic or polymer-based materials in museum 
collections. To date the project has developed its collection survey 
methods and the present focus for MAAS is on a collection condition 
survey focusing on the Museum’s 1930s plastic collection. 

‘Let’s go to the Museum’
Funding body: Macquarie University 
Enterprise Partnership Grant Project Leader: Ass Prof Sheila Degotardi 
MAAS Project Leader: Lily Katakouzinos, Head of Programs

In December 2017, Macquarie University shared the final report ‘Let’s go  
to the Museum’: An investigation of the expectations and learning 
engagement of prior-to-school aged children and their families. The 
research was a partnership between Macquarie University, the Museum  
of Applied Arts and Sciences, Museums Victoria and the Australian 
National Maritime Museum and highlights tangible and practical ways  
to improve the museum experience for families and children and  
enhance opportunities for learning.   

The project team is now considering options for stage two of the research, 
which includes the possibility of seeking extra funds to test the findings 
and prototyping from stage one. 
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MAAS Visiting Research Fellows  
This year our Visiting Research Fellows showcased the MAAS focus on 
scholarship and collaboration. 

In December, MAAS Visiting Research Fellow, Andy Tay, a neuroscientist 
and biomedical engineer from Stanford University and the National 
University of Singapore, completed a research project in Future Park which 
explored how sensory neuroscience can be used to shape and enhance  
the visitor experience. His findings were published in scholarly articles, 
including a blog on his fellowship at MAAS in Naturejobs.  

Dr Jo Law and Dr Agnieszka Golda from the University of Wollongong 
explored the exchanges between traditional and new textile technologies. 
They looked at gold and silver thread embroidery from China and Japan in 
the collection. A major outcome of their research was discovering how 
lace and embroidery techniques can be combined with conductive 
materials, low energy devices, and energy harvesting technologies 
(photovoltaic cells) to invent new materials and sustainable methods of 
making. This was developed into an exhibition entitled Spinning Worlds 
opening in July 2018, making MAAS research activities more visible to  
our audiences.  

Dr Kate Scardifield from the School of Design at the University of 
Technology conducted a research project entitled Archival Enactments: 
New Constellations. Dr Scardifield developed an exhibition project called 
Soft Topology at University of Technology Sydney, February– April 2018.  
During this exhibition, curators Katie Dyer and Andrew Jacob presented a 
lunchtime talk profiling the connection of the research to the fellowship in 
2017. This body of work responded to objects and ephemera in the MAAS 
collection linked to the former Governor of NSW and Scottish astronomer, 
Sir Thomas Brisbane.  

Dr Ollie Bown from the School of Art and Design, University of New South 
Wales is the 2018 MAAS Visiting Research Fellow. His project Creative 
Reflections on mechanised music past and present will focus on the Master 
Touch collection. He will create a new work for the pianola in a distributed 
listening exhibition scheduled to open in early 2019. 

Research Symposia  
The Museum’s leadership in contemporary curatorial practice and 
collaborative knowledge exchange was strengthened through hosting  
the Research Symposium Make it New: Creating Contemporary Cultural 
Material from Collections and Archives with the Biennale of Sydney  
in 2018. Artist Brook Andrew spoke about his work at the Museum of 
Contemporary Art that included a significant number of MAAS collection 
objects, alongside Rayyane Tabet, Artistic Director Mami Kataoka and 
MAAS curators Katie Dyer and Vanessa Thorne.  

WORKS BY DR KATE SCARDIFIELD IN 
MICROGRAVITY EXHIBITION. 
Photo: Ryan Hernandez
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FULL STEAM AHEAD PROGRAM. 
Photo: Marinco Kojdanovski

Our MAAS Centres are a strategic approach to working with education 
and industry partners in focus discipline areas.  

Centre for STEAM 
This year the MAAS Centre for STEAM leveraged the Museum’s reputation 
and unique position in the sector to spearhead a range of compelling, 
stimulating and exciting STEAM initiatives that address Australia’s 
declining skills in science, literacy and science.  

Initiatives such as Full STEAM Ahead were run again in collaboration with 
the Commonwealth Bank and the Australian Business and Community 
Network during May and June 2018. To further support career pathways 
for young women, MAAS, through the Centre for STEAM, presented eight 
school holiday Just for Girls workshops in coding, digital media and game 
design reaching over 80 learners.  

In June 2018, Dr Nural Cokcetin provided the inaugural Centre for STEAM 
Thought Leaders Talk. Dr Cokcetin is a microbiologist and postdoctoral 
researcher at UTS, specialising in gut health and the medicinal properties 
of honey. An effective and inspiring science communicator, Nural was 
named best young science communicator in Australia and was the 
international runner-up in the FameLab Science Communication 
Competition in 2017. She was also nominated for the 2017 NSW Premier’s 
Prize for Innovative Research in Science. The Centre for STEAM Thought 
Leaders series is a unique program, telling aspirational STEAM stories and 
highlighting the transformative role of STEAM in our lives.  

Our commitment to embedding Indigenous cultural perspective across all 
our domains is a key priority for the Centre. This year MAAS created a pilot 
position for a MAAS Indigenous STEAM Program Producer, in partnership 
with the University of Sydney’s Australian Centre for Field Robotics. 

MAAS  
Centres
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MAAS also developed a new iteration of the popular Australian Indigenous 
Astronomy program including a new Indigenous Astronomy self-directed 
experience at Sydney Observatory. While the Indigenous Science 
Symposium held as part of the Sydney Science Festival 2017 celebrated 
leading Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women in the fields of science 
and technology such as Kaleesha Morris, Mikaela Jade, Karlie Noon and 
Renee Cawthorn. 

Centre for Fashion  
The Centre for Fashion, established in 2015, unites a diverse range of 
specialists, industry figures and audiences to celebrate, experience and 
think more deeply about the evolution, business, context and the art  
of fashion. 

This year was a landmark year in terms of both partnerships with key 
brands and new public programs with key industry advocates. 

The Centre for Fashion presented the MAAS Ball in February 2018,  
as a launchpad for the Australian Fashion Fund, which is dedicated to 
securing acquisitions of Australian fashion to build the collection for future 
generations, profiling and supporting the talent of the Australian industry 
and providing an opportunity for knowledge exchange.  

Key Centre for Fashion exhibitions on show during the year included Love 
Is … 200 Years of Australian Wedding Fashion, Reigning Men: Fashion in 
Menswear 1715–2015 and Australian Men’s Style.    

New and renewing fashion partners included Etihad Airways, Net-a-Porter 
and Mr. Porter, Bentley Sydney, Moet & Chandon, Bird in Hand, Grey 
Goose, Tiffany and Co., Destination NSW, IMG, Ferrari, IWC Shaffhausen, 
Garde Robe, the City of Sydney and GQ. 

The MAAS Centre for Fashion also presented two new public programs  
in partnership with the City of Sydney and Etihad Airways. The Industry 
Threads seminars were designed to explore key topics in Australian 
contemporary fashion hosted by Glynis Traill-Nash and Damien 
Woolnough. Guests for the events included Justin O’Shea, Kym Ellery,  
and Akira Isogawa.  

Other signature initiatives by the MAAS Centre for Fashion included 
hosting the annual Student Fashion exhibition and a display celebrating  
10 years of the Australian Fashion Laureate, presented in partnership  
with IMG.  

This year was a 
landmark year in 
terms of both 
partnerships with  
key brands and new 
public programs with 
key industry 
advocates. 
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FULL STEAM AHEAD PROGRAM. 
Photo: Marinco Kojdanovski

MAAS is uniquely placed to bring together our community with industry 
to explore our key disciplines across applied arts and sciences.  

Industry

Full STEAM Ahead 
The 4th annual Full STEAM Ahead program took place in 2018 supported 
by the Commonwealth Bank in partnership with the Australian Business 
and Community Network. This year over 300 learners from Western 
Sydney schools attended Powerhouse Museum for a sequence of learning 
experiences. These included a careers expo, in-depth coding and 
computing workshops, and the challenge of a collaborative hackathon.  
A national audience of over 600 learners also joined the program via video 
conference, discussing careers in technology with industry experts, and 
taking part in a virtual four-week ThinkerShield computing course. 
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Sherman Centre for Culture  
and Ideas (SCCI) 
MAAS collaborated with the newly formed Sherman Centre for Culture 
and Ideas (SCCI) in their inaugural fashion hub in April 2018 which 
encompassed key industry stakeholders in the applied arts. 

The hub promoted ideas around sustainable fashion and challenged the 
industry about the representation of women, how fashion is presented in 
cultural institutions, how audiences and consumers engage with fashion, 
as well as materials and supply chains, economic models through to 
design ethics. 

Three programs were presented at MAAS including a keynote by 
Emmanuel Coquery, Director of Exhibitions of the Grand Palais, Paris  
and former Director of Heritage for CHANEL, an interactive talk by 
Japanese designer Akira Minagawa responsible for the cross over  
brand Mina Perhonan that creates fashion, textiles and homewares in  
an integrated and sustainable way. Iranian-born artist/designer Nasim  
Nasr presented Women in Shadow, a performative fashion parade 
exploring the experience and representation of Islamic women in fashion. 

TIMOTHY NICOL-FORD,  
FASHION PROGRAM MANAGER 
AND EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT, 
SHERMAN CENTRE FOR CULTURE  
& IDEAS, AT THE LAUNCH OF 
REIGNING MEN, MAY 2018. 
Photo: Ryan Hernandez
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STUDENT FASHION 2017 
EXHIBITION VIEW. 
Photo: Ryan Hernandez

MAAS is committed to collaborating with education partners to showcase 
outstanding work from learners each year.  

Student Fashion 2017 
Established in 1993, the annual Student Fashion display showcases the 
creativity and professionalism of Sydney-based tertiary fashion design 
students as part of a broader brief to showcase fashion as a viable and 
vibrant part of Australia’s creative industries. 

This year MAAS collaborated with four fashion schools: Fashion Design 
Studio, TAFE NSW, Sydney Institute; Raffles College of Design and 
Commerce, Parramatta; University of Technology, Sydney; and 
Whitehouse Institute of Design, Australia; showcasing outfits and creative 
process material from the final-year ranges of top students from four 
Sydney-based fashion design schools.

The students are involved in the selection, label text and installation of the 
exhibition and the items are on display from March to October 2018.  

Education
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Shape 2017 
Shape 2017 was the 27th annual exhibition of selected outstanding HSC 
major projects from the Technological and Applied Studies subject area. 
This valuable and strategic partnership project between MAAS and the 
New South Wales Education Standards Authority (NESA) continues to 
showcase the designers in the areas of Textiles and Design, Industrial 
Technology and Design and Technology. 

Highlights of this year’s show included a solar-powered bag that will 
charge your smartphone, a water bottle that monitors your thirst, a smart 
watch designed to decrease anxiety and a smart mirror that gets you ready 
for the day with a weather forecast and local news updates.

The annual SHAPE seminar series was well attended with 2,751 young 
people and 180 teachers from 171 schools. MAAS partnered with NSW 
Education Standards Authority (NESA) on an extensive program 
comprising seminars, skills expo, regional school access via Video 
Conference link, and for the first time in 2017, a design residency from 
local printmakers Rizzeria. MAAS also made the portfolios available  
online for greater access.

Australian Centre for Field Robotics  
This year MAAS entered into a partnership with Sydney University’s 
Australian Centre for Field Robotics (ACFR). This partnership explored  
the development of a pilot program that brings Indigenous knowledges 
together with robotics and digital technology and focuses on the future  
of food production specifically tailored to the education requirements  
of the Indigenous community.  

The partnered approach has provided a unique opportunity to match the 
sophistication of traditional Indigenous environmental sciences with new 
and emerging technologies. The approach also promotes and builds upon 
the work already undertaken by the MAAS Indigenous Engagement and 
Strategy team and the foundations already established by the ACFR to 
develop both fundamental and applied research programs in field robotics 
and intelligent systems that encompass the development of new theories 
and methods, and the deployment of these in targeted industrial, social 
and environmental applications. 

THE DIGITAL FARMHAND, ONE 
OF THE SHAPE 2017 PROJECTS. 
Photo: Amy Sherden
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LIVE BARBERING AND MUSIC 
PERFORMANCES AT THE 
POWERHOUSE MUSEUM WITH  
ICE AND GRANVILLE BOYS HIGH.  
Photo: Ryan Hernandez

This year we continued to collaborate with our partners in Western Sydney 
and regional NSW to increase access for audiences and stakeholders to 
cultural services, the MAAS collection and staff expertise.  

Collection loans  
In April 2018, MAAS collaborated with Steamfest in Maitland to exhibit  
the historic Rockford steam wagon from the MAAS collection, one of only 
three in the world. MAAS staff delighted the crowds with live 
demonstrations. The Aveling and Porter steam tip wagon was also 
exhibited and was taken on a number of trips around the streets as part  
of the parade. This item was also sent to the Thirlmere Festival of Steam  
in February 2018. This year MAAS also sent two cars to CARnivale Classic 
Car Show at Parramatta Park in January 2018, including the Doring electric 
Ford Prefect and the International auto buggy.  

Western Sydney Coding Club 
MAAS continued to collaborate on education programs in Western 
Sydney. By the end of 2017, MAAS completed the first pilot year of the 
Western Sydney Coding Club (WSCC), supported by the Crown Resorts 
and Packer Family Foundations, and designed to provide sustainable 
support to schools and educators to implement coding programs. 

The first year of the WSCC saw engagement with 51 schools, 75 teachers 
and 2,050 learners. The pilot evaluation showed that 100% of teachers and 
learners would recommend the program to other schools with 92% of 
learners learning new skills. Some 82% of learners said the program would 
positively influence their decision to choose STEAM subjects in the future. 

The second year of the WSCC was formally launched in late 2017 and has 
seen more than 30 new schools join the program. MAAS has been 
successful in securing a third year of funding for the WSCC and is working 
with an external researcher to evaluate the impact of this program. 

MAAS + ICE + Granville Boys High
We continued our partnership with Information and Cultural Exchange 
(ICE) in Parramatta. This year the partnership delivered a collaborative 
project working with Western Sydney male youth from Granville Boys  
High School. The project engaged Western Sydney young men who are 
struggling with multiple conceptions and expectations of how to ‘be men’ 
in contemporary society.  

The project involved a series of structured workshops and mentoring, 
where participants were given an opportunity to confidently engage in 
barbering, music, research and social media skills generation. These 
sessions allowed for creative expression and assistance with potential 
employment opportunities. The second stage involved creating a platform 
to showcase these skills and a new form of cultural engagement through 
individually designed public programs at MAAS.

Western  
Sydney/Regional
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Global 
Engagement

Key MAAS team members travelled internationally this year to build and 
strengthen relationships, share expertise and engage in cultural 
conversations with institutions from around the world. 

In August 2017, the MAAS Director visited Washington D.C. to further 
strengthen ties with the Smithsonian Institutes, in particular, the National 
Air & Space Museum, of which we have a long-term loan of a rocket. The 
Director also toured the newly opened National Museum of African 
American History and Culture and met the architects, Adjaye Associates, 
to discuss the complexities of a significant capital program.  

In September 2017, Director, Curatorial Collections and Exhibitions was 
invited to Seoul by The Korean Culture and Information Service after being 
awarded their K-Fellowship, an invitation awarded on a competitive basis 
to visit South Korea and build networks and enhance intercultural ties 
between Korea and the country of the invitee. The Director discussed 
partnership and collaboration opportunities with key stakeholders and this 
trip was pivotal in solidifying relationships with prominent Korean artists 
with whom MAAS collaborated for our exhibition Common Good. 

In October 2017, the MAAS Director travelled to Paris as the exclusive 
Australian delegate to participate in the Applied Arts Director Network 
meeting, attended by the directors of all key applied arts museums around 
the world. While she was in Paris, she met with key stakeholders at cultural 
institutions to negotiate opportunities of collaboration for the MAAS 
exhibition program. While the Director was in Europe, she also travelled to 
London to meet with the directors of the Science Museum, V&A and 
British Museum to discuss collaboration opportunities in the future. 

FAITH, FASHION, FUSION PROJECT 
TEAM FROM MAAS AND THE ISLAMIC 
ARTS MUSEUM, MALAYSIA, AT AN 
EXHIBITION WALK-THROUGH IN 
NOVEMBER 2017. 
Photo: Kate Ford
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In November 2017, Director, Programs and Engagement travelled to the 
Science Centre World Summit 2017 at the National Museum for Emerging 
Science and Innovation in Tokyo, Japan, to meet other science museums 
and leaders in the industry and discuss the latest developments in the 
sector and future collaboration opportunities.

MAAS was invited to send its highly successful national touring exhibition 
Faith, Fashion, Fusion to Malaysia in November 2017, and Indonesia in 
February 2018. This MAAS developed and produced exhibition explored 
the emerging modest fashion industry in Australia and the work of a new 
generation of local designers creating and retailing stylish clothing for 
Muslim women. The exhibition was funded by the Department of Foreign 
Affairs and Trade. The installation won the Institution award at the 2018 
ICOM awards for an innovative project. 

In September 2017, the MAAS Director presented at the Aedes Network 
Campus and Australian Government Department of Foreign Affairs 
Australia Now Symposium in Berlin on the Museum as Activator: 
Strategies for Public Space and Access. This trip enabled the government 
and MAAS to expand existing links with Germany. 

MAAS staff presented at several conferences including the Museums and 
Galleries Australia Conference in Melbourne, the Museums Next 
conference in Brisbane, and the International Council of Museums 
International Committee for Egyptology conference in Chicago after the 
success of the exhibition Egyptian Mummies: Exploring Ancient Lives. This 
trip provided MAAS with an opportunity to showcase the Museum’s 
collection of Egyptian antiquities, as well as its relevance in the context of 
an applied arts and sciences museum. 

MAAS Digital Studio Manager presented at the Museums of the Web 
conference in Vancouver on the Catalina HoloLens project. This project 
was a partnership with CSIRO’s Data61 Immersive Environments Lab to 
develop a ‘mixed reality’ experience using the Microsoft HoloLens and 
aimed to prototype what mixed reality technologies might offer in 
designing future museum visitor experiences. As a result of this work, in 
May 2018 MAAS and CSIRO were awarded an iAward for Innovation by 
the Australian Information Industry Association. 

Presenting and attending such conferences strengthened the 
organisation’s profile, and the networking and subsequent meetings from 
attendance allowed MAAS to build on relationships with important 
stakeholders such as Microsoft, the British Museum and ICOM. 

Presence at these conferences allowed MAAS to expand our international 
connections which can result in significant international partnerships, and 
opportunities to work with a range of experts in various fields. For 
example, in conjunction with the Sherman Centre for Culture and Ideas 
(SCCI), MAAS co-hosted Emmanuel Coquery, Director of Exhibitions at 
the Grand Palais in Paris as well as Designer Akira Minagawa from Japan 
and Artist Nasim Nasr as part of the SCCI Fashion Hub in April 2018. Our 
international connections also enabled MAAS to bring out speakers for the 
Sydney Science Festival from NASA, as well as for the Sydney Design 
Festival where David Giannotten, Managing Partner Architect of OMA 
presented the keynote presentation. 

 

MAAS was invited  
to send its highly 
successful national 
touring exhibition 
Faith, Fashion,  
Fusion to Malaysia  
in November 2017, 
and Indonesia in 
February 2018.
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Publications 

MAAS Media published four new publications throughout the year, 
focusing on the Museum’s collection and expertise, and collaborating with 
creative and academic authors, artists, designers and illustrators. All of the 
publications were developed and produced inhouse. During the year 
MAAS also received a grant from the Copyright Agency Cultural Fund to 
publish Time and Memory, the next book in the MAAS Collection Series, 
which will be published in late 2018.

The Story of Sydney Observatory  
March 2018 

Using archival images and objects from the MAAS collection, The Story of 
Sydney Observatory details the evolution of the astronomical observatory 
to a working museum. From the close cultural relationship shared between 
a colonial lieutenant and a Cadigal woman, to the Melbourne astrograph 
telescope used to map the stars of the Milky Way galaxy, the stories inside 
shed light on the site, people and objects that have helped shape Sydney 
Observatory into what it is today. Published for the 160th anniversary of 
Sydney Observatory, this publication features a range of authors, including 
award-winning writer Bruce Pascoe and astronomer Nick Lomb.  

2018 Australasian Sky Guide  
September 2017  

Published annually, and written by astronomer and author Dr Nick Lomb, 
the 2018 guide contains monthly astronomy maps, viewing tips and 
highlights, the latest exciting celestial events and an updated Indigenous 
astronomy section. The publication is also available as an ebook. 
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Common Good 
March 2018 

Published to accompany the Common Good exhibition, this book explores 
the impact of contemporary design practice in Australia and neighbouring 
regions, examining how designers are responding to social, environmental 
and ethical challenges to affect change. It features detailed artist 
interviews, essays and in-depth information on materials, themes and 
projects focusing on the diversity of design practice.  

MAAS Magazine  
December 2017 and June 2018  

The summer and winter issues of MAAS Magazine were produced inhouse 
with contributions from external collaborators, including guest curators, 
authors and program producers, and staff across the museum. MAAS 
Magazine is distributed to Members and other Museum stakeholders. It is 
also available for sale in the MAAS Store and online in a flipbook format 
through ISSUU.

WINTER 2018

Reigning Men
Reflections of Asia
Human non Human
Under the Night Sky
Four Periscopes installation

Rust Never Sleeps  
September 2017 

Developed by the MAAS Conservation Team, this publication is aimed 
towards anyone who cares for historic farm machinery — whether they 
work in a museum, community group, are a private collector, have an 
interest in history or just own a piece of old farm equipment. This book 
offers practical advice that may help to prolong the life of historic farm 
machinery and record its history.



69
MAAS   

Annual Report  
2017–18



70
MAAS   
Annual Report  
2017–18

Self-generated 
revenue5



71
MAAS   

Annual Report  
2017–18

Commercial 
Income 

Beyond general admissions, sponsorships and philanthropy, the museum 
generates revenue through retailing, commercial events, membership and 
café operations, the outcomes of which continue to support the Museum’s 
vision and strategic ambitions. All income figures are excluding GST.

For the 2017–18 financial year the income from shops, events, catering and 
cafes totalled $2,631,671, an increase of 32% on the income generated in 
2016–17 ($1,989,883). 

Retail 
The third year of trade for the MAAS Store saw an expansion and 
refinement of the existing product range in order to better reflect the 
Museum collection and support visiting exhibitions. The MAAS Store team 
also continued to manage retail ranges for both the Sydney Observatory 
and the Museums Discovery Centre.  

MAAS Store realised actual sales of $804,896. MAAS Store sales were 
boosted in 2017–18 by the Disney Star Wars Fan Weekend. Pop-up shop 
takings for the entire weekend were $47,600 with Saturday being the 
biggest trading day for retail at MAAS since Harry Potter: The Exhibition  
in 2011. Precisely 1,256 Star Wars fans purchased just over 2,400 Star 
Wars-themed items over the two-day period. 

MAAS retail also generated income of $36,480 from the sale of 3,000  
of the MAAS-developed exhibition catalogues of Egyptian Mummies: 
Exploring Ancient Lives to the Queensland Museum Network.  

Events, cafes and catering
For the 2017–18 financial year, the total income from events, catering and 
cafes was $1,826,775. This is an increase of 79% on the total income 
generated in 2016–17 ($1,018,000). 

There was a total of 165 commercial events held at MAAS sites during 
2017–18, an increase in the 154 events held in 2016–17. This generated 
venue hire income of $1,464,287. 

MAAS and University of Technology Sydney (UTS) expanded their 
innovative partnership, with MAAS UTS continuing to hold lectures in the 
MAAS Theatre throughout 2017–18 and starting in October 2017, in a 
one-of-a-kind innovative teaching space which exemplifies the forward-
thinking learning philosophy of both organisations. During teaching 
sessions the classroom is used by UTS students, and outside of session 
times, including weekends, the classroom is available for MAAS learning 
initiatives and programs.  

Create Consultants are the contract caterers for MAAS sites since August 
2015. Create Consultants has been responding to customer feedback by 
adjusting menu prices and offering competitively priced coffee to increase 
sales. Overall visitation in the MAAS Cafe and The Junction is 131,715, up 
14% reported in 2016–17 (115,458). The Junction Café has responded to the 
increase in visitation by UTS students with a range of special offers.

MAAS STORE AT THE  
POWERHOUSE MUSEUM. 
Photo: Marinco Kojdanovski
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The MAAS development program continued its focus on forming strategic 
partnerships and building relationships with organisations and individuals 
that align with the key MAAS disciplines. As a result, Development income 
for 2017–18 totalled more than $2.7m in support of exhibitions, public 
programs, events, collection acquisitions and school education programs.  

MAAS aligned itself with a number of new sponsors and partners. For  
our summer exhibition Future Park, MAAS secured three new partners 
including Toyota, Veolia and Micador. MAAS also partnered with Ferrari  
on Reigning Men: Fashion in Menswear, 1715–2015.

MAAS education programs were generously supported across the year 
with funding from various partners. Funding from Crown Foundation and 
the Packer Family Foundation allowed the Museum to continue to run the 
Western Sydney Coding Club. MAAS also secured a partnership with the 
Australian Centre for Field Robotics at the University of Sydney to develop 
and deploy a new program focused on the use of robotics in Indigenous 
agriculture education. For the third year, MAAS partnered with the 
Australian Business and Community Network to deliver Full STEAM 
Ahead, funded by Commonwealth Bank. The program provided access  
for young people across Australia to engage in interactive STEAM 
experiences. This year the program had a focus on providing access to the 
program to schools in Western Sydney and across the country via video 
conference. 

The Museum’s position as a cultural leader within the creative, high-tech 
industries was further strengthened by securing a three-year partnership 
with The Studio. A new start-up and innovation hub located in Wynyard, 
The Studio aims to foster and support new enterprises across the creative, 
media, entertainment and innovation industries. MAAS and The Studio will 
work together to connect national and international networks of 
accelerators and start-ups and develop public-facing programs and 
residencies.  

The MAAS Centre for Fashion held the inaugural MAAS Ball, seeing  
MAAS continue to work with key industry partners and also saw new 
relationships with Presenting Partner Net-a-Porter and Mr Porter; Major 
Partners Etihad Airways, IWC Schaffhausen and Bentley Sydney; and 
Supporting Partners Moet & Chandon, Bird in Hand and Grey Goose. The 
event was attended by close to 300 advocates for Australian fashion and 
secured more than $70,000 in seed funding for the Australian  
Fashion Fund.   

The Centre for Fashion also continued to be generously supported by the 
Designers Circle, a group of men and women that make an annual 
donation to MAAS to support the work of the MAAS Centre for Fashion 
including, exhibitions, programs and collection acquisitions. 

In 2017–18 MAAS received a significant bequest including more than 
$800,000 in cash and a selection of glass items for the collection from the 
estate of Barry J Willoughby. These items went on display in the Museum 
alongside the Cuberider module, acquired the annual appeal in 2016–17.    

Development
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FERRARI DISPLAY, IN ASSOCIATION 
WITH REIGNING MEN EXHIBITION.  
Photo: Ryan Hernandez

The MAAS membership program is now supported by over 20,000 
members and generated over $600,000 of revenue for the Museum  
in 2017–18.   

MAAS saw a 47% increase in members over the last financial year, with  
a total of 6,570 MAAS memberships sold. MAAS welcomed 4,864 new 
memberships to the program and saw a renewal rate of 38% with 1,700 
existing memberships renewed. 

This increase in memberships was driven in part by the MAAS 
membership benefit that entitled MAAS members free and unlimited entry 
to our summer exhibition Future Park. On average MAAS members visit 
the Powerhouse Museum at least three times during the course of their 
membership.  

In addition, a key benefit was enhanced this year with MAAS members 
now receiving up to 25% discount on MAAS events, programs and 
workshops. A range of members-exclusive events were also offered this 
year — including members-exclusive curator-led tours and a pioneering 
collaboration with Sydney Living Museums and Australian Museum which 
entitled MAAS members to access ten other museums in Sydney for free 
on one weekend in December.  

MAAS members can also now choose to auto-renew their MAAS 
membership, with an incentive of a 10% discount — allowing members  
to easily renew their MAAS membership.

Membership
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Leadership development continued to be a focus for 2017–18 with all 
executive and senior leaders participating in the Leadership Impact 
Program, consisting of assessments, workshops and coaching to provide 
managers with insight into their personal leadership strategies. 

Mentoring and career development programs were offered internally 
through the MAAS mentoring program and externally through the Council 
of Australasian Museum Directors (CAMD) Mentor Program. MAAS 
supported a number of female staff to attend the Career Management 
Workshop for Women Working in the Arts and Cultural Sector, a Museums 
& Galleries of NSW program. 

Individual professional development within MAAS remains a priority;  
with staff attending a range of internal and external courses and 
conferences in line with their Performance Development Plans. Topics 
included public speaking and communication skills, the Public Sector 
Corporate Governance conference, Vectorworks CAD software training, 
mediation training, Museum Next conference, Writing Bootcamps for 
exhibition labels, working with editors, blogs and social media — in 
addition to museum specific programs on object handling, courier 
procedures and crate packing. 

Secondments and temporary assignment opportunities increased from  
the previous year with several leadership positions being filled by internal 
candidates of MAAS. The museum supports employees who wish to 
pursue tertiary studies through the Studies Assistance program and this 
year approved 198 hours of study time to support their ongoing 
professional development. 

Research talks continued through the year, with speakers delivering talks 
to staff and volunteers in their field of study or expertise.   

Reward and recognition  
The MAAS Rewards and Recognition Program continued through the year 
recognising teams and individuals throughout MAAS who demonstrate the 
organisation’s values and strategic ambitions. This program includes both 
staff and volunteers. Formal rewards occur quarterly and annually to 
recognise collaboration and contribution to MAAS. Informal peer to peer 
recognition is given frequently through the MAAS Thank You program. 

Recruitment  
In 2017–18 MAAS was pleased to welcome many new capable and  
talented individuals to the team. Several senior appointments were  
made throughout the year including Head of Communications, Head  
of Visitor Services & Venues, Head of Facilities, Asset Management  
& Operational Services, Research Manager and ICT Manager.  

Developing 
our people  

MDC OPEN WEEKEND, JUNE 2017. 
WITH VOLUNTEERS AND VISITORS  
IN THE STORES. 
Photo: Ryan Hernandez
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Senior management structure 
The MAAS Director is responsible to the Trustees and the Minister for  
the Arts, through the NSW Department of Planning and Environment,  
for the overall management and control of MAAS and its activities. 

Review mechanisms 
MAAS engages in several levels of performance review practice. The 
MAAS Director has a performance agreement with the President of the 
Board of Trustees and the Secretary of NSW Department of Planning and 
Environment, which is reviewed annually. There are also performance 
agreements between the Director and the Department Directors. 

Internal review mechanisms include fortnightly meetings of the MAAS 
Executive (Director with Department Directors), monthly meetings of the 
Senior Leadership Team (team heads), monthly all staff meetings, meetings 
of the Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee and management 
and performance reports to the Board of Trustees. 

Staff consultation  
Two forums provide opportunity for staff consultation at MAAS. The Joint 
Consultative Committee (JCC) provides opportunities for the Executive team, 
staff and union representatives to address matters relating to organisational 
change and performance. The JCC met on six occasions over the year. 

The Staff Consultative Committee (SCC) was established in 2014 to 
provide an additional opportunity for a cross-section of MAAS staff to 
further engage with the Executive and identify ways to enhance the 
workplace environment. The Committee met on six occasions. 

Volunteers 
In 2017–18, 342 volunteers contributed 29,012 hours of their time to 
support MAAS activities. MAAS values the contribution of our volunteers 
and recognises the wide range of skills and knowledge they bring to the 
organisation. 

This year we expanded our focus on recruiting bilingual volunteers. 
Multilingual experiences included Mandarin, Japanese and Korean 
bilingual activities at the Discovery Stations at the Powerhouse Museum 
and Museums Discovery Centre. 

MAAS is also committed to improving customer service standards through 
formal training and evaluation. Museums Discovery Centre volunteers 
undertook accredited Customer Service Training, funded by the NSW 
Government’s Smart and Skilled program. 

Internal Training was provided in See Think Wonder learning methodology 
by the MAAS Education team, Object Handling from the Registration and 
Conservation team, Material Culture with the Curatorial team. Office365 
training was also offered for all the behind-the-scenes volunteers. 
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MAAS is committed to promoting a fair workplace which is free of all 
forms of harassment and discrimination for all staff members. This includes 
all staff, contractors and volunteers. MAAS actively promotes policies and 
practices which establish and promote equity principles. Policies protect 
against discrimination or harassment against a staff member or job 
applicant based on age, sex, pregnancy, disability, race, colour, ethnic or 
ethno-religious background, descent or nationality, marital status, carer’s 
responsibilities, sexuality or gender. 

Our aim is to attract and retain the right people for roles regardless of their 
gender, race, age, religious beliefs, or personal preferences. We promote 
and embed diversity and inclusion in all our recruitment processes, 
workplace culture initiatives, career development programs, customer 
service training and policies and processes. 

Improvements in diversity across MAAS over the past year include 
mentorships and career workshops for women, a more culturally diverse 
workforce, an increase in participation of people with a disability and a 
range of flexible working options for employees transitioning to retirement.  

MAAS Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP)
MAAS Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) was launched last year 
and provides a suite of strategic actions and targets for implementation 
over the 2017–19 operational years. The MAAS RAP is built on three pillars 
of respect, relationship and opportunity. MAAS reports regularly on the 
progress against the RAP to the Board of Trustees and MAAS executives 
through an executive sponsor. These initiatives have seen a strengthening 
of our representation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander employees at 
entry levels of our workforce, with a focus to improve representation at 
senior levels in the year to come. 

MAAS Disability Inclusion Action  
Plan (DIAP)
In 2017–18, MAAS embarked on developing a Disability Inclusion Action 
Plan (DIAP) as part of its commitment to strengthen access and equity 
across the Museum. A working group was formed with representatives 
across the organisation including an executive sponsor. Working closely 
with Accessible Arts, MAAS has the goal of creating and implementing a 
plan of practical steps in removing barriers for people with a disability in 
the community; to enable access to all areas of the organisation, including 
employment and procurement opportunities. The plan is near completion 
with a plan to launch in mid 2019. 

Inclusion 
and diversity
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MAAS continues its strong commitment of continuous improvement in 
safety performance by reporting and investigating all incidents including 
near-miss incidents, as well as identifying, and assessing and controlling 
workplace hazards.  

MAAS has continued to review and update WHS policies and procedures 
as required, including a review of the MAAS managing alcohol and other 
drugs in the workplace policy. Following an internal audit program, a gap 
analysis was undertaken. Recommendations from the audit resulted in an 
upgrade of the MAAS safety management system and the development 
and delivery of a due diligence framework and training. 

In 2017–18, six minor workers’ compensation claims were recorded, one 
more than the number reported for the 2016–17 period. A focus on lag  
and lead indicators and causative factors of injuries will continue and 
preventative strategies, such as training and awareness programs, will  
be implemented. 

As part of the consultation process MAAS has an active WHS Committee 
which meets four times a year. The Committee includes representation 
from all areas of the organisation. WHS is a priority standing item at the 
Board of Trustees meeting and monthly reports are provided. 

MAAS provides flu vaccinations to staff on a yearly basis and this year  
118 workers participated. A massage therapist is also engaged on a  
user-pay basis and attends the site every two weeks. 

Over 150 hours of Work Health and Safety training was delivered,  
focusing on White Card training, manual handling and first aid. 

WHS  
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The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences is operated and maintained  
by the Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences which is 
constituted as a body corporate under the Museum of Applied Arts and 
Sciences Act 1945 (MAAS Act).  

The MAAS Act requires the Museum to: ‘effectively minister to the needs 
and demands of the community in any or all branches of applied science 
and art and the development of industry by: (i) the display of selected 
objects arranged to illustrate the industrial advance of civilisation and  
the development of inventions and manufactures, (ii) the promotion of 
craftsmanship and artistic taste by illustrating the history and development 
of the applied arts, (iii) lectures, broadcasts, films, publications and  
other educational means, (iv) scientific research, or (v) any other means 
necessary or desirable for the development of the natural resources and 
manufacturing industries of New South Wales.’  

MAAS is governed by a Board of Trustees appointed under the MAAS Act. 
Under the provisions of the Act, the nine Trustees are appointed by the 
Governor, on the recommendation of the Minister, for a term of up to three 
years, and may serve for a maximum of three full terms, excepting if their 
first term was not a full term they may be appointed for a fourth term.  
The Trustees represent the community and oversee the management  
and policy direction of MAAS.  

The Act 3(1) states in part ‘There shall be appointed nine trustees … who, 
subject to the control and direction of the Minister, shall carry into effect 
the objects and purposes of this Act’. 

The Trust met 6 times in person in 2017–18 and held teleconferences as 
required to consider and advise on major procedural and policy matters.  

The Board of Trustees from 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018 comprised:  

• Professor Barney Glover (President) from 3.7.2016  
• Ms Lisa Chung (Deputy President)   
• Mr Robert Cameron AO   
• Ms Elizabeth Crouch   
• Mr Tim Ebbeck   
• Professor Salah Sukkarieh   
• Dr Alex Birrell   
• Janet McDonald AO (until 6.4.2018)  
• Lynne Anderson (until 22.2.2018) 

(For details about the Trustees see Appendix 1.)  

Professor Salah Sukkarieh satisfies the requirement that ‘at least one 
person has knowledge of, or experience in, the arts or sciences’.  

Ms Elizabeth Crouch satisfies the requirement that ‘at least one person  
has knowledge of, or experience in, education.’  

On appointment, Trustees are provided with a comprehensive Trustee 
Handbook, which outlines governance and procedural arrangements,  
and a summary of the Museum’s structure and operations. 

Corporate 
Governance

MAASIVE LATES, AUGUST 2017,  
AT THE POWERHOUSE MUSEUM.  
Photo: Leila Berney
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Trustees are required to complete a Declaration of Pecuniary Interests and 
a Related Party Disclosure Certificate at the commencement of each 
financial year.  

The Board of Trustees has established the Finance Audit and Risk 
Management (FARM) Committee in compliance with the Internal Audit 
and Risk Management Policy for the NSW Public Sector. 

The objective of the FARM Committee is to provide independent 
assistance to the Board by monitoring, reviewing and providing advice 
about MAAS governance processes, risk management and control 
frameworks, and its external accountability obligations. 

The FARM Committee supports and advises the Board on the financial 
position and performance of MAAS, including annual financial statements 
and annual budget.  

The FARM Committee consists of at least three (3) members, and no  
0more than five (5) members¹, appointed by the President of the Board. 
The members should collectively develop, possess and maintain a broad 
range of skills and experience relevant to the operations, governance  
and financial management of MAAS, the environment in which MAAS 
operates and the contribution that the FARM Committee makes to MAAS. 
At least one member of the Committee must have accounting or related 
financial management experience, with an understanding of accounting 
and auditing standards in a public sector environment.  

The FARM Committee is directly responsible and accountable to the 
Board for the exercise of its responsibilities. In carrying out its 
responsibilities, the FARM Committee recognises that primary 
responsibility for management of MAAS rests with the Board.  

The FARM Committee, comprised Elizabeth Crouch (Chair and Trustee), 
Tim Ebbeck (Trustee) and Allan Cook (Independent), met five times during 
the reporting year in addition to holding two extraordinary meetings  
as follows:  

•  19 July 2017: Elizabeth Crouch, Allan Cook 

•  12 September 2017 (extraordinary meeting): Elizabeth Crouch,  
Tim Ebbeck 

•  22 September 2017: Elizabeth Crouch, Allan Cook  

•  27 November 2017: Elizabeth Crouch, Tim Ebbeck, Allan Cook 

•  31 January 2018: Elizabeth Crouch, Tim Ebbeck 

•  3 May 2018: Elizabeth Crouch, Tim Ebbeck, Allan Cook 

•  29 June 2018 (extraordinary meeting): Elizabeth Crouch, Tim Ebbeck, 
Allan Cook 
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I, Professor Barney Glover, am of the opinion that the Museum of Applied 
Arts and Sciences has internal audit and risk management processes in 
operation that are compliant with the eight (8) core requirements set out  
in the Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for the NSW Public 
Sector, specifically:  

Core Requirements  
1.1 The agency head is ultimately responsible and accountable for risk 
management in the agency COMPLIANT  

1.2 A risk management framework that is appropriate to the agency has 
been established and maintained and the framework is consistent with  
AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 Internal Audit Function COMPLIANT 

2.1 An internal audit function has been established and maintained 
COMPLIANT  

2.2 The operation of the internal audit function is consistent with the 
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing 
COMPLIANT  

2.3 The agency has an Internal Audit Charter that is consistent with the 
content of the ‘model charter’ Audit and Risk Committee COMPLIANT  

3.1 An independent Audit and Risk Committee with appropriate expertise 
has been established COMPLIANT 

3.2 The Audit and Risk Committee is an advisory committee providing 
assistance to the agency head on the agency’s governance processes, risk 
management and control frameworks, and its external accountability 
obligations COMPLIANT 

 3.3 The Audit and Risk Committee has a Charter that is consistent with 
the content of the ‘model charter’ Membership COMPLIANT 

The chair and members of the Audit and Risk Committee are: Independent 
Chair, Ms Elizabeth Crouch Term: 11 March 2016 – 31 December 2018; 
Independent Member 1, Tim Ebbeck, Term 27 November 2017 –  
26 November 2019; Independent Member 2, Allan Cook, 31 January 2018 
– 30 January 2020.  

The Head of Governance Planning and Reporting is the Museum’s Chief 
Audit Executive and Chief Risk officer. 

Attestation 
Statement
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The Museum is committed to a risk management culture where risk 
management is seen as integral to the achievement of our strategic 
commitments at all levels and where all employees are alert to risks and 
opportunities. The new MAAS Risk Management Framework and Policy 
was rolled out across the organisation during the reporting year using a 
human-centred design approach to embed risk management at the 
strategic, business and operational level.  

The MAAS Risk Framework and Policy complies with Internal Audit and 
Risk Management Policy for the NSW public sector (TPP 15-03) published 
by Treasury. As required by the policy, the Risk Framework and Policy is 
based on the international risk management standard AS/NZS ISO 
31000:2009 Risk Management — Principles and Guidelines (ISO 31000). 
The Chief Risk Officer regularly reports to the FARM Committee, whose 
overall objective is to provide independent assistance to the Trust in 
fulfilling its responsibilities in relation to financial reporting, risk 
management, compliance and the audit function.  

Risk 
Management

The implementation and maintenance of a sound governance foundation 
for MAAS continues to be a priority for MAAS. MAAS is committed to the 
development of policy and planning frameworks that underpin 
organisational planning and enterprise to improve business operations and 
to ensure MAAS complies with all NSW Government obligations. In line 
with its commitment to move towards a paperless office, MAAS replaced 
its electronic document records management system and adopted HPE 
Content Manager 9 (CM9) with training provided to staff across the 
organisation. 

MAAS continued to strengthen policy development and review with the 
following policies updated and approved in the 2017–18 financial year: 
MAAS Credit Card Policy, MAAS Development Policy, MAAS Fraud and 
Corruption Prevention Policy, MAAS ICT Disaster Policy, MAAS Managing 
Alcohol and Other Drugs in the Workplace Policy. 

Continuous 
Improvement  
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MAAS Organisational Chart
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Year in 
review

The 2017–18 financial year saw MAAS host three major exhibitions:  
The International Exhibition of Sherlock Holmes, which opened in  
May 2017; Future Park, which ran through summer; and Reigning Men: 
Fashion in Menswear, 1715–2015 which opened in May 2018. 

Total Government contributions were lower than the previous year at 
$32,523,000. Capital funding was $2,887,000 lower than the previous year 
mainly due to the Parramatta relocation project being assumed by the 
Department of Planning and Environment (DPE) from 1 July 2017. Capital 
funding for 2017–18 of $3,968,000 included a grant of $1,600,000 from DPE  
to address specific maintenance at the Powerhouse Museum. Recurrent 
funding of $28,555,000 was $2,619,000 lower than the previous year as a 
consequence of the Museum receiving a one off grant of $1,500,000 from 
DPE in 2016–17. The Museum also reprofiled $650,000 of its 2017–18 recurrent 
grant into 2016–17 to address timing issues in relation to expenditure incurred 
on The International Exhibition of Sherlock Holmes which opened in May 2017.  

Onsite visitation rebounded strongly from previous years, with total visitation 
up by 14%. Total paid admissions increased by 25% with the success of Future 
Park being a significant factor. As a consequence, revenue from the sale of 
goods and services increased by 25% to $8,924,000 (2016–17: $7,117,000). 

Employee related expenses increased by $4,104,00 on the prior year to 
$30,283,000 (2016–17: $26,179,000). The major impact upon employee 
related expenses was the settlement of an industrial relations matter, in 
relation to certain casual rates of pay, as a consequence of the Museum’s 
organisational restructure in 2014–15. Back pay plus on-costs in relation to 
this matter totalled $1,782,000. Project related salaries funded from external 
sources accounted for $534,000, whilst redundancy and severance 
payments totalled $644,000. The remaining increase in employee related 
costs related to a 2.5% award increase for all staff, and additional casual 
staffing to support the delivery of exhibitions and programs. 

Other operating expenses increased by $1,072,000 on the prior year to 
$18,670,000 (2016–17: $17,598,000). Major increases were non-employee 
expenses incurred in servicing projects funded from external sources of 
$454,000, and increased electricity costs of $534,000. 

Depreciation and amortisation of $15,645,000 continued at high levels 
which reflected the revision of the useful life of assets at the Museum’s 
Ultimo site as a consequence of the proposed relocation to Parramatta. 
Depreciation was further impacted by the first full year of depreciating the 
completed building works at the refurbished Museums Discovery Centre. 

During the year the Museum commissioned revaluations of land and 
buildings at its three sites, in Ultimo, Millers Point and Castle Hill. The 
Millers Point and Castle Hill sites were revalued during January 2018, and 
the Ultimo site was revalued in May 2018, subsequent to funding being 
provided for the Museum’s relocation to Parramatta in the 2018–19 State 
Budget. As a consequence, the Museum has shown an increase in the value 
of land and buildings of $222,522,000 in its annual financial statements.  

Total cash balances reduced due to the completion of minor capital 
projects through the year for which funding had already been received. 
The payment of the first instalment of back pay in relation to an industrial 
relations matter, also contributed to the reduction in cash. Cash balances 
are expected to remain at low levels in line with NSW Treasury policy.
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STATEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 41C (1B) OF THE PUBLIC FINANCE AND AUDIT ACT, 1983
 
Pursuant to Section 41C(1B) of the Public Finance and Audit Act, 1983 and in accordance with a resolution of the Trustees 
of  the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences we state that:
 
(a) the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance 

and Audit Act 1983, the applicable clauses of the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015, the Treasurer’s Directions 
and relevant Australian Accounting Standards;

(b) the financial statements and notes thereto exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2018 and 
the results of the operations for the year ended on that date;

(c) at the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the financial statements misleading 
or inaccurate.

Professor Barney Glover Andrew Elliott
President Acting Director

Date: 26 September 2018

FINANCIAL  
REPORT

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES STATUTORY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2018



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 

 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament 

Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts 
and Sciences (the Museum), which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year 
ended 30 June 2018, the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2018, the Statement of 
Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and other explanatory information of the Museum and the 
consolidated entity. The consolidated entity comprises the Museum and the entity it controlled at the 
year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 

In my opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Museum and the consolidated entity as 
at 30 June 2018, and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 

• are in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015. 

 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ 
section of my report. 

I am independent of the Museum and the consolidated entity in accordance with the requirements of 
the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards 
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies 
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 

 



 

 

Other Information 
Other information comprises the information included in the annual report of the Museum and the 
consolidated entity for the year ended 30 June 2018, other than the financial statements and my 
Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The Trustees of the Museum are responsible for the other 
information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other information I have received 
comprise the signed Statement in accordance with Section 41C of the PF&A Act. 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Trustees’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements 
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the PF&A Act, and for such internal control as 
the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the ability of the 
Museum and the consolidated entity to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting except where operations will 
be dissolved by an Act of Parliament or otherwise cease. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

  



 

 

Other Information 
Other information comprises the information included in the annual report of the Museum and the 
consolidated entity for the year ended 30 June 2018, other than the financial statements and my 
Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The Trustees of the Museum are responsible for the other 
information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other information I have received 
comprise the signed Statement in accordance with Section 41C of the PF&A Act. 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Trustees’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements 
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the PF&A Act, and for such internal control as 
the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the ability of the 
Museum and the consolidated entity to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting except where operations will 
be dissolved by an Act of Parliament or otherwise cease. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

  

 

 

My opinion does not provide assurance: 

• that the Museum or the consolidated entity carried out their activities effectively, efficiently and 
economically 

• about the assumptions used in formulating the budget figures disclosed in the financial 
statements 

• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 
statements on any website where they may be presented 

• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

 

 

Reiky Jiang 
Director, Financial Audit Services 

 

26 September 2018 
SYDNEY 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Notes

Economic Entity Parent 

Actual
2018

$000

Budget
2018

$000

Actual
2017

$000

Actual
2018

$000

Actual
2017

$000

Expenses excluding losses            

Operating expenses            

Personnel services 2(a) - - - 30,283 26,179

Employee related 2(b) 30,283 26,282 26,179 - - 

Other operating expenses 2(c) 18,670 14,821 17,598 18,670 17,598

Depreciation and amortisation 2(d) 15,645 6,228 14,473 15,645 14,473

Other Expenses 2(e) 32 - 2,790 32 2,790

TOTAL EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES   64,630 47,331 61,040 64,630 61,040

             

Revenue            

Sale of goods and services 3(a) 8,924 7,451 7,117 8,924 7,117 

Investment revenue 3(b) 140 265 139 140 139 

Grants and contributions 3(c) 37,195 35,423 41,943 37,916 42,723 

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee
benefits and other liabilities

3(d) 721 971 780 - -

Other revenue 3(e) 1,749 249 715 1,749 715 

Total Revenue   48,729 44,359 50,694 48,729 50,694

Gain/(Loss) on disposal 4 - - 7 - 7 

Other gains / (losses) 5 115 - (13) 115 (13)

Net result   (15,786) (2,973) (10,352) (15,786) (10,352)

           

Other comprehensive income for the year            

Items that will not be reclassified to net result in  
subsequent periods

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Net increase / (decrease) in property, plant and equipment 
revaluation surplus

222,522 - - 222,522 - 

Total other comprehensive income   222,522 - - 222,522 - 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   206,736 (2,973) (10,352) 206,736 (10,352)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2018

Notes

 Economic Entity Parent

Actual
2018

$000

Budget
2018

$000

Actual
2017

$000

Actual
2018

$000

Actual
2017

$000

ASSETS 

Current Assets            

Cash and cash equivalents 6 2,682 4,604 5,489 2,682 5,489

Receivables 7 1,636 1,372 1,061 1,636 1,061

Inventories 8 228 200 264 228 264

Financial assets at fair value 9 55 - - 55 - 

Total Current Assets   4,601 6,176 6,814 4,601 6,814

           

Non-Current Assets            

Financial assets at fair value 9 3,691 2,547 2,578 3,691 2,578

Property, plant and equipment 11          

Land and buildings   379,484 178,898 171,274 379,484 171,274

Plant and equipment   13,533 6,124 13,141 13,533 13,141

Collection Assets   312,198 313,528 311,525 312,198 311,525

Total Property, plant and equipment   705,215 498,550 495,940 705,215 495,940

Total Non-Current Assets   708,906 501,097 498,518 708,906 498,518

Total Assets   713,507 507,273 505,332 713,507 505,332

           

LIABILITIES            

Current Liabilities            

Payables 13 4,483 3,482 2,995 4,483 2,995

Financial Liabilities at fair value 14 - - 36 - 36

Provisions 15 2,691 2,550 2,706 2,691 2,706

Total Current Liabilities   7,174 6,032 5,737 7,174 5,737

           

Non-Current Liabilities            

Provisions 15 58 - 56 58 56

Total Non-Current Liabilities   58 - 56 58 56

Total Liabilities   7,232 6,032 5,793 7,232 5,793

Net Assets   706,275 501,241 499,539 706,275 499,539

           

EQUITY            

Reserves   386,719 164,197 164,197 386,719 164,197

Accumulated funds   319,556 337,044 335,342 319,556 335,342

Total Equity   706,275 501,241 499,539 706,275 499,539

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2018 

Notes

Economic Entity Parent
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$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance as at 1 July 2017   335,342 164,197 499,539 335,342 164,197 499,539 

Net result for the year   (15,786) - (15,786) (15,786) - (15,786)

Other comprehensive income              

Net change in revaluation surplus of property 
plant and equipment

- 222,522 222,522 - 222,522 222,522 

Total other comprehensive income   - 222,522 222,522 - 222,522 222,522 

Total comprehensive income for the year   (15,786) 222,522 206,736 (15,786) 222,522 206,736 

Balance as at 30 June 2018   319,556 386,719 706,275 319,556 386,719 706,275

Balance as at 1 July 2016   345,694 164,197 509,891 345,694 164,197 509,891

Net result for the year   (10,352) - (10,352) (10,352) - (10,352)

Total other comprehensive income   - - - - - -

Total comprehensive income for the year   (10,352) - (10,352) (10,352) - (10,352)

Balance as at 30 June 2017   335,342 164,197 499,539 335,342 164,197 499,539

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES
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TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Notes 

Economic Entity Parent

Actual
2018

$000

Budget
2018

$000

Actual
2017

$000

Actual
2018

$000

Actual
2017

$000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES            

Payments            

Personnel services   - - - (29,094) (25,929)

Employee related   (29,094) (25,236) (25,929) - -

Other   (15,495) (15,621) (18,435) (15,495) (18,435)

Total Payments   (44,589) (40,857) (44,364) (44,589) (44,364)

Receipts            

Sale of goods and services   8,544 7,451 7,099 8,544 7,099 

Interest received   14 140 13 14 13 

Grants and contributions   32,523 30,923 38,029 32,523 38,029 

Other   3,803 4,649 2,211 3,803 2,211 

Total Receipts   44,884 43,163 47,352 44,884 47,352

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 17 295 2,306 2,988 295 2,988

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES            

Purchases of property, plant and equipment and  
Collection assets

 
 

(2,141) (2,468) (10,178) (2,141) (10,178)

Proceeds from sale of investments   - - 7 - 7

Purchase of investments   (961) - - (961) -

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   (3,102) (2,468) (10,171) (3,102) (10,171)

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS

  (2,807) (162) (7,183) (2,807) (7,183)

Opening cash and cash equivalents 5,489 4,666 12,676 5,489 12,676 

Reclassification of cash equivalents   - 100 (4) - (4)

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 6 2,682 4,604 5,489 2,682 5,489 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2018

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Reporting Entity
 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences (the Museum) is a NSW government entity and is controlled by the State of NSW, 

which is the ultimate parent. The Museum is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective) and it has no cash 
generating units.

 The Museum, as a reporting entity comprises all the entities under its control, namely: the Powerhouse Museum, Sydney 
Observatory, Museums Discovery Centre, Powerhouse Foundation (all comprising the parent entity), and the Museum of Applied 
Arts and Sciences Staff Agency. 

 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency, is an executive agency related to the Museum that was established on 24 
February 2014, by the Administrative Arrangements Order 2014. The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency’s 
objective is to provide personnel services to the Museum.

 In the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the economic entity, consisting of the controlling and 
controlled entities, all inter-entity transactions and balances have been eliminated and like transactions and other events are 
accounted for using uniform accounting policies.

 These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018 have been authorised for issue by the Trustees on 26 September 2018.

(b) Basis of Preparation
 The Museum’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared on an accrual basis in 

accordance with:

 • applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations)
 • the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015 and
 • the Financial Reporting Directions mandated by the Treasurer.

 Property, plant and equipment including collection assets, and financial assets at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ are measured at 
fair value. Other financial statement items are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention. Judgements, key 
assumptions and estimations management has made are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

 All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency.

(c) Statement of Compliance
 The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian Accounting 

Interpretations.

(d) Insurance
 The Museum’s insurance activities are conducted through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme of self-insurance for 

Government entities.  The expense (premium) is determined by the Fund Manager based on past claims experience.

(e) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)
 Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where:

 • the amount of GST incurred by the entity as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is 
recognised as part of the cost of an assets’ cost of acquisition or as part of an item of expense and

 •   receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

 Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. However, the GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office are classified as 
operating cash flows.

(f) Income Recognition
 Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contribution received or receivable. Comments regarding the 

accounting policies for the recognition of income are discussed below.

 (i) Sale of Goods
  Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised as revenue when the Museum transfers the significant risks and rewards of 

ownership of the goods, usually on delivery of the goods.

 (ii) Rendering of Services
  Revenue is recognised when the service is provided or by reference to the stage of completion (based on labour hours 

incurred to date).

 (iii) Investment and Other Revenue
  Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where 
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 

  Rental income from operating leases is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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  Royalty and copyright revenue is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant 
agreement. 

  TCorp Hour Glass distributions and dividend revenue are recognised when the Museum’s right to receive payment has been 
established.

 (iv) Grants and Contributions
  Grants and contributions include donations, and grants from the Department of Planning and Environment. They are 

generally recognised as income when the Museum obtains control over the assets comprising the grants and contributions. 
Control over grants and contributions is normally obtained upon the receipt of cash.

  Contributions are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are recognised when and only when a fair value of 
those services can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.

(g) Property, plant and equipment

 (i) Acquisition of Assets
  Assets acquired are initially recognised at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment. Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration given to acquire 
the asset at the time of its acquisition or construction or, where applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when initially 
recognised in accordance with the requirements of other Australian Accounting Standards.

  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
measurement date.

  Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised at their fair value at the date of acquisition.

  Collection items acquired during the year are recorded at cost, or valuation for donated items, including a processing cost 
incurred in relation to the research and selection, transport, documentation and cataloging, condition assessment and 
conservation treatment required to acquire items into the Museum’s collection, and are recognised as assets. Processing 
costs are dependent on the nature, size, availability in the market and knowledge of the history of the item and consist of 
staff salary and freight costs.

 (ii) Capitalisation thresholds
  Property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 and above individually are capitalised.  Computer related assets costing 

individually $5,000 or less but which form part of a network with a cumulative value in excess of $5,000 are also capitalised.

 (iii) Assets not able to be reliably measured
  The Museum holds a certain asset that has not been recognised in the Statement of Financial Position because the Museum 

is unable to measure reliably the value for that asset and that asset is likely to be material. This asset is the 1785 Boulton and 
Watt steam engine. The steam engine is one of the earliest rotative (wheel turning) steam engines to be built and is the 
oldest in existence. The engine is also one of the few in the world to work regularly under steam. The Boulton and Watt was 
excluded from the last valuation of the Museum’s Collection on the basis that its value was deemed by the independent 
valuers to be unable to be reliably measured due to its unique nature.

 (iv) Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
  Physical non-current assets are valued in accordance with the “Valuation of Physical Non-Current Assets at Fair Value” 

Policy and Guidelines Paper (TPP14-01).  This policy adopts fair value in accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, 
and AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment. 

  Property, plant and equipment is measured at the highest and best use by market participants that is physically possible, 
legally permissible and financially feasible. The highest and best use must be available at a period that is not remote and 
take into account the characteristics of the asset being measured, including any socio-political restrictions imposed by 
government. In most cases, after taking into account these considerations, the highest and best use is the existing use. In 
limited circumstances, the highest and best use may be a feasible alternative use, where there are no restrictions on use or 
where there is a feasible higher restricted alternative use.

  Fair value of property, plant and equipment is based on a market participant’s perspective, using valuation techniques 
(market approach, cost approach, income approach) that maximise relevant observable inputs and minimise unobservable 
inputs. Also refer Note 11 and Note 12 for further information regarding fair value.

   Revaluations shall be made with sufficient regularity to ensure the carrying amount of each asset in the class does not differ 
materially from its fair value at reporting date. The Museum conducts a comprehensive revaluation at least every three years 
for its land and buildings where the market or income approach is the most appropriate valuation technique, and at least 
every five years for other classes of property plant and equipment. The most recent comprehensive valuations were in 
relation to land and buildings. Valuations for the Museum’s Castle Hill and Miller’s Point sites were completed on 31 January 
2018, and the valuation for the Ultimo site was completed on 31 May 2018. The Museum’s Collection was last valued on 30 
April 2015. All valuations were based on an independent assessment.

  Any balances of accumulated depreciation at the revaluation date in respect of those assets are credited to the asset 
accounts to which they relate. The net asset accounts are then increased or decreased by the revaluation increments or 
decrements. Revaluation increments are recognised in other comprehensive income and credited to the revaluation surplus 
in equity. However, to the extent that an increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that class of asset 
previously recognised as an expense in the net result, the increment is recognised immediately as a gain in the net result.

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2018
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  Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as a loss in the net result, except that, to the extent that a credit 
balance exists in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of assets, they are debited directly to the 
revaluation surplus. As a not-for-profit entity, revaluation increments and decrements are offset against one another within a 
class of non-current assets, but not otherwise. Where an asset that has previously been revalued is disposed of, any balance 
remaining in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of that asset is transferred to accumulated funds.

  The Museum mainly owns specialised assets, including heritage assets, such as Museum buildings which are generally 
valued using the current replacement cost. However, if government policy indicates that a specialised asset is to be 
decommissioned and rezoned by Government Property NSW, a revaluation at market value will be obtained for the land and 
buildings (refer Note 12).

  If such specialised assets are not decommissioned by Government Property NSW, such assets remain on the books at 
current replacement cost, until a determination is made on the future of these assets.

 (v) Impairment of property, plant and equipment
  As a not-for-profit entity with no cash generating units, impairment under AASB 136 Impairment of Assets is unlikely to 

arise. As property, plant and equipment is carried at fair value, impairment can only arise in the rare circumstances where 
the costs of disposal are material. Specifically, impairment is unlikely for not-for-profit entities given that AASB 136 modifies 
the recoverable amount test for non-cash generating assets of not-for-profit entities to the higher of fair value less costs of 
disposal and depreciated replacement cost, where depreciated replacement cost is also fair value.

 (vi) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
  Except for certain heritage assets, depreciation is provided for on a straight-line basis for all depreciable assets so as to 

write off the depreciable amount of each asset as it is consumed over its useful life to the Museum.

   All material separately identifiable component assets are depreciated over their useful lives.

  Land is not a depreciable asset.  Certain heritage assets, such as the Museum’s collection items, may not have a limited 
useful life because appropriate curatorial and preservation policies are adopted. Such assets are not subject to depreciation. 
The decision not to recognise depreciation for these assets is reviewed annually.

  Depreciation rates are reviewed each year taking into consideration the condition and estimated useful life of the assets.

  Category: Depreciation Rate for 2017 and 2018:
  Buildings 2.00 – 14.30%
  Buildings — internal services and major components 4.00 – 50.00%
  Plant and equipment 3.33 – 50.00%
  Computer equipment 15.00 – 33.33%
  Motor Vehicles 10.00 – 20.00%
  Exhibitions 5.88 – 50.00%
  Collections 0.00 – 20.00%

 (vii) Restoration costs
  The present value of the expected cost for the restoration or cost of dismantling of an asset after its use is included in the 

cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met.

 (viii) Maintenance
  Day-to-day servicing costs or maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the 

replacement of a component of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated.

(h) Inventories

 Inventories held for distribution are stated at cost, adjusted when applicable, for any loss of service potential. A loss of service 
potential is identified and measured based on the existence of a current replacement cost that is lower than the carrying amount. 
Cost is calculated using the ‘first in first out’ method.

(i) Financial Instruments
 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument 

of another entity.

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit and loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, 
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in net result.

 The Museum determines the classification of its financial assets and liabilities after initial recognition and, when allowed and 
appropriate, re-evaluates this at each financial year end.
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 (i) Financial assets
  Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 

receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, or as derivatives designated as hedging 
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial 
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

  All ‘regular way’ purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way 
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established 
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

  • Loans and receivables
   Trade receivables, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 

market are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment. Changes are recognised in the net result for the year when impaired, 
derecognised or through the amortisation process. 

   Short-term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.

  • Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
   The Museum subsequently measures financial assets classified as ‘held-for-trading’ or designated upon initial 

recognition ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ at fair value. Gains or losses on these assets are recognised in the net 
result for the year. Financial assets are classified as ‘held-for-trading’ if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or 
repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives are also classified as held-for-trading unless they are designated as effective 
hedging instruments under AASB 139.

   The Hour-Glass Investment Facilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss as these financial assets are 
managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management 
strategy, and information about these assets is provided internally on that basis to the Museum’s key management 
personnel.

   The movement in the fair value of the Hour-Glass Investment Facilities incorporates distributions received as well as 
unrealised movements in fair value and is reported in the line item ‘investment revenue’.

  • Impairment of financial assets
   All financial assets, except those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to an annual review for 

impairment. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or 
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows have been 
affected.

   For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, the entity first assesses whether impairment exists 
individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not 
individually significant. Assets are assessed for impairment on a collective basis if they were assessed not to be 
impaired individually.

   For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the allowance is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The 
amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the net result for the year. Any reversals of impairment losses are 
reversed through the net result for the year. Reversals of impairment losses of financial assets carried at amortised cost 
cannot result in a carrying amount that exceeds what the carrying amount would have been had there not been an 
impairment loss.

 (ii) Financial Liabilities
  Financial liabilities are classified as either ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ or ‘at amortised cost’.

  • Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
   Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held-for-trading and financial liabilities 

designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

   Financial liabilities are classified as held-for-trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near 
term. Gains or losses on liabilities held-for-trading are recognised in the net result.

   Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on 
remeasurement recognised in the net result.

  • Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including borrowing and trade payables)
   Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. These are 

subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, with interest expense recognised on an 
effective yield basis.

   Payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Museum and other amounts. Short-term payables 
with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial.

   Finance lease liabilities are determined in accordance with AASB 117.
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 (iii) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
  A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire; or if the 

entity transfers the financial asset:

  • where substantially all the risks and rewards have been transferred; or
  • where the entity has not transferred substantially all the risks and rewards, if the entity has not retained control.

  Where the Museum has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred control, the 
asset continues to be recognised to the extent of the Museum’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the 
Museum also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis 
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Museum has retained.

  A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.

(j) Personnel services and other provisions

 Personnel Services Arrangements
 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency is an Executive Agency wholly controlled by the Museum of Applied Arts 

and Sciences with the objective of providing personnel services to the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences.

 All payments to personnel and in relation to related obligations are made by the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff 
Agency, and are classified as an ‘Employee Related’ cost on consolidation in these financial statements.

(k) Employee benefits

 (i) Salaries and wages, annual leave, and sick leave
  Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits) and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 

months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised and measured at the 
undiscounted amounts of the benefits.

  Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which 
the employees render the related service. As such, it is required to be measured at present value in accordance with AASB 
119 Employee Benefits (although short-cut methods are permitted). Actuarial advice obtained by Treasury has confirmed 
that the use of a nominal approach plus the annual leave on annual leave liability (using 7.9% of the nominal value of annual 
leave) can be used to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability.  The Museum has assessed the actuarial 
advice based on its circumstances and has determined that the effect of discounting is immaterial to annual leave. All annual 
leave is classified as a current liability even where the Museum does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months as the 
Museum does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement.

  Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in the 
future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.

 (ii) Long service leave and superannuation
  The Museum’s liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the Crown Entity. The 

Museum accounts for the liability as having been extinguished, resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the 
non-monetary revenue item described as ‘Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities’.

  Long service leave is measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided 
up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to certain factors based on actuarial review, including expected future wage 
and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted 
using the Commonwealth government bond rate at the reporting date.

  The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the Treasurer’s 
Directions. The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State Super) is calculated as a 
percentage of the employee’s salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State Superannuation Scheme and State 
Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the employees’ superannuation 
contributions.

 (iii) Consequential on-costs
  Consequential costs to employment are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which they 

relate have been recognised. This includes outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance premiums 
and fringe benefits tax.

(l) Provisions
 Provisions are recognised when: the Museum has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event; it is 

probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. 

 Any provisions for restructuring are recognised only when an entity has a detailed formal plan and the entity has raised a valid 
expectation in those affected by the restructuring that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or 
announcing its main features to those affected.
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(m) Fair value hierarchy
 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 

participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the 
asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability or in the absence of a principal 
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

 A number of the Museum’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities. When measuring fair value, the valuation technique used maximises the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimises the use of unobservable inputs. Under AASB 13, the Museum categorises, for disclosure purposes, the 
valuation techniques based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows;

 • Level 1 — quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets / liabilities that the Museum can access at the 
measurement date.

 • Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly.
 • Level 3 — inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

 The Museum recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which the 
change has occurred. Refer Note 12 and Note 18 for further disclosures regarding fair value measurements of financial and non-
financial assets.

(n) Equity and Reserves

 (i) Revaluation Surplus
  The revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets. This accords 

with the Museum’s policy on the revaluation of property, plant and equipment (refer Note 1(g)(iv)).

 (ii) Accumulated Funds
  The category ‘Accumulated Funds’ includes all current and prior period retained funds.

(o) Conditions on contributions
 The Museum receives funds of which the expenditure is restricted by the conditions under which the donation or bequest is 

made.  These funds are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are received.

(p) Non-Monetary Assistance
 The Museum receives assistance and contributions from third parties by way of the provision of volunteer labour, donations and 

bequests to the collection and the provision of goods and services free of charge.  Non-Monetary contributions are recognised at 
their fair value.  Contributions of services are to be recognised when and only when a fair value of those services can be reliably 
determined and the services would be purchased if not donated (refer Note 1(f)(iv)).

(q) Taxation Status
 The activities of the Museum are exempt from income tax. The Museum is registered for GST purposes and has gift deductible 

recipient status.

(r) Trustees Benefits
 No Trustee of the Museum has entered into a material contract with the Museum since the end of the previous financial period 

and there are no material contracts involving Trustee’s interests existing at the end of the period.

(s) Budgeted Amounts
 The budgeted amounts are drawn from the original budgeted financial statements presented to Parliament in respect of the 

reporting period. Subsequent amendments to the original budget (eg. adjustment for transfer of functions between entities as a 
result of Administrative Arrangements Orders) are not reflected in the budgeted amounts. Major variances between the original 
budgeted amounts and the actual amounts disclosed in the financial statements are explained in Note 16.

(t) Comparative information
 Except when an Australian Accounting Standard permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is presented in respect of 

the previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements.

(u) Changes in accounting policy, including new or revised Australian Accounting Standards

 (i) Effective for the first time in 2017/18
  The accounting policies applied in 2017-18 are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as a result of the 

following new or revised Australian Accounting Standards that have been applied for the first time in 2017-18:-

  • AASB 2016-2 regarding disclosures relating to AASB 107, which is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2017.

  • AASB 2016-4 regarding the Recoverable Amount of Non-Cash-Generating Specialised Assets of Not-for-Profit Entities, 
which is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

  The Museum has assessed the impact of these new standards and considers the impact to be insignificant.
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 (ii) Issued but not yet effective
  NSW public sector entities are not permitted to early adopt new Australian Accounting Standards, unless Treasury 

determines otherwise.

  The following new Australian Accounting Standards have not been applied and are not yet effective as specified in 
NSWTC18-01. 

  • AASB 9 regarding Financial Instruments, which are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2018.

  • AASB 15, AASB 2014-5 and AASB 2016-3 regarding Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which are applicable to 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

  • AASB 2015-8 regarding Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which is applicable to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

  • AASB 16 regarding Leases, which is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
  • AASB 1058 regarding Income for Not-for-profit entities, which is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2019.
  • AASB 2016-7 regarding the Deferral of AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit Entities, which is applicable to annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
  • AASB 2016-8 regarding Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities, which is applicable to annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

  The Museum has assessed the impact of these new standards and interpretations and considers the impact to be 
insignificant except for the following observations;

  • AASB 1058 dictates that volunteer services be accounted for as a revenue and expense. The Museum currently only 
makes note disclosure of the fair value of volunteer services.

  • AASB 1058 and AASB 2016-8 dictates that revenue received from a grant which generates a performance obligation 
shall be recognised as the performance obligation is met, rather than upon receipt of the grant funding.
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Economic Entity Parent

 2018
$000

2017
$000

2018
$000

 2017
$000

2. EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES  

(a) Personnel Services Expenses        

  Salaries and wages (Including Recreation Leave) - - 25,487 22,017 

  Voluntary Redundancy Program - - 432 25 

  Superannuation — Defined benefit plans - - 337 360 

  Superannuation — Defined contribution plans - - 2,101 1,829 

  Long Service Leave and Oncosts - - 382 367 

  Workers compensation insurance - - 170 224 

  Payroll tax - - 1,365 1,355 

  Other payroll and fringe benefit taxes - - 9 2 

    - - 30,283 26,179 

(b) Employee related expenses        

  Salaries and wages (Including Recreation Leave) 25,487 22,017 - - 

  Voluntary Redundancy Program 432 25 - - 

  Superannuation — Defined benefit plans 337 360 - - 

  Superannuation — Defined contribution plans 2,101 1,829 - - 

  Long Service Leave and Oncosts 382 367 - - 

  Workers compensation insurance 170 224 - - 

  Payroll tax 1,365 1,355 - - 

  Other payroll and fringe benefit taxes 9 2 - - 

    30,283 26,179 - - 

  Increased employee related expenses include back pay relating to an industrial relations matter ($1,782,000), redundancy 
payments ($432,000), Parramatta relocation project salaries funded by the Department of Planning and Environment ($472,000), 
and other externally funded salaries ($62,000).

In addition, employee related expenses have been incurred on capital projects, including $138,000 (2017:  $48,000) for processing 
costs in accessioning additions to the collection (refer notes 1(g)(i) and 11). Non-cash contributions of $879,000 (2017: $757,000) 
were also received.

(c) Other Operating Expenses        

  Advertising and publicity 2,777 3,382 2,777 3,382

  Auditor’s remuneration        

  – audit of Financial Statements 96 87 96 87 

  – other audit fees 82 - 82 - 

  Cleaning and laundry 1,005 899 1,005 899 

  Computer software 531 376 531 376

  Consumables 1,169 395 1,169 395 

  Exhibition fit-out 1,787 893 1,787 893 

  Exhibition hire 499 1,411 499 1,411 

  Fees — contract services 3,364 4,102 3,364 4,102 

  Freight, cartage and handling 1,168            916         1,168            916 

  Insurance            338            383            338            383 

  Maintenance         1,903         2,037         1,903         2,037 

  Operating lease rental payments — minimum lease payments              10              12              10              12 

  Power and water supplies         1,929         1,493         1,929         1,493 

  Printing and publications            443            414            443            414 

  Travel and accommodation            299            372            299            372 

  Other expenditure         1,270            426         1,270            426 

  18,670 17,598 18,670 17,598 
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2018
$000

2017
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

Reconciliation — total maintenance        

 
 

Maintenance expenses — contracted labour and other
(non-employee related), as above

1,903 2,037 1,903 2,037 

  Personnel services maintenance expense included in Note 2(a)                 -                 -            951         1,019 

  Employee related maintenance expense included in Note 2(b)            951         1,019                 -                 - 

  Total maintenance expenses included in Note 2(a), 2(b) & 2(c) 2,854 3,056 2,854 3,056

           

(d) Depreciation and Amortisation Expense        

  Buildings       12,740       13,056       12,740       13,056

  Plant & equipment         2,890 1,394         2,890 1,394

  Collections              15              23              15              23 

    15,645 14,473 15,645 14,473

  Increased depreciation charges relate to the first full year of depreciation charged on new storage facilities at Castle Hill. All 
assets at Ultimo had their useful lives reassessed due to the confirmation of the Powerhouse Museum’s impending relocation to 
Parramatta. 

(e) Other Expenses        

  Collection Relocation Expenses                 -         2,264                 -         2,264 

  Parramatta Relocation Expenses              32            526              32            526 

                 32         2,790              32         2,790 

 3. REVENUE

(a) Sale of goods and services        

  Sale of goods        

  Shops 790 971 790 971

  Publications 50 26 50 26

    840 997 840 997

  Rendering of Services        

  Admissions 5,521 4,708 5,521 4,708

  Members organisation 736 414 736 414

  Leased operations 363 196 363 196

  Venue hire and catering 1,464 751 1,464 751

  Fees for staff services                 - 51                 - 51

    8,084 6,120 8,084 6,120

    8,924 7,117 8,924 7,117

  Increased admissions revenue relates to strong general admissions growth at the Powerhouse Museum. The Future Park 
exhibition also contributed $1,990,000 in admission fees and $441,000 in memberships revenue. Venue Hire revenue relates 
mainly to arrangements with UTS. 

(b) Investment Income        

  TCorp Hourglass investment facilities 127 127 127 127

  Dividend income 13 12 13 12

    140 139 140 139
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2018
$000

2017
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

(c) Grants and contributions        

  From NSW Department of Planning and Environment:        

  Recurrent Grants 28,555 31,174 28,555 31,174

  Capital Grants 3,968 6,855 3,968 6,855

  Total grants from Department of Planning and Environment 32,523 38,029 32,523 38,029

  The recurrent grant for 2018 was comprised solely of the grant as per the State Budget for 2017/18. Recurrent grants for 2017 of 
$31,174,000 was comprised of (recurrent grant per budget $29,674,000 plus $1,500,000 from the Department of Planning and 
Environment in relation to the Museum’s cash management position).

Capital grants of $3,968,000 for 2018 include $2,368,000 for minor works plus $1,600,000 from the Department of Planning and 
Environment for critical maintenance at the Powerhouse Museum (2017: $1,868,000 for minor works; $1,148,000 for Shared 
Storage and access; $2,859,000 for the Parramatta Relocation).

Unspent Capital Grants are included in Cash at Bank and comprise of the $1,600,000 funding received from the Department of 
Planning and Environment in June 2018. 

  Personnel services benefits and liabilities provided free of charge by 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency:

       

  Superannuation — defined benefit                 -                 - 337            360 

  Long service leave                 -                 - 366            400 

  Payroll taxes                 -                 - 18              20 

                    -                 - 721 780

           

  From other institutions and individuals:        

  Grants — Other            499              91            499              91 

  Bequests            839              93            839              93 

  Public Donations            190            200            190            200 

  Industry donations and contributions            799            833            799            833 

  Collection Donations — in kind            253            293            253            293 

  Other Donations — in kind         2,092         2,404         2,092         2,404 

  4,672 3,914 4,672 3,914 

    37,195 41,943 37,916 42,723 

 (d) Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits  
and other liabilities

       

  Superannuation — defined benefit            337            360                 -                 - 

  Long service leave            366            400                 -                 - 

  Payroll tax              18              20                 -                 - 

    721 780                 -                 - 

           

(e) Other revenue        

  Rental and Other income         1,749            715         1,749            715 

    1,749 715 1,749 715 

 4. GAINS / (LOSSES) ON SALE OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

  Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment                 -                7                 -                7 

  Written down value of assets disposed                 -                 -                 -                 - 

                    -                7                 -                7 
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$000

2017
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

5. OTHER GAINS / (LOSSES)

  Realized Foreign Exchange gains/ losses from forward contracts 91 (13) 91 (13)

  Increase/ (Decrease) in value of Shares              24                 -              24                 - 

    115 (13) 115 (13)

 6. CURRENT ASSETS — CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

  Cash at bank and on hand 2,682 5,489 2,682 5,489

    2,682 5,489 2,682 5,489

7. CURRENT ASSETS — RECEIVABLES

  Sale of goods and services 905 500 905 500 

  Less: Allowance for impairment (34) (34) (34) (34)

  Other debtors 228 268 228 268 

  Prepayments 537 327 537 327 

  1,636 1,061 1,636 1,061 

           

  Movement in the allowance for impairment:        

  Balance at 1 July              34              49              34             49 

  Amounts written off during the year                 -                 -                 -                 - 

  Receipts against prior impairment provisions  - (15)  - (15)

  Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in profit and loss                 -                 -                 -                 - 

  Balance at 30 June              34              34              34              34 

  Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including financial assets that are either past due or impaired, are 
disclosed in Note 18.

8. CURRENT ASSETS — INVENTORY 

  Held for resale        

  Finished goods at cost               228 264            228 264 

                  228             264            228            264 

9. CURRENT / NON-CURRENT ASSETS — FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

  Derivatives — Current                 55                  - 55                 - 

  TCorp Hour-Glass investment facilities (Medium Term Growth)            3,386 2,297         3,386 2,297 

  Shares 305 281 305 281 

    3,746 2,578 3,746 2,578 

  Refer to Note 18 for further information regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising from financial instruments. 
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$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

 10. RESTRICTED ASSETS

 
Included in investments are funds donated or bequeathed to the Museum for specific purposes.  They are made up of amounts 
that are expendable at any time in the future by the Trustees in accordance with the donation or bequest. 

           

  Restricted Bequests 1,930 1,162 1,930 1,162

Land and 
Buildings

$000

Plant and 
Equipment

$000

Collection 
Assets

$000

 
Total
$000

11. NON-CURRENT ASSETS — PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

  2018 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)        

  At 1 July 2017 — fair value        

  Gross carrying amount        304,912        55,947     311,598     672,457 

  Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment (133,638) (42,806) (73) (176,517)

  Net carrying amount        171,274        13,141     311,525     495,940 

           

  At 30 June 2018 — fair value        

  Gross carrying amount        561,559        59,241     312,287     933,087 

  Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment (182,075) (45,708) (89) (227,872)

  Net carrying amount        379,484        13,533     312,198     705,215 

 

Collection items acquired free of charge during the year have been valued, where values can be reasonably determined, at 
$253,000 (2017: $293,000). This amount has been treated as additions under collection at valuation.  Further details regarding the 
fair value measurement of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in Note 12. 

  Reconciliation        

 
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of each reporting 
period are set out below.

  For the year ended 30 June 2018  

  Net carrying amount at start of year 171,274 13,141 311,525 495,940 

  Transfers (Reallocation of WIP) (3,092) 3,092                  -                 - 

  Additions 1,520 190 688 2,398 

  Disposals                  -                  -                  -                 - 

  Net revaluation increment less revaluation decrement      222,522                  -                  -     222,522 

  Depreciation Expense (12,740) (2,890) (15) (15,645)

  Net carrying amount at end of year 379,484 13,533 312,198 705,215

 

The useful lives of buildings and associated plant and equipment at the Museum’s Ultimo site had been reassessed effective from  
1 July 2015 as a consequence of the Museum’s relocation to Parramatta. An additional annual depreciation charge of $9,077,000 had 
been incurred commencing from the year ended 30 June 2016, and for each subsequent year until the year ended 30 June 2022. 

The Premier’s April 2018 announcement of the final details of the Museum’s relocation to Parramatta, has resulted in management 
conducting a revaluation of the Ultimo site (refer Note 12), and reassessing the useful life of all assets associated with the Ultimo 
site, thus impacting the future annual depreciation charge. 
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Land and 
Buildings

$000

Plant and 
Equipment

$000

Collection 
Assets

$000

 
Total
$000

  2017 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)        

  At 1 July 2016 — fair value        

  Gross carrying amount      304,193        46,831      311,041     662,065 

  Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment (120,663) (41,412) (51) (162,126)

  Net carrying amount      183,530          5,419      310,990     499,939 

           

  At 30 June 2017 — fair value        

  Gross carrying amount      304,912        55,947      311,598     672,457 

  Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment (133,638) (42,806) (73) (176,517)

  Net carrying amount      171,274        13,141      311,525     495,940 

           

  Reconciliation        

  Year ended 30 June 2017  

  Net carrying amount at start of year      183,530          5,419      310,990     499,939 

  Additions 800 9,116 558 10,474

  Disposals                  -                  -                  -                 - 

  Net revaluation increment less revaluation decrement                  -                  -                  -                 - 

  Depreciation Expense (13,056) (1,394) (23) (14,473)

  Net carrying amount at end of year 171,274 13,141 311,525 495,940

12. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Total Fair
Value
$000

 (a) Fair value hierachy        

  2018 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)        

  Property, plant and equipment (Note 11)        

  Land and Buildings                 - 339,630       39,854 379,484 

  Collection Assets                 -     280,501 31,697 312,198 

                    - 620,131 71,551 691,682 

           

  2017 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)        

  Property, plant and equipment (Note 11)        

  Land and Buildings                 - 131,420       39,854 171,274 

  Collection Assets                 -     280,501 31,024 311,525 

                    - 411,921 70,878 482,799 

(b) Valuation techniques, inputs and processes

 Fair value of the Museum’s main Property, plant and equipment assets is estimated based on appraisals performed by 
independent, professionally qualified valuers. Land assets are valued using the market approach. Buildings and associated plant 
are valued using the depreciated replacement cost approach. Certain collection assets such as coins, philately, jewellery, books 
and furniture that have observable market prices are valued using the market approach. Other collection assets are valued using 
the cost approach via a reproduction or recollection cost. Revaluations of land and buildings were conducted for the Museum’s 
Castle Hill and Miller’s Point sites on 31 January 2018. A revaluation for land and buildings at the Museum’s Ultimo site was 
conducted on 31 May 2018. The last revaluation of Collection assets was undertaken on 30 April 2015.
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 On 28 April 2018, the Premier formally announced final details of the relocation of the Powerhouse Museum, from Ultimo to 
Parramatta. Funding for the relocation project was subsequently included in the NSW Government State Budget for 2018/19. An 
aspect of the relocation project is the re-purposing of the Ultimo site. A final decision on the future use of the site is expected by 
the end of 2018.

 Based upon Government’s decision to relocate the Powerhouse Museum, management considers that the existing use of the land 
and buildings at Ultimo, is no longer highest and best use. As a consequence, management engaged independent valuers to value 
the site on the basis of highest and best use, taking into consideration existing zoning and heritage restrictions, but removing the 
current restriction of the site being a museum.

 The valuation was predicated upon the Museum maintaining occupancy of the site until the 2021/22 financial year, with an 
appropriate discount factor applied. Management has also considered the ongoing use of the site over this period and adopted a 
value for buildings based upon a revised useful life of said buildings extinguishing by 30 June 2022.

 The valuation of collection assets involves the use of sampling techniques by professional statisticians. All assets regarded as 
highly significant or of high value are individually valued, with other assets valued by category of item using appropriately sized 
samples to determine the overall value of the relevant category. Categories vary from having observable established active 
markets to an absence of an active market, and unobservable inputs such as the provenance of an item has a significant impact on 
its value.

 

 
 

Land and
Buildings

$’000

Collection
Assets
$’000

Total 
Recurring

Level 3
Fair Value

$’000

 (c) Reconciliation of recurring Level 3 fair value measurements      

  2018 Economic entity (Including parent at same values)      

  Fair value as at July 2017       39,854 31,024 70,878 

  Additions                 -            688            688 

  Depreciation                 - (15) (15)

  Fair value as at June 2018 39,854 31,697 71,551 

  2017 Economic entity (Including parent at same values)

  Fair value as at July 2016       39,854 30,489 70,343 

  Additions                 - 557 557 

  Depreciation                 - (22) (22)

  Fair value as at June 2017       39,854 31,024 70,878 

Economic Entity Parent

2018
$000

2017
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

13. CURRENT / NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — PAYABLES

  Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs                869              90                 -                 - 

  Accrued personnel services expenses                     -                 -         1,004            240 

  Trade Creditors                702            873            702            873 

  Accruals             2,059         1,526         1,924         1,376 

  Income paid in advance                853            506            853            506 

                4,483         2,995         4,483         2,995 

  Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs includes $793,000 in remaining back-pay owing with regards to an industrial relations 
matter.

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including maturity analysis of the above payables are disclosed in Note 18. 
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Economic Entity Parent

2018
$000

2017
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

14. CURRENT / NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE 

  Derivative Liability — Current                     -              36                 -              36 

                        -              36                 -              36 

Details regarding market risk, including currency risk, are disclosed in Note 18. 

15. CURRENT / NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — PROVISIONS

  Employee benefits and related on-costs        

  Annual leave             1,775         1,796                 -                 - 

  Annual leave on-costs                163            169                 -                 - 

  Payroll tax on annual leave                  92            102                 -                 - 

  Long service leave on-costs                464            424                 -                 - 

  Payroll tax on long service leave                255            271                 -                 - 

                2,749         2,762                 -                 - 

          

  Provisions for personnel services expenses        

  Annual leave                     -                 -         1,775         1,796 

  Annual leave on-costs                     -                 -            163            169 

  Payroll tax on annual leave                     -                 -              92            102 

  Long service leave on-costs                     -                 -            464            424 

  Payroll tax on long service leave                     -                 -            255            271 

                        -                 -         2,749         2,762 

  Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs        

  Provisions — current         2,691         2,706                 -                 - 

  Provisions — non-current              58              56                 -                 - 

  Provisions — personnel services — current                 -                 -         2,691         2,706 

  Provisions — personnel services — non-current                 -                 -              58              56 

  Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs (Note 13)            869              90                 -                 - 

  Accrued personnel services expenses (Note 13)                 -                 -         1,004            240 

            3,618         2,852         3,753         3,002 

  Total current provisions not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date amount to $362,000  (2017: $343,000).

16. BUDGET REVIEW

 The budget process is finalised prior to the beginning of each financial year. Events can arise after that date that necessitates 
variations to the planned activities of the Museum for that year. This in turn may cause variations to the financial activities. Major 
variations between the original budget and actual amounts are outlined below. Note that budget figures shown in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position provide greater detail than budget figures published in the NSW 
Government Budget Papers 2017-18. Museum management is of the opinion that the greater level of detail provides a more 
accurate indication of the Museum’s performance against budget.

 Net Result 
  The actual net result was lower than budget by $12,813,000. The following factors contributed to this result.

 Total Revenue was $4,370,000 higher than budget. Sales of goods and services was $1,473,000 higher than budget. This included 
admission fees $813,000 higher than budget due to strong general admission revenue at the Powerhouse Museum, and the 
success of the Future Park exhibition. Venue hire was $713,000 above budget mainly due to the Museum’s venue hire 
arrangements with the University of Technology, Sydney.
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 Grants and contributions was $1,772,000 higher than budget due to an additional grant of $1,600,000 provided by the 
Department of Planning and Environment to address critical maintenance at the Powerhouse Museum. Other revenue was higher 
than budget by $1,500,000 mainly due to the reimbursement from the Department of Planning and Environment, and NSW 
Treasury, for expenditure incurred in relation to planning for the relocation to Parramatta, and redundancies, respectively.

 Total Expenditure was $17,299,000 higher than budget. The main factor impacting expenditure was accelerated depreciation 
rates being applied to Museum buildings at the Ultimo site. A total of $8,320,000 was charged up to 31 May 2018, when the 
Ultimo site was revalued. Further depreciation charges of $523,000 were incurred as a result of reassessing the useful lives of all 
assets at Ultimo as a part of the revaluation process.

 Employee related expenses was $4,001,000 higher than budget. This amount includes back pays relating to the resolution of an 
industrial relations matter, of $1,782,000 and redundancy payments of $432,000. Additional wages costs incurred in relation to the 
Future Park exhibition totalled $423,0000. Other externally funded salaries and wages totalled $534,000.

 Other operating expenses were $3,849,000 higher than budget, and $1,072,000 higher than the prior year. Major variations 
against budget related to the cost of producing an exhibition and public program offering of a high quality standard, resulting in a 
significant increase in visitation and self- generated revenues. Other costs relating to servicing activities funded by external 
sources totalled $454,000. Electricity costs increased by $436,000.

 Assets and Liabilities
 Current assets are lower than budget due to the depletion of the Museum’s cash reserves. Non-Current assets are higher than 

budget as a result of the revaluation of land and buildings conducted through the year, offset by the accelerated depreciation 
charge at Ultimo. Current Liabilities are higher than budget due to accrued back pay yet to be paid of $793,000. 

 Cash flows
 Net cash from operating activities is $2,011,000 lower than budget. The major factor relates to higher cash outflows relating to 

employee related payments, with the most significant contributor to this variation being the payment of back pay of $1,030,000.

17. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES TO NET RESULT

 Economic Entity  Parent

2018
$000

2017
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

  Net cash used on operating activities 295 2,988 295 2,988 

  Adjustments for items not involving cash        

Depreciation (15,645) (14,473) (15,645) (14,473)

Donations to the collection            253 293            253 293 

Realised and unrealised gains & (losses) 128 130 128 130 

Impairment Allowance                 -                 -                 -                 - 

  Decrease / (increase) in creditors (1,394) 1,296 (1,394) 1,296 

Decrease / (increase) in employee entitlements 13 (305) 13 (305)

  Increase / (decrease) in receivables 365 (274) 365 (274)

  Increase / (decrease) in inventory (36) 105 (36) 105 

Increase / (decrease) in prepayments and other assets 210 (113) 210 (113)

Net gain / (loss) re investments 25 1 25 1 

  Net Result (15,786) (10,352) (15,786) (10,352)

18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 The Museum’s principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from the Museum’s 
operations or are required to finance the Museum’s operations. The Museum does not enter into or trade financial instruments, 
including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

 The Museum’s main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the Museum’s objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are included throughout these 
financial statements.

 The Audit and Risk Committee has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews and 
agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced 
by the Museum, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor risk. Compliance is reviewed by the internal auditors, with reporting 
to the Audit and Risk Committee, on a continuous basis.
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(a) Financial instruments categories

 Financial Assets  Note  Category

Economic Entity

Carrying Amount

Parent

Carrying Amount

2018
$000

2017
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

  Cash and cash 
equivalents

6 N/A 2,682 5,489 2,682 5,489

  Receivables1

 
7
 

Loans and Receivables (at 
amortised cost)

871 466  871 466

  Financial assets at  
fair value

9 At fair value through the profit 
and loss — designated upon 
initial recognition

3,746 2,578 3,746 2,578

Financial Liabilties Note Category

Economic Entity 

Carrying Amount

Parent 

Carrying Amount

2018
$000

2017
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

 
 

Payables2

 
13
 

Financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost

3,378 2,380 3,378 2,380 

Financial liabilities at  
fair value

14 At fair value through the profit 
and loss — designated upon 
initial recognition

                - 36                 - 36 

 Notes
 1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).
 2.  Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).

(b) Credit risk
 Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Museum’s debtors defaulting on their contractual obligations, resulting in a 

financial loss to the Museum. The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the carrying amount of the 
financial assets (net of any allowance for impairment).

 Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Museum, including cash and receivables. No collateral is held by the Museum. 
The Museum has not granted any financial guarantees. Credit risk associated with the Museum’s financial assets, other than 
receivables, is managed through the selection of counterparties and establishment of minimum credit rating standards. 

 Cash
 Cash comprises cash on hand, bank balances with the Westpac Banking Corporation and deposits in TCorp Hour-Glass Cash 

Facilities. Interest is earned on daily bank balances at the weekly average of the 30 day Bank Bill rate adjusted for a management 
fee to Westpac.

 Receivables — Trade debtors
 All trade debtors are recognised as amounts receivable at balance date. Collectability of trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing 

basis. Procedures as established in the Treasurer’s Directions are followed to recover outstanding amounts. Debts which are 
known to be uncollectible are written off. An allowance for impairment is raised when there is objective evidence that the entity 
will not be able to collect all amounts due. This evidence includes past experience, and current and expected changes in 
economic conditions and debtor credit ratings. No interest is earned on trade debtors. Sales are made on 30 day terms.

 The Museum is not materially exposed to concentrations of credit risk to a single trade debtor or group of debtors. Based on  
past experience, debtors that are not past due (2018: $477,000, 2017: $219,000) and less than 60 days past due (2018: $258,000, 
2017: $35,000) are not considered impaired. Together these represent 100% of the total trade debtors (excluding the $34,000 
impairment allowance). There are no debtors which are currently not past due or impaired whose terms have been renegotiated.

 The only financial assets that are past due or impaired are ‘sales of goods and services’ in the receivables category of the 
statement of financial position.
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Total Past due but not impaired1,2 Considered Impaired

Economic
Entity
$000

Parent
$000

Economic
Entity
$000

Parent
$000

Economic
Entity
$000

Parent
$000

  2018 

  < 3 months overdue 160 160 160 160 - -

  3 months – 6 months overdue 22 22 22 22 - -

  > 6 months overdue 230 230 196 196 34 34

  2017 

  < 3 months overdue 16 16 16 16 - -

  3 months – 6 months overdue 19 19 19 19 - -

  > 6 months overdue 175 175 141 141 34 34

 Notes
 1. Each column in the table reports ‘gross receivables’
 2. The ageing analysis excludes statutory receivables, as these are not within the scope of AASB 7 and excludes receivables that are not past due 

and not impaired. Therefore, the ‘total’ will not reconcile to the receivables total recognised in the statement of financial position.

(c) Liquidity risk
 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Museum will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The Museum 

continuously manages risk through monitoring future cash flows and maturities planning to ensure adequate holding of high 
quality liquid assets. The objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility.

 During the current and prior years the Museum did not have any borrowings. The Museum’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed 
insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.

 The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced. 
Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in NSW TC 11/12. For small 
business suppliers, where terms are not specified, payment is made not later than 30 days from date of receipt of correctly 
rendered invoice. For other suppliers, if trade terms are not specified, payment is made no later than the end of the month 
following the month in which an invoice is received. For small business suppliers, where payment is not made within the specified 
time period, simple interest must be paid automatically unless an existing contract specifies otherwise. For payments to other 
suppliers, the Head of an authority (or a person appointed by the Head of an authority) may automatically pay the supplier simple 
interest. No interest was paid on late payments during 2018 (2017: Nil).

 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Museum’s financial liabilities, together with the interest rate exposure.

  Maturity analysis and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities

 
 
 
 
 
 

Economic Entity
(including parent at same values)

$000
Interest Rate Exposure

$000
Maturity Dates

  Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate

Nominal 
Amount1

Fixed  
Interest  

Rate

Variable 
Interest  

Rate

Non-interest 
bearing < 1 yr 1–5 yrs > 5 yrs

  2018                

  Payables n/a 3,378 - - 3,378 3,378 - -

      3,378 - - 3,378 3,378 - -

  2017                

  Payables n/a 2,380 - - 2,380 2,380 - -

      2,380 - - 2,380 2,380 - -
 
 Notes
   1. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities and therefore may not reconcile to the 

statement of financial position.
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(d) Market risk
 Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

prices. The Museum’s exposures to market risk are primarily through other price risks associated with the movement in the unit 
price of the Hour Glass Investment Facilities.

 The effect on profit and equity due to a reasonably possible change in risk variable is outlined in the information below, for other 
price risk. A reasonably possible change in risk variable has been determined after taking into account the economic environment 
in which the Museum operates and the time frame for the assessment (i.e. until the end of the next annual reporting period). The 
sensitivity analysis is based on risk exposures in existence at the statement of financial position date. The analysis is performed on 
the same basis as for 2017. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. 

 Other price risk – TCorp Hour-Glass facilities
 Exposure to ‘other price risk’ primarily arises through the investment in the TCorp Hour-Glass Investment Facilities, which are held 

for strategic rather than trading purposes. The Museum has no direct equity investments. The Museum holds units in the 
following Hour-Glass investment trusts:

  Economic Entity (including parent at same values) 

 
  Facility Investment Sectors Investment 

Horizon
2018

$000
2017

$000

 
 
 

Meduim-term growth facility Cash, money market instruments, 
Australian and international bonds, 
listed property and Australian shares

 
3 to 7 years
 

 
           3,386 

 

 
           2,297 

 

 
 The unit price of each facility is equal to the total fair value of the net assets held by the facility divided by the number of units on 

issue for that facility. Unit prices are calculated and published daily.

 NSW TCorp as trustee for each of the above facilities is required to act in the best interest of the unit-holders and to administer 
the trusts in accordance with the trust deeds. As trustee, TCorp has appointed external managers to manage the performance 
and risks of each facility in accordance with a mandate agreed by the parties. TCorp has also leveraged off internal expertise to 
manage certain fixed income assets for the Hour-Glass facilities. A significant portion of the administration of the facilities is 
outsourced to an external custodian. 

 Investment in the Hour-Glass facilities limits the Museum’s exposure to risk, as it allows diversification across a pool of funds with 
different investment horizons and a mix of investments.

 NSW TCorp provides sensitivity analysis information for each of the investment facilities, using historically based volatility 
information collected over a ten year period, quoted at two standard deviations (i.e. 95% probability). The TCorp Hour-Glass 
Investment facilities are designated at fair value through profit and loss and therefore any change in unit price impacts directly on 
profit (rather than equity). A reasonably possible change is based on the percentage change in unit price (as advised by TCorp) 
multiplied by the redemption value as at 30 June each year for each facility (balance from Hour-Glass Statement).

  Other price risk — Tcorp Hour-Glass facilities 

Economic Entity (including parent at same values) Impact on profit/loss

Facility Change in 
unit price

2018
$000

2017
$000

  Hour-Glass Investment — Medium-term growth facility +/- 7% 237 161 

 Interest rate risk
 The Museum does not hold any interest bearing liabilities. The Museum does not account for any fixed rate financial instruments 

at fair value through profit or loss or as available for sale. Therefore for these financial instruments a change in interest rates would 
not affect profit or loss or equity. A reasonably possible change of +/- 1% is used, consistent with current trends in interest rates. 
The basis will be reviewed annually and amended where there is a structural change in the level of interest rate volatility. The 
Trust’s exposure to interest rate risk is set out below.

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2018



115
MAAS   

Annual Report  
2017–18

Carrying 
Amount

$000

-1% 1%

Profit
$000

Equity
$000

Profit
$000

Equity
$000

  2018

Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

  Financial Assets          

  Cash and cash equivalents 2,682 (27) (27) 27 27 

  Receivables 871                     -                     -                 -                 - 

Other financial assets 3,746                     -                     -                 -                 - 

Financial Liabilities

  Payables 3,378                     -                     -                 -                 - 

Other financial liabilities                  -

  2017          

Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

   Financial Assets          

  Cash and cash equivalents 5,489 (55) (55) 55 55 

  Receivables 466                     -                     -                 -                 - 

  Other financial assets 2,578                     -                     -                 -                 - 

  Financial Liabilities          

  Payables 2,380                     -                     -                 -                 - 

  Other financial liabilities 36                     -                     -                 -                 - 

 Currency risk
 The Museum is currently exposed to currency risk on purchases made in currencies other than Australian Dollars. The Museum 

hedges between 80 and 100 percent of any substantial future foreign currency purchases when contracted. The Museum uses 
forward exchange contracts to hedge its currency risk, as soon as the liability arises, with maturity dates on the same dates as the 
contracted payments. Hedge accounting has not been applied.

  The following table details the forward foreign currency (FC) contracts outstanding as at 30 June 2018.

Outstanding  
Contracts

Average exchange  
rate

Foreign Currency Notional Value Gain/(Loss) on  
FX Contract

2018  2017 
2018

FC000
2017

FC000
2018

$000
2017

$000
2018

$000
2017

$000

  Buy US Dollars                

  < 3 months 0.775                  - 250                  - 339                     - 17                 - 

  3 to 6 months 0.775 0.686 569 231 763 299 38 (13)

                55 (13)

 At 30 June 2018, the aggregate amount of gains/(losses) under forward foreign exchange contracts totalled $55,000 (2017: $36,000).

 The following table details the Museum’s sensitivity to a 10% strengthening or weakening in the Australian Dollar against the US 
Dollar. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and 
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. 

  Foreign Currency Exposure Change in 
AUD

Impact on profit/loss

2018
$000

2017
$000

 
US Dollars

10% -100 -20

  -10% 122 26
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(e) Fair value measurement

 (i) Fair value compared to carrying amount

  Financial instruments are generally recognised at cost, with the exception of the TCorp Hour-Glass facilities which are 
measured at fair value. Except where specified below, the amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in the 
statement of financial position approximates the fair value, because of the short-term nature of the financial instruments.

 (ii) Fair value recognised in the statement of financial position

2018
Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Total
$000

  Financial assets at fair value        

  TCorp Hour Glass investment facilities - 3,386 - 3,386

  Shares 305 - - 305

  Foreign Exchange contracts 55  - -  55 

    360 3,386                  - 3,746

  Financial liabilities at fair value        

  Foreign Exchange contracts                  - - -                  - 

                     -                  -                  -                  - 

2017
Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Total
$000

  Financial assets at fair value        

  TCorp Hour Glass investment facilities - 2,297 - 2,297

  Shares 281 - - 281

    281 2,297                  - 2,578

           

  Financial liabilities at fair value        

  Foreign Exchange contracts (36) - - (36)

    (36)                  -                  - (36)

  The table above for 2018 includes only financial assets, as no financial liabilities were measured at fair value in the statement 
of financial position. There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the periods. The value of the Hour-Glass 
Investments is based on the Museum’s share of the value of the underlying assets of the facility, based on the market value. 
All of the Hour-Glass facilities are valued using ‘redemption’ pricing.

19. NON-CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES

 Assistance and contributions received free of charge from third parties are recorded in the financial statements in relation to 
donations to the collection. Total assistance and contributions received free of charge are detailed below: 

 Donations of collection items are brought to account by creating an asset and crediting non-cash donations (refer notes 3(c), 11 and 18).

 

20. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
Economic Entity Parent

2018
$000

2017
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

(a) Capital Commitments        

  Aggregate capital expenditure contracted for various
refurbishment projects at balance date and not provided for:

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

     Not later than one year              974           1,013              974           1,013 

     Later than one year and not later than 5 years                   -                   -                   -                   - 

  Total (including GST)              974 1,013              974 1,013

 The total commitments above include input tax credits of $89,000 (2017: $92,000) that are expected to be recovered from the 
Australian Taxation Office.
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21. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

 The Trust is unaware of the existence of any contingent liabilities as at balance date (2017: Nil).    

 22. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

 The Museum’s key management personnel compensation are as follows:

 
 

2018 Economic Entity (including parent at same values) 2018
$000

2017
$000

  Short-term employee benefits:    

  Salaries 1,163 1,411

  Termination benefits 165                     - 

  Total remuneration 1,328 1,411

 During the year the Museum entered into transaction’s on arm’s length terms and conditions, with key management personnel, 
their close family members and controlled or jointly controlled entities thereof. The aggregate value of the material transactions 
and related outstanding balances are as follows:

 
 
 

Nature of transaction

2018
$000

2017
$000

Transaction 
Value

Net 
receivable/ 
(payable)

Transaction 
Value

Net  
receivable/ 
(payable)

  Services Received — in Kind                500                     -                     -                     - 

 The above services are recorded as both a revenue and an expense in the Museum’s financial statements. Revenue is included 
under Other donations — in kind (refer note 3(c)), whilst expenditure is included under Advertising and publicity (refer note 2(c)).

 During the year, the entity entered into transactions with other entities that are controlled/jointly controlled/significantly 
influenced by the NSW Government. These transactions in aggregate are a significant portion of the Museum’s rendering of 
services and receiving of services.

23. POST BALANCE DATE EVENTS

 
 No matter, or circumstance, has arisen since the end of the financial year to the date of this report that, has or may significantly 

affect the activities of the Museum, the results of those activities or its state of affairs, in the ensuing, or any subsequent,  
financial year.

END OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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STATEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 41C (1B) OF THE PUBLIC FINANCE AND AUDIT ACT, 1983
 
Pursuant to Section 41C(1B) of the Public Finance and Audit Act, 1983 and in accordance with a resolution of the Trustees 
of  the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences we state that:

(a) the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance 
and Audit Act 1983, the applicable clauses of the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015, the Treasurer’s Directions 
and relevant Australian Accounting Standards;

(b) the financial statements and notes thereto exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2018 and 
the results of the operations for the year ended on that date;

(c) at the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the financial statements misleading 
or inaccurate.

Professor Barney Glover Andrew Elliott
President Acting Director
 
Date: 26 September 2018

FINANCIAL  
REPORT

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES STAFF AGENCY STATUTORY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2018 
 



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency 

 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament 

Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts 
and Sciences Staff Agency (the Staff Agency), which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for the year ended 30 June 2018, the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2018, the 
Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, notes 
comprising a Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and other explanatory information. 

In my opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Staff Agency as at 30 June 2018, and of 
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards 

• are in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015. 

 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ 
section of my report. 

I am independent of the Staff Agency in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards 
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies 
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 

 



 

Other Information 
Other information comprises the information included in the Staff Agency’s annual report for the year 
ended 30 June 2018, other than the financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report 
thereon. The Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences (the Trustees) are responsible for 
the other information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other information I have 
received comprise the signed Statement in accordance with section 41C of the PF&A Act. 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Trustees’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements 
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the PF&A Act, and for such internal control as 
the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Staff Agency’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting except where the Staff Agency will be dissolved by an Act 
of Parliament or otherwise cease operations. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

  



 

Other Information 
Other information comprises the information included in the Staff Agency’s annual report for the year 
ended 30 June 2018, other than the financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report 
thereon. The Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences (the Trustees) are responsible for 
the other information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other information I have 
received comprise the signed Statement in accordance with section 41C of the PF&A Act. 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Trustees’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements 
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the PF&A Act, and for such internal control as 
the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Staff Agency’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting except where the Staff Agency will be dissolved by an Act 
of Parliament or otherwise cease operations. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

  

 

My opinion does not provide assurance: 

• that the Staff Agency carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically 
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 

statements on any website where they may be presented 
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

 

 

Reiky Jiang 
Director, Financial Audit Services 

 

26 September 2018 
SYDNEY 
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 STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
 For the year ended 30 June 2018

Actual
2018

$000

Actual
2017

$000

EXPENSES    

Salaries and Wages 24,007 21,568 

Redundancy Payments 432 25 

Annual Leave 1,761 880 

Long Service Leave 382 367 

Superannuation — Defined Contribution Plans 2,101 1,829 

Superannuation — Defined Benefits Plans 337 360 

Payroll Tax 1,365 1,355 

Fringe Benefits Tax 9 1 

Workers Compensation 170 224 

Total Expenses 30,564 26,609 

    

REVENUE    

Personnel Services 29,843 25,829 

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities 721 780 

Total Revenue 30,564 26,609 

Net Result                      -                      - 

Other Comprehensive Income                      -                      - 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME                      -                      - 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
 As at 30 June 2018

Notes 
Actual

2018
$000 

Actual
2017

$000

ASSETS      

Current Assets      

Receivables 3 3,696 2,946

Total Current Assets   3,696 2,946

       

Non-Current Assets      

Receivables 3 58 56

Total Non-Current Assets   58 56

Total Assets   3,753 3,002

       

LIABILITIES      

Current Liabilities      

Payables 4 1,004 239

Provisions 5 2,691 2,706

Total Current Liabilities   3,696 2,946

       

Non-Current Liabilities      

Provisions 5 58 56

Total Non-Current Liabilities   58 56

Total Liabilities   3,753 3,002

Net Assets   - -

       

EQUITY      

Accumulated funds 6                 -                 - 

Total Equity                   -                 - 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES STAFF AGENCY



124
MAAS   
Annual Report  
2017–18

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Notes
Accumulated Funds 

2018
$000

2017
$000

Balance at 30 June 2017                 -                 -   

Net result for the period                 -                 -   

Total other comprehensive income                 -                 -   

Total comprehensive income for the period                 -                 -   

Balance as at 30 June 2018                 -                 -   

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Notes
Actual

2018
$000

Actual
2017

$000

Net cash flows from operating activities                 -                 -   

Net cash flows from investing activities                -                 -   

Net cash flows from financing activities                 -                 -   

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS                 -                 -   

Opening cash and cash equivalents                 -                 -   

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS                 -                 -   

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Reporting Entity
 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency, is an executive agency related to the Museum that was established on 24 

February 2014, by the Administrative Arrangements Order 2014. The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency’s 
objective is to provide personnel services to the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences. The reporting entity is consolidated as 
part of the Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences.

 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency commenced operations on 24 February 2014, when it assumed 
responsibility for the employees and employee related liabilities of the former employer, the Department of Trade and Investment, 
Regional Infrastructure and Services. The assumed liabilities were recognised on 24 February 2014 together with the offsetting 
receivable representing the related funding due from the former employer.

 These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018 have been authorised for issue by the Trustees on 26 September 2018.

(b) Basis of Preparation
 The entity’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of Australian Accounting Standards which include Australian Accounting Interpretations, the Public Finance and 
Audit Act 1983, the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015, and specific directions issued by the Treasurer.

 Generally, the historical cost basis of accounting has been adopted and the financial statement does not take into account 
changing money values or current valuations. However, certain provisions are measured at fair value (Refer Note 1(g) and 5).

 The accrual basis of accounting has been adopted in the preparation of the financial statements. Management’s judgements, key 
assumptions and estimates are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

 The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that repayment of debts will be met as and 
when they fall due, without any intention or necessity to liquidate assets or otherwise winding up the operations. 

 All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency.

(c) Statement of Compliance
 The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian Accounting 

Interpretations.

 The Museum has adopted all of the new and revised standards and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective from the current annual reporting period. The impact to the 
Museum of the adoption of the new standards and interpretations was insignificant.

(d) Income Recognition
 Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue from the rendering of personnel services 

is recognised when the service is provided and only to the extent that the associated recoverable expenses are recognised.

(e) Receivables
 A receivable is recognised when it is probable that the future cash inflows associated with it will be realised and it has a value that 

can be measured reliably. It is derecognised when the contractual or other rights to future cash flows from it expire or are transferred.

 A receivable is measured initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less 
any allowance for impairment. A short-term receivable with no stated interest rate is measured at the original invoice amount 
where the effect of discounting is immaterial. An invoiced receivable is due for settlement within thirty days of invoicing.

(f) Payables
 Payables include accrued wages, salaries, and related on costs (such as payroll tax, fringe benefits tax and workers’ compensation 

insurance) where there is certainty as to the amount and timing of settlement.

 A payable is recognised when a present obligation arises under a contract or otherwise. It is derecognised when the obligation 
expires or is discharged, cancelled or substituted.

(g) Employee benefits and other provisions

 (i) Salaries and wages, annual leave, sick leave and on-costs
  Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits), annual leave and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled 

wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised and measured 
at the undiscounted amounts of the benefits.

  Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which 
the employees render the related service. As such it is required to be measured at present value in accordance with AASB 
119 Employee Benefits (although short-cut methods are permitted). Actuarial advice obtained by Treasury has confirmed 
that the use of a nominal approach plus the annual leave on annual leave liability (using 7.9% of the nominal value of annual 
leave) can be used to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability. The entity has accordingly adjusted annual 
leave balances to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability.

  Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in the 
future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.
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 (ii) Long service leave and superannuation
  The entity’s liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the Crown Entity. The entity 

accounts for the liability as having been extinguished, resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the non-
monetary revenue item described as ‘Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities.

  Long service leave is measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits. This is based on the 
application of certain factors (specified in NSWTC 15/09) to employees with five or more years of service, using current 
rates of pay. These factors were determined based on an actuarial review to approximate present value.

  The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the Treasurer’s 
Directions. The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State Super) is calculated as a 
percentage of the employees’ salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State Superannuation Scheme and State 
Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the employees’ superannuation 
contributions.

 (iii) Consequential on-costs
  Consequential on-costs to employment are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which 

they relate have been recognised. This includes outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance 
premiums and fringe benefit tax.

(h) Comparative Information
 Except when an Australian Accounting Standard permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is presented in respect of 

the previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements.

(i) Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective
 The entity did not early adopt any new accounting standards and interpretations that are not yet effective. The entity has 

assessed the impact of all new standards and interpretations and considers that no standard that is significant to the entity has 
been published.
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2018
$000

2017
$000

2. ACCEPTANCE BY THE CROWN ENTITY OF EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

  Superannuation — Defined benefit plans 337 360 

  Long service leave 366 400 

  Payroll tax 18 20 

    721 780 

3. RECEIVABLES

  Current    

  Receivables from the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 3,696 2,946 

    3,696 2,946 

  Non-current    

  Receivables from the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 58 56 

    58 56 

4. PAYABLES 

  Current    

  Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 869 90 

  Payroll tax and fringe benefits tax payable 135 151 

    1,004 240 

5. CURRENT /  NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — PROVISIONS 

  Employee benefits and related on-costs    

Annual leave         1,775 1,796 

Annual leave on-costs            163            169 

Payroll tax on annual leave              92            102 

Long service leave on-costs 464 424 

  Payroll tax on long service leave 255 271 

    2,749 2,762

  Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs    

  Provisions — current 2,691 2,706 

  Provisions — non current 58 56 

  Accured salaries, wages and on-costs (Note 4) 869 90 

    3,618 2,852 

Total current provisions not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date amount to $362,000 (2017: $343,000).

6. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

 No capital, lease or other expenditure commitments existed at the balance sheet date (2017: Nil).

7. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

 The Trust Is unaware of the existence of any contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date (2017: Nil).
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8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 The entity’s principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from the entity’s 
operations or are required to finance the entity’s operations. The entity does not enter into or trade financial instruments, 
including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes. 

 The entity’s main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the entity’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are included throughout these 
financial statements.

 The Audit and Risk Committee has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews and 
agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced 
by the entity, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor risk. Compliance is reviewed by the internal auditors, with reporting to 
the Audit and Risk Committee, on a continuous basis.

(a) Financial instruments categories 

Financial Assets Note Category
Carrying Amount

2018
$000

2017
$000

Receivables1 3 Loans and Receivables (at amortised cost) 3,753 3,002

           

Financial Liabilties Note Category
Carrying Amount

2018
$000

2017
$000

Payables2 4 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 869 90 

 Notes
 1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).
 2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).

(b) Credit risk

 Credit risk arises when there is the possibility that the counterparty will default on their contractual obligations, resulting in a 
financial loss to the entity. The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the carrying amount of the financial 
assets (net of any allowance for impairment).

 Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the entity. No collateral is held by the entity. The entity has not granted any financial 
guarantees. 

 Receivables 
As at 30 June 2018, the entity had debtors of $3.753 million which represent personnel services receivable from the Trust.

(c) Liquidity risk

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the entity will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The entity’s exposure to 
liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.

 The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced. 
Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in NSW TC 11/12.

 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Museum’s financial liabilities, together with the interest rate exposure.
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  Maturity analysis and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities      

$000
Interest Rate Exposure

$000
Maturity Dates

    Weighted 
Average 
Effective  
Int. Rate

Nominal 
Amount1

Fixed  
Interest  

Rate

Variable 
Interest  

Rate

Non-interest 
bearing < 1 yr 1–5 yrs > 5 yrs

  2018                

  Payables n/a 869 - - 869 869 - -

      869 - - 869 869 - -

                   

  2017                

  Payables n/a 90 - - 90 90 - -

      90 - - 90 90 - -
 
 Notes
 1. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities and therefore may not reconcile to the 

statement of financial position.

(d) Market risk

 Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. The entity has no exposure to interest rate or foreign currency risk and does not enter into commodity contracts. 

(e) Fair value measurement

 Financial instruments are recognised at cost, the amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in the statement of financial 
position approximates the fair value, because of the short-term nature of many of the financial instruments.

END OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1. BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Professor Barney Glover PhD, MSc, BSc(Hons), DipEd, 
MAICD 
Term: 01.01.15–31.12.17; 01.01.18–31.12.20 
President (from 13.07.16) 
Vice-Chancellor and President, Western Sydney University 
Member, International Education Advisory Board (Study NSW), 
Australian Institute of Police Management, Governance and 
Risk Committee, The Committee for Sydney Executive Board 
Board Member, Australian American Fullbright Commission 
and Educations Services Australia 
Australian Government Representative, University of the South 
Pacific Grants Committee 
Formerly Chair Universities Australia (2015–2017), Vice-
Chancellor Charles Darwin University (2009–2013), Member 
Australian Institute of Police Management, Governance and 
Risk Committee (2014–2016), Board Member Education 
Services Australia (2016–2016), Chair Rare Voices Australia 
(2013–2015), Deputy Vice-Chancellor Research, University of 
Newcastle (2006–2009), Pro Vice-Chancellor & Director 
Research and Development, Curtin University (1997–2006), 
Director Research and Graduate Studies, University of Ballarat 
(1991–1997) 
Meetings; eligible 6, attended 5, leave 1.

Ms Lisa Chung LLB, FAIM, FAICD 
Term: 01.01.17–31.12.19 
Deputy President (from 04.11.15) 
Chairman, Benevolent Society; Urbis Pty Ltd 
Non-executive director, APN Outdoor Gorup Ltd Australian 
Unity, Artspace Visual Arts Centre Limited 
Former Director, Northcott Society and Institute of 
Management NSW/ACT 
Former partner, Maddocks. 
Meetings; eligible 6, attended 4, leave 2.   

Mr Robert Cameron AO, BEMin (Hons), MBA, GradDip 
Geoscience, FAusIMM, FAIM, FAICD 
Term: 11.01.12–31.12.14; 01.01.15–31.12.17; 01.01.18–31.12.20 
Chairman, County International Ltd 
Chairman, Hunter Valley Training Company Ltd 
Chairman, Pacific Smiles Ltd 
Trustee, UNSW Foundation Limited 
Member, UNSW Dean’s Engineering Industrial Steering 
Committee 
Formerly Chairman, Centennial Coal Company Limited 
(Formerly its founder, Managing Director and CEO (1994–
2011), Board Member Maitland Private Hospital, Board 
Member Hunter Valley Grammar School 
Meetings; eligible 6, attended 6, leave 0.

Ms Elizabeth Crouch B Ec FAICD 
Term: 01.01.16–31.12.18 
Deputy Chancellor, Macquarie University 
Director, Macquarie University Hospital 
Director, Optimized International 
Chair, SGS Planning and Economics, Audit and Risk Office of 
Environment and Heritage (NSW), Audit and Risk City of Sydney 
Formerly Non-Executive Director Chandler Macleod (2010–15) 
Chair RailCorp (2010–12) Chief Executive HIA Limited (1997–
2006) 
Meetings; eligible 6, attended 5, leave 1.

Mr Tim Ebbeck BEc, FCPA, MAICD, FAIM 
Term: 11.01.12–31.12.14; 01.01.15–31.12.17; 01.01.18–31.12.20 
CEO ANZ, Automation Anywhere 
Chairman, IXUP 
Non-Executive Director, Nextgen Distribution Pty Ltd 
Non-Executive Director, GeoOp 
Formerly Corporate Advisory Techfront Australia (2016–2017), 
Board Director CPA Australia (2013–2016), Managing Director, 
Oracle Australia and New Zealand (2013–2016), Chief 
Commercial Officer, NBN Co (2012–2013), President and CEO, 
SAP Australia and New Zealand (2008–2012), CFO, Asia 
Pacific of TMP Worldwide; South Pacific Compaq Computers 
(2002–2002) 
Meetings; eligible 6, attended 4, leave 2. 

Professor Salah Sukkarieh 
Term: 13.07.16–31.12.18 
Professor, Robotics and Intelligent Systems, School of 
Aerospace Mechanical and Mechatronic Engineering, 
University of Sydney 
Director, Research and Innovation, Australian Centre for Field 
Robotics 
Fellow, Australian Academy of Technological Sciences and 
Engineering (ATSE) 
Meetings; eligible 6, attended 5, leave 1.

Dr Alex Birrell PhD, BVSc, MBA, AICD 
Term: 01.01.17–31.12.19 
CEO, PAFtec Pty Ltd 
Co-founder of Head Over Heels Pty Ltd 
Former Director of Commercialisation at ATP Innovations 
Former Committee Member of Central Sydney Area Health 
Service Ethics Committee and University of Sydney Ethics 
Committee 
Meetings; eligible 6, attended 3, leave 3.

Ms Lynne Anderson GAICD 
Term: 01.01.17–22.02.18 
Chief Executive, Australian Paralympic Committee 
Board Member, Gold Coast Titans NRL Club and Australian 
International Military Group 
Former Deputy Chair, Parramatta Stadium Trust 
Former Board Member, 2002 Melbourne World Masters 
Games, Sponsorship Australia, Repucom and Camp Quality 
Meetings; eligible 5, attended 2, leave 3.

Mrs Janet McDonald AO 
Term: 01.01.16–06.04.18 
Deputy Chair, South Eastern Sydney Local Health District 
Life Fellow, Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 
Meetings; eligible 5, attended 5, leave 0.

2. PRINCIPAL OFFICERS 

Director 
(until 04.08.18) 
Dolla Merrillees BA, GradDip (Museum Studies) 
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007

Acting Director (from 05.08.18) and  
Director, Corporate Resources, Chief Financial Officer: 
Andrew Elliott B Comm (Accy), CPA, GIA (Cert), MAICD 
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007
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Director, Programs & Engagement: 
Tristan Sharp BA Dip.Ed MA 
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007

Director, Curatorial Collections and Exhibitions: 
Peter Denham MA (Cultural Leadership), BBus, PDip Arts 
(RSA, London), GDip Arts (Art Curatorial Studies), CF  
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007

Director, Development and External Affairs: 
Leann Meiers BA, MAICD 
(until 07.04.18) 
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007

Director, Development and External Affairs: 
Rebekah Waite MBA (Marketing) BBus (Public Relations) BCI 
(Media&Comm) 
(09.04.18 until 11.05.18) 
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 

Director, Development and External Affairs: 
Arani Duggan B.Des 
(14.05.18 until 29.06.18) 
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007

3. LIST OF EXHIBITIONS 

Exhibition and displays that opened during the period 1 July 
2017 to July 2018 were:

Powerhouse Museum

This is a Voice 
12 August 2017 – 28 January 2018 
This exhibition traced the material quality of the voice — its 
form, weight and body — in order to understand and capture 
its complex psychological and physiological origins. The 
exhibition began with the embodied voice, its evolutionary 
and social origins, and ended within the contemporary realm 
of disembodied voices, where machines talk back to us and 
sometimes for us, and voices in our head speak to us.

A People’s Choir: Lawrence English 
11 August 2017 – 28 January 2018 
The sound artist Lawrence English produced a sound 
sculpture titled A People’s Choir in conjunction with the This is 
a Voice exhibition. The sculpture comprised a sound chamber, 
over 150 suspended speakers and MAAS collection objects. 
Visitors were invited to record an aspiration for the immediate 
future creating a large-scale soundscape.

Utterance: Lawrence English 
11 August 2017 – 28 January 2018 
Lawrence English also created a sound installation inspired by 
the many gramophone horns in the MAAS collection. 
Lawrence’s sound and art works draw attention to sounds that 
sit on the edge of our perception. This work, titled Utterance, 
consists of multiple voices speaking in multiple languages.  

Mechanical Time 
November 2017 
This permanent display looks at the Museum’s collection of 
timepieces and sits alongside the Strasburg clock model.

Catalysts and Creators: The 10th Australian Fashion Laureate 
10 November – 18 March 2018 
Established by IMG Fashion in 2007 the Australian Fashion 
Laureate Awards recognise outstanding talent within the 
Australian fashion industry, honouring the creative and 
intellectual achievements of individuals and brands. This 
display reflected the accomplishments of recipients of the 
industry’s highest accolade, the Lifetime Achievement Award 
over the past ten years.

Learn & Play! teamLab Future Park presented by Toyota 
24 November 2017 – 30 April 2018  
Ignite your creative spark in an exciting and fully immersive 
digital universe. Inspire your imagination in an every-changing 
space featuring eight cutting edge installations, and open a 
world of playful possibilities through the adventure of 
exploration.  Visitors will be immersed in a world of art, 
science, magic and metaphor as the artworks evolve through 
their presence and participation.

Koori Art Expressions — Languages Matter 
21 November 2017 – 28 January 2018 
A display of visual arts from students in NSW schools from 
kindergarten to Year 12 that explored the theme — Languages 
Matter. 

This exhibition was presented in association with the Public 
Schools NSW Aboriginal Education and Wellbeing team.

Design Nation 
1 March 2018 – 27 January 2019 
Design Nation, curated by Tim Ross, brings together 
outstanding examples of Australian ingenuity and innovation 
from the MAAS collection. This selection from the mid 1960s 
to the late 1980s casts a spotlight on Australia’s rich 
manufacturing history. Many of these objects are mainstays in 
Aussie households — the Dolphin torch, Staysharp knife and 
Esky — yet we tend to take them for granted.

A brilliant gift: The Barry John Willoughby Bequest 
23 March 
A selection of Australian and European glass on display is part 
of a generous bequest from Barry John Willoughby, a valued 
patron of the Museum. Art was a constant companion in Mr 
Willoughby’s life and he enjoyed visiting galleries and 
museums, attending concerts and collecting paintings, studio 
glass and orchestral scores. In his will Mr Willoughby also left 
funds to enrich our collection.

40 Years of Fabulousness: Sydney Gay and Lesbian Mardi Gras 
14 February 2018 – 17 March 2019  
This display, featuring costumes by Peter Tully and Brenton 
Heath-Kerr, celebrates the 40th anniversary of the Sydney Gay 
and Lesbian Mardi Gras. Since 1978 the annual parade has 
transformed the streets of Sydney into a colourful and lively 
spectacle celebrating the pride, diversity and creativity of the 
LGBTQI* communities.

* lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer and intersex
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Shape 2017 
24 February – 6 May 2018 
A selection of outstanding major projects from the HSC 
Design and Technology, Industrial Technology, and Textiles 
and Design courses

This exhibition is presented in association with NSW 
Education Standards Authority.

Common Good 
1 March – 2 December 2018 
Common Good is a survey of contemporary design from the 
Asia-Pacific region that explores design-led responses to 
social, ethical and environmental challenges by a new 
generation of socially-engaged designers. Diminishing natural 
resources, population pressure and the preservation of our 
cultural heritage are among the issues explored.

Architectural Commission 2018: 4 Periscopes 
1 March 2018 – 2 February 2019 
Emerging Australian architecture studio TRIAS created the 
first annual commission at the Powerhouse Museum which 
was unveiled as part of the 20th Sydney Design Festival. The 
installation, titled Four Periscopes, consists of four towers — 
evocative of Sydney’s skyscrapers — filled with a series of 
periscopic mirrors suspended above the ground, inviting 
visitors to look up inside them, the reflections connecting 
people from one tower to another. 

Toy Trains 
11 March – 15 November 2018 
This display of toy trains from the MAAS collection sits 
alongside Loco No 1.

Student Fashion  
30 March – 8 September 2018 
Student Fashion highlighted the creativity and inspiration 
behind the designs of the top graduates from Sydney’s four 
fashion schools.

May the 4th Weekend display 
5–6 May 2018 
In celebration of the annual ‘May the 4th Be With You’ fan day, 
MAAS and the Walt Disney Company Australia staged an 
Ultimate Fan Weekend which included a display of Star 
Wars-related object from the collection.

The Red Room  
12 May – November 2018 
A display of MAAS collection objects exploring emotional 
attachment to an inanimate object and using skills to repair, 
improve and adapt technology. The display allowed students 
to explore objects on display and create unique poems 
inspired by special objects of their own.

This display is presented in association with Red Room Poetry. 

Annual Appeal 
3 May 2018 – 15 June 2019 
Australia’s first ever payload to the International Space 
Station, the Cuberider1 is an important new addition to the 
Museum’s collection of space technology, an area we continue 
to develop. The device was recently donated to MAAS by 
Sydney start-up Cuberider, with funds donated through the 

2017 MAAS annual appeal covering the transportation costs of 
returning it to Earth

Reigning Men: Fashion in Menswear 1715–2015 
12 May – 14 October 18 
This exhibition explores the history of men’s fashionable dress 
from the 18th century to the present and re-examines the 
all-too-frequent equation of ‘fashion’ with ‘femininity’.

An exhibition from the Los Angeles County Museum of Art.

Australian Men’s Style 
2 May – 14 October 2018 
Exploring aspects of men’s clothing and accessories over the 
past 200 years, this display highlights a selection of objects 
primarily from the MAAS collection to accompany the 
exhibition Reigning Men: Fashion in Menswear, 1715–2015.

Sydney Observatory

Winning Sky Photos: 2017 David Malin Awards 
10 August – 29 October 2017 
This exhibition features the top entries from the David Malin 
Awards astrophotography competition, held annually by the 
Central West Astronomical Society and open to amateur 
astronomers and photographers from around Australia.

National Touring

Winning Sky Photos: 2017 David Malin Awards 
This exhibition features the top entries from the David Malin 
Awards astrophotography competition.

• 6 November 2017 – 14 January 2018 
Ballarat Observatory, Victoria

• 1 February – 25 March 2018 
Gravity Discovery Centre, Western Australia

• 9 April – 3 June 2018 
Warrumbungle Art Space, Coonabarabran, New South Wales

• 13 June – 30 September 2018 
Scienceworks, Victoria

International Touring

Faith, Fashion, Fusion: Muslim Women’s Style in Australia 
This lively and colourful exhibition showcases the work of an 
exciting new generation of Australian clothing brands 
designing stylish clothing for Muslim women, meeting their 
desire to dress fashionably and creatively within the 
requirements of their faith.

• 2 November 2017 – 28 January 2018 
Islamic Arts Museum Malaysia 

• 1–18 March 2018 
Jakarta History Museum

The tour was supported by the Australian Government 
through the Australian High Commission Malaysia, the 
Australian Embassy Jakarta, the Australian ASEAN Council 
and the Australia Indonesia Institute.
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4. LOANS 

MAAS loaned 259 collection objects to 38 institutions in 50 
individual loan arrangements in 2017–2018. The 38 institutions 
were:

Art Gallery of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW

Art Gallery of Western Australia, Perth, WA

Arts Centre Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC

Australian Aviation Museum, Bankstown Inc., Bankstown, NSW

Australian Centre for the Moving Image, Melbourne, VIC

Australian National Maritime Museum, Sydney, NSW

Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation 
(ANSTO), Lucas Heights, NSW

Biennale of Sydney, Sydney, NSW

Broken Hill City Council, Broken Hill, NSW

Canberra Museum and Gallery, Canberra, ACT

Grafton Regional Gallery, Grafton, NSW

Grainger Museum, Parkville, VIC

Heide Museum of Modern Art, Bulleen, VIC

Meadowbank College of TAFE, Meadowbank, NSW

Museum and Art Gallery of the Northern Territory, Darwin, NT

Museum of Democracy at Old Parliament House, Canberra, ACT

Museum of Modern Art, New York, USA

Museum Victoria, Carlton, VIC

Museums & Galleries NSW, Sydney, NSW

National Gallery of Victoria, Melbourne, VIC

National Museum of Australia, Canberra, ACT

National Portrait Gallery, Canberra, ACT

National School of Art, Darlinghurst, NSW

Newcastle Museum, Newcastle, NSW

Reserve Bank of Australia, Sydney, NSW

Sancta Sophia College, Camperdown, NSW

Science Gallery International, Dublin, IR

Sydney Living Museums, Sydney, NSW

Sydney Tramway Museum, Sydney, NSW

TAFE NSW Western Institute, Castle Hill, NSW

The Dowse Art Museum, Lower Hutt, New Zealand

The National Trust of Australia (New South Wales), Sydney, NSW

The Sheep’s Back, Naracoorte, SA

UNSW Galleries, Paddington, NSW

UTS Gallery and UTS Art Collection, Sydney, NSW

TradeCoast Central, Brisbane, QLD

Transport Heritage NSW Ltd, Eveleigh, NSW

Tumbarumba Historical Society Museum, Tumbarumba, NSW

5. ACQUISITIONS

Australian Army coat, wool / metal / cotton, made by Dunlop 
for the Department of Defence, Wagga Wagga, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1966. Gift of Stanley Sainty, 2017. 2017/27/1

Photograph, portrait of Patricia Minchin, silver gelatin print, 
photographed by Harold Cazneaux, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, c. 1931. Purchased with funds from the 
MAAS Foundation, 2017. 2017/28/1

Opera costume, ‘La Bohème’, comprising dress and petticoat, 
womens, Musetta, net / satin / velvet, designed by Catherine 
Martin, worn by Christine Douglas for the 1990 production by 
Baz Luhrmann, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1990. 
Purchased with the assistance of Elizabeth Pakchung, 2017. 
2017/29/1

Opera costume, ‘La Bohème’, dress, womens, Musetta, cotton 
lace / satin / sequins, designed by Catherine Martin, worn by 
Nakajima Akiko for the 1996 production by Baz Luhrmann, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1996. Purchased with 
funds from the MAAS Foundation, 2017. 2017/30/1

Coat, hat and belt, womens, fox fur / leather / synthetic, made 
by Cornelius, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, c.1979. Gift 
of June Lilias Yeomans, 2017. 2017/31/1

Bicycle, ‘MN02 Bonanza’, metal / plastic / rubber, designed by 
Marc Newson, made by Biomega, Copenhagen, Denmark, 
1999. Gift of Alexander Fry, 2017. 2017/32/1

Petticoat, quilted cotton, down-filled, made by McLintock and 
Sons, Barnsley, England, c. 1888. Gift of Rosina Wainwright, 
2017. 2017/33/1

Garment lining, ‘Cheat’s lining’, ink on silk, maker unknown, 
China, late Qing dynasty, c. 1875. Gift of Judith and Ken 
Rutherford, 2017. 2017/34/1

Shoe uppers, pre-decorated and uncut for bound-feet shoes, 
womens, embroidered silk, maker unknown, China, late Qing 
dynasty, c. 1875. Gift of Judith and Ken Rutherford, 2017. 
2017/34/2

Shoe uppers, pre-decorated and uncut for bound feet shoes, 
womens, embroidered silk, maker unknown, China, late Qing 
dynasty, c. 1875. Gift of Judith and Ken Rutherford, 2017. 
2017/34/3

Shoe uppers, pre-decorated and uncut for bound feet shoes, 
womens, embroidered silk, maker unknown, China, late Qing 
dynasty, c. 1875. Gift of Judith and Ken Rutherford, 2017. 
2017/34/4

Shoe uppers, pre-decorated and uncut for bound feet shoes, 
womens, embroidered silk, maker unknown, China, late Qing 
dynasty, c. 1875. Gift of Judith and Ken Rutherford, 2017. 
2017/34/5

Shoe uppers, pre-decorated and uncut for bound feet shoes, 
womens, painted silk / paper, maker unknown, China, late 
Qing dynasty, c. 1875. Gift of Judith and Ken Rutherford, 2017. 
2017/34/6



137
MAAS   

Annual Report  
2017–18

Leg sashes (pair), to be worn with bound feet shoes, womens, 
silk, maker unknown, China, late Qing dynasty, c. 1870. Gift of 
Judith and Ken Rutherford, 2017. 2017/34/7

Leggings (pair), to be worn with bound feet shoes, womens, 
maker unknown, China, late Qing dynasty, c. 1900. Gift of 
Judith and Ken Rutherford, 2017. 2017/34/8

Leggings (pair), to be worn with bound-feet shoes, girls, 
maker unknown, China, late Qing dynasty, c. 1890. Gift of 
Judith and Ken Rutherford, 2017. 2017/34/9

Leg sashes (pair), to be worn with bound feet shoes, womens, 
maker unknown, China, late Qing dynasty, c. 1875. Gift of 
Judith and Ken Rutherford, 2017. 2017/34/10

Buckle for ankles or leggings, womens, silver, maker unknown, 
Qing Dynasty, China. Gift of Judith and Ken Rutherford, 2017. 
2017/34/11

Embedded systems Y2K testing tool, ‘DELTA-T Probe’, plastic/
metal, designed and WPS Business Technology made by 
Embedded Science, UK 1999, owned and used by Graham Nicoll, 
Asset Performance. Gift of Graham Nicoll, 2005. 2017/35/1

Medical device, 3D printed skull implant and model of skull, 
acrylic / metal, designed and made by Anatomics, Melbourne, 
Victoria, Australia, 2016. Gift of Anatomics, 2017. 2017/36/1

Deer Vase, with plinth and base, polyurethane / acrylic / wood 
/ metal, made by Kate Rohde, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia, 
2016. Purchased with funds from the MAAS Foundation, 2017. 
2017/37/1

Wallpaper, ‘Animal’, digital file, designed by Kate Rohde, 
Melbourne, Victoria, Australia, 2016. Purchased with funds 
from the MAAS Foundation, 2017. 2017/38/1

Focal Plane Assembly (1), spare filters (2) and spare detectors 
(2), Signal Preamplifier (1), four channel infra-red detector and 
spare parts and associated electronics, glass / metal / plastic, 
made by Auspace Limited, Canberra, Australian Capital 
Territory, 1996, used by AATSR Exploitation Board at the 
Rutherford Appleton Lab, Chilton, Oxfordshire, England, 
2008-2013. Gift of Australian Civil Space, 2017. 2017/39/1

Outfit, ‘Foundations’ top and ‘Perfectly Hearted’ pants, 
Speakeasy Winter 17 collection, polyester, designed and made 
by sass & bide, Sydney, Australia, 2017. Gift of sass & bide, 
2017. 2017/40/1

Dress, ‘Paper Aeroplanes’, Speakeasy Winter 17 collection, silk 
/ cotton / polyester / glass, designed by sass & bide, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, made in China, 2017. Gift of sass 
& bide, 2017. 2017/40/2

Dress, ‘Delicate sparkle’, Speakeasy Winter 17 collection, silk / 
elastane / polyester, designed by sass & bide, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, made in China, 2017. Gift of sass & 
bide, 2017. 2017/40/3

Accessories (6), jewellery boxes (2) and brochures (2), 
designed by sass & bide, Speakeasy Winter 17 collection, 
metal / leather / cotton / paper, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2017. Gift of sass & bide, 2017. 2017/40/4

Meccano model, Alston windmill with water tank and tank 
stand, metal / timber, made from pieces of Meccano 
manufactured by Meccano Ltd, Binns Road, Liverpool, 
England, model made by Owen Wickham Davies, North 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1915-1925. Gift of Anne 
Wickham Walter, 2017. 2017/41/1

Artwork, ‘Venus Shell handbag’, nylon plastic / chrome plate / 
3D printing / laser sintering, Janelle Dehanne Wilson 
(unellenu), New South Wales, Australia, 2016. Gift of unellenu, 
2017. 2017/42/1

Poster, rock music, Dynamic Hepnotics, ‘Turbulent Cool’, 
paper, made by Festival Records, collected and used by Peter 
Cox, Australia, 1984. Gift of Peter Cox, 2017. 2017/43/1

Poster, rock music, The Go-Betweens, New Zealand Summer 
Tour, paper, made by Looney Tours, New Zealand, collected 
and used by Peter Cox, Australia, 1984. Gift of Peter Cox, 2017. 
2017/43/2

Poster, rock music, Hunters and Collectors, ‘Fireman’s Curse’ 
paper, made by White Label Records, collected and used by 
Peter Cox, Australia, 1983. Gift of Peter Cox, 2017. 2017/43/3

Poster, rock music, Hunters and Collectors, live performance 
promotion, paper, made by White Label Records, collected 
and used by Peter Cox, Australia, 1983. Gift of Peter Cox, 2017. 
2017/43/4

Poster, rock music, Hunters and Collectors, ‘What’s a Few 
Men’ New Zealand Tour, paper, made by White Label Records, 
collected and used by Peter Cox, Australia, 1987. Gift of Peter 
Cox, 2017. 2017/43/5

Poster, rock music, Hush, made by ‘Spunky Magazine’, paper, 
collected and used by Peter Cox, Australia, 1977. Gift of Peter 
Cox, 2017. 2017/43/6

Poster, rock music, Icehouse, New Zealand Tour, paper, made 
by Cole Productions, collected and used by Peter Cox, 
Australia, 1984. Gift of Peter Cox, 2017. 2017/43/7

Poster, rock music, James Griffin and the Subterraeans ‘The 
Immigrant Tango’, paper, made by Chase Records, collected 
and used by Peter Cox, Australia, 1985. Gift of Peter Cox, 2017. 
2017/43/8

Poster, rock music, The Johnnys, paper, made by Looney 
Tours, collected and used by Peter Cox, Australia, 1986. Gift of 
Peter Cox, 2017. 2017/43/9

Poster, rock music, Johnny O’Keefe, paper, collected and used 
by Peter Cox, Australia, 1977. Gift of Peter Cox, 2017. 2017/43/10

Poster, rock music, Killjoys, paper, collected and used by Peter 
Cox, Australia, 1989. Gift of Peter Cox, 2017. 2017/43/11

Poster, rock music, Livid Festival, paper, photograph and 
designed by Cutts Creative, made for Triple J and Channel V, 
collected and used by Peter Cox, Australia, 2001. Gift of Peter 
Cox, 2017. 2017/43/12

Poster, rock music, Scribble, paper, made by Regular Records, 
collected and used by Peter Cox, Australia, 1986. Gift of Peter 
Cox, 2017. 2017/43/13
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Poster, rock music, This Is Serious Mum, paper, made by Elvis 
Records, collected and used by Peter Cox, Australia, 1986. Gift 
of Peter Cox, 2017. 2017/43/14

T-shirts, jerseys (10) related to Australian and international 
roller derby leagues, cotton / synthetic fibres / fabric ink, 
Australia, 2000–2017. Gift of Melanie Grogan, 2017. 2017/44/1

T-shirts (5) and singlet (1), marriage equality, fabric, Equality 
Campaign, produced in Australia using imported material, 
2017. Purchased with funds from the MAAS Foundation, 2017. 
2017/45/1

Badges (4), marriage equality, plastic / metal, Equality Campaign, 
produced in Australia using imported material, 2017. Purchased 
with funds from the MAAS Foundation, 2017. 2017/45/2

Positive digital photographic print of model Michelle Flynn 
wearing ‘Shotgun Wedding Dress.Cleave’ artwork by eX de 
Medici, photograph by Robert Little, Liangis Mansion, 
O’Malley, Canberra, Australian Capital Territory, Australia, 
2015. Gift of eX de Medici, 2017. 2017/46/1

Poster and flyer, marriage equality, Equality Campaign, paper, 
produced in Australia, 2017. Gift of Tilly Boleyn, 2017. 2017/47/1

Tool box, containing workshop tools, instruments and 
reference books, timber / metal / paper, possibly made by 
Cyril Franklin, used by Cyril, Arthur and Ray Franklin, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, 1917–2015. Gift of Dr James 
Franklin and Lois Fewings, 2017. 2017/48/1

Barometer, mercurial, Fortin standard, and catalogue, 
‘Mercurial Barometers’, wood / stainless steel / glass / 
mercury / paper, made by Ray Franklin at A.L. Franklin Pty 
Ltd, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1950–1985. Gift of 
Dr James Franklin and Lois Fewings, 2017. 2017/48/2

Engineer’s compass, and pouch, brass / leather / cloth, made 
by Arthur Franklin, Birmingham, England, c. 1910. Gift of Dr 
James Franklin and Lois Fewings, 2017. 2017/48/3

Necklace, amber / synthetic string, made in Lithuania, 2016. 
Ex-museum, 2017. 2017/49/1

Model, ‘Illawarra Flame House’, Bainbridge board / wood / 
wire / acrylic / paper / sponge / scatter grass / glue, designed 
by students from the University of Wollongong and TAFE 
NSW Illawarra Institute, 2011-2013, made by model-maker Iain 
Scott-Stevenson at the Powerhouse Museum, 2014, used by 
the Powerhouse Museum, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2015–2016. Ex-museum, 2017. 2017/50/1

Imperial standard bushel measure, copper, maker and place of 
manufacture unknown, 1833. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/1

Beam balance in display case, L Oertling, Model 4SB-3297, 
metal / wood / glass, case made by John Wright, place of 
manufacture unknown, late 1800s. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/2

Balance in case, to weigh 1/2 ozs, made by Avery De Grave, 
London, England, c.1890. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/3

Imperial standard measures (8), gallon, half gallon, quart, pint, 
half pint, gill, half gill and quarter gill, brass, made by New 
South Wales Government, Australia, 1883. Gift of Department 
of Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/4

Standard yard with stand and box with key, brass / wood, 
made by W & T Avery Ltd., Birmingham, England, date 
unknown. Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/5

Ruler with adjustable magnifying scope, brass / wood, made 
by De Grave, Short, Fanner and Co, England, 1892. Gift of 
Department of Services, Technology and Administration, 
Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/6

Sovereign weight standards in case, brass / wood, made by L 
Oertling, London, England, c. 1887. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/7

Standard block weights in case (10), ½ dram, 1 dram, 2 dram, 
¼oz, ½oz, 1oz, 2oz, 2oz, 4oz, 8oz, brass / wood, maker and 
place of manufacture unknown, late 19th century. Gift of 
Department of Services, Technology and Administration, 
Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/8

Primary standard weights in case, troys and grains, brass / 
wood, made by L Oertling, London, England, 1902. Gift of 
Department of Services, Technology and Administration, 
Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/9

Milk bottle standards (2) and milk flask standards (3), glass, 
maker and place of manufacture unknown, date unknown. 
Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/10

Balance in cabinet, metal / wood / glass, made by Chyo 
Balance Corporation, Kyoto, Japan, c. 1980. Gift of 
Department of Services, Technology and Administration, 
Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/11

Balance in case, metal / wood / glass, made by L Oertling, 
London, England, 1890–1920. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/12

Jug measures (4), gallon, half gallon, half pint, and gill, copper, 
maker and place of manufacture unknown, post 1952. Gift of 
Department of Services, Technology and Administration, 
Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/13

Volume measures (5), gills and pints, Pyrex, made by 
Reverifications Ltd, England, 1962-2002. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/14

Jug measures (5), gallon, half gallon, quart, pint, and half pint, 
copper, made by Colton, Palmer & Preston/ A. Simpson, 
Adelaide, South Australia, date unknown. Gift of Department 
of Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/15

Standard avoirdupois weights (5) brass, made by A.W. Dobbie, 
Adelaide, Australia, dates unknown. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/16
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Imperial standard bushel measure, brass, made by Bate, 
London, England, date unknown. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/17

Imperial standard half bushel measures (2), brass, made by 
Bate, London, England, date unknown. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/18

Imperial standard peck measure, brass, made by Bate, London, 
England, date unknown. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/19

Imperial standard measures (4), gallon, half gallon, quart and 
pint, brass / glass, made by Bate, London, England, date 
unknown. Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/20

Bullion balance in case, metal / wood / glass, made by L 
Oertling / John Wright, London, England / Australia, 1890. 
Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/21

Balance in case, Model A, metal / wood / glass, made by L 
Oertling, London, England, 1848–1855. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/22

Beam balance with case, metal / wood / glass, made by W & T 
Avery Ltd, England, date unknown. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/23

Beam balance with case, metal / wood / glass, made by L 
Oertling, London, England, c. 1890–1910. Gift of Department 
of Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/24

Balance, ‘Jupiter’, metal / glass, made by Chyo Balance 
Corporation, Kyoto, Japan, c. 1980-1985. Gift of Department 
of Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/25

Analytic and research balances (3). metal / plastic, made by 
Sartorius, Germany, 1980s. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/26

Day book, cardboard / paper, compiled by the Superintendent 
of Weights and Measures, New South Wales, Australia, date 
unknown. Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/27

Beam balance, metal / wood, made by L Oertling, London, 
England, c.1899–1900. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/28

Balance, brass / iron, made by Louis Schopper, Leipzig, 
Germany, date unknown. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/29

Single pan steelyard balance, metal, made by E & T Fairbanks 
& Co (St. Johnsbury), United States of America, date 
unknown. Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/30

Ball peen hammer, metal / wood, made by 2W&M Sydney 
W&M Auckland, 1930. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/31

Standard yard measure and box, brass / wood, made by W & T 
Avery Ltd., Birmingham, England, 1920. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/32

Books (2), ‘W & T Avery, ‘Balances, Standard Weights and 
Measures’, ‘World Weights and Measures’, makers and place 
of manufacture unknown, dates unknown. Gift of Department 
of Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/33

Balances and weights in case, metal / wood, made by Louis 
Schopper, Leipzig, Germany, 1936–1958. Gift of Department 
of Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/34

Set of standard weights in case, metal / wood / fabric, made 
by W & T Avery Ltd, Birmingham, England, used by the New 
South Wales Treasury, Australia, date unknown. Gift of 
Department of Services, Technology and Administration, 
Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/35

Parallel apothecary standard measures in case, 40 fl oz-1 fl oz, 
brass / glass / wood, made by W & T Avery Ltd, Birmingham, 
England, 1917. Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/36

Imperial standard peck measure, copper, maker and place of 
manufacture unknown, date unknown. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/37

Sign, ‘The NSW Standards Laboratory and Trade 
Measurement Offices were officially opened on Monday 30 
June 2003, by the Hon. Reba Meagher MP, Minister for Fair 
Trading, Minister Assisting the Minister for Commerce’, maker 
unknown, Australia, 2003. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/38

Inch measure in case, maker and place of manufacture 
unknown, 1899. Gift of Department of Services, Technology 
and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/39

Globular weights in case (16), brass / wood, maker and place 
of manufacture unknown, date unknown. Gift of Department 
of Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/40

Imperial half bushel measure, maker and place of manufacture 
unknown, 1833. Gift of Department of Services, Technology 
and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/41

Set of brass weights, brass, made by Bate, London, England, 
1824. Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/42

Standard yard measure, made by Blanch, Sydney, Australia, 
1838. Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/43
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Box end beam scale, iron / brass / ivory, made by De Grave & 
Co., London, England, 1845–1870. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/44

Balance in case, made by De Grave and Co., London, England, 
before 1900. Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/45

Equal arm beam scale and box, brass / wood, maker and place 
of manufacture unknown, date unknown. Gift of Department 
of Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/46

Balance in case, brass / wood / glass, made by L Oertling, 
London, England, date unknown. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/47

Balance in box, metal / wood, maker and place of manufacture 
unknown, date unknown. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/48

Electronic balance, ‘Mettler’, metal / glass / plastic, made by 
Mettler Instrumente AG, Germany, 1987. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/49

Balance, brass / wood, made by W & T Avery of Birmingham, 
England, date unknown. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/50

Imperial standard bushel measure with original label, brass, 
made by De Grave & Co. London, England, 1883. Gift of 
Department of Services, Technology and Administration, 
Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/51

Imperial standard peck measure, brass / wood, made by Bate, 
London, England, 1899. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/52

Imperial standard measures with original label (6) gallon, half 
gallon, quart, pint, half pint and half gill, brass, made by Bate, 
London, England, before 1870. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/53

Imperial standard measures (2), gill and half gill, brass, made 
by Bate, London, England, 1899. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/54

Imperial standard measures (7), gallon, half gallon, quart, pint, 
half pint, gill and half gill, brass, made by Bate, London, 
England, date unknown. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/55

Imperial standard quarter gill measure, made by A.W. Dobbie, 
Adelaide, Australia, 1899. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/56

Imperial standard half bushel measure, brass / wood, made by 
Bate, London, England. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/57

Imperial standard measures (3), 10 gallons, 5 gallons, 3 
gallons, brass, made by W & T Avery Ltd., Birmingham, 
England, date unknown. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/58

Imperial standard peck measure, brass, made by New South 
Wales Government, Australia, 1883. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/59

Imperial standard bushel measure, brass, made by Bate, 
London, England, date unknown. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/60

Standard measures (3), gallon, half gallon and quart, maker 
and place of manufacture unknown, date unknown. Gift of 
Department of Services, Technology and Administration, 
Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/61

Measures (8), 40 fl oz, 20 fl oz, 10 fl oz, 5 fl oz, 4 fl oz, 3 fl oz, 2 
fl oz, 1 fl oz, brass, made by Avery, 1917. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/62

Metric liquid volume measures (4), centi-litre, demideci-litre, 
deci-litre, double deci-litre, pewter, maker and place of 
manufacture unknown, date unknown. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/63

Metric liquid volume measures (3), litre, demi-litre, double 
centi-litre, maker and place of manufacture unknown, date 
unknown. Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/64

Jug measures (5), half gallon, quart, pint, half gill, quarter gill, 
copper with brass front plate, maker and place of manufacture 
unknown, date unknown. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/65

Jug measures with original label (3), 5 gallon, 4 gallon, 2 
gallon, copper, maker unknown, England, before 1890. Gift of 
Department of Services, Technology and Administration, 
Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/66

Jug measures (7), gallon, half gallon, quart, pint, gill, half gill, 
quarter gill, copper, maker and place of manufacture 
unknown, date unknown. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/67

Jug measures (4), gallon, pint, half pint, gill, copper, maker 
and place of manufacture unknown, date unknown. Gift of 
Department of Services, Technology and Administration, 
Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/68

Jug measure, pint, copper, made by TT W & J Walker, date 
unknown. Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/69

Yard stick, brass, maker and place of manufacture unknown, 
date unknown. Gift of Department of Services, Technology 
and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/70

Jug measure, half pint, copper, maker and place of 
manufacture unknown, date unknown. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/71
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Jug measure (3), quart, half pint, gill, copper with brass front 
plate, maker and place of manufacture unknown, date 
unknown. Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/72

Jug measure, half gill, copper, maker and place of manufacture 
unknown, date unknown. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/73

Jug measure, gill, copper, maker and place of manufacture 
unknown, date unknown. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/74

Jug measures with original labels (3), 5 gallon, 4 gallon, 2 
gallon, brass, maker and place of manufacture unknown, date 
unknown. Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/75

Standard avoirdupois weights (7), 14lb, 7lb, 4lb, 2lb, 1lb, 8oz, 
4oz, brass, maker and place of manufacture unknown, made 
before 1900. Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/76

Standard weights in case (10), 1lb, 8oz, 2oz, 1oz, ½ oz, ¼ oz, 2 
dram, 1 dram, ½ dram, made by W & T Avery, date unknown. 
Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/77

Standard grain weights with case, 1oz to very small, made by L 
Oertling, London, England, date unknown. Gift of Department 
of Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/78

Globular weights with original label (12), 7lb, 4lb, 2lb, 1lb, 8oz, 
4oz, 2oz, 1oz, 8dms, 4dms, 2dms, 1dms, made by Avery De 
Grave, London, England, 1886. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/79

Wire gauge standard with box, brass / wood, made by L 
Oertling, London, England, date unknown. Gift of Department 
of Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/80

Stamping press, steel, maker and place of manufacture 
unknown, date unknown. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/81

Scales in case, gift from Hong Kong Consumer Council, date 
unknown. Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/82

Architectural plans, Department of Labour & Industry Weights 
and Measures Branch, Lakemba St, paper, various makers, 
Australia, date unknown. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/83

Circular lids/strikers for volume dry measure (33), 20 inches to 
1 ¾ inches, glass, maker and place of manufacture unknown, 
date unknown. Gift of Department of Services, Technology 
and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/84

Stainless steel cylinder with brass insert, maker and place of 
manufacture unknown, date unknown. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/85

Metre ruler and case, steel / wood, made by Rabone 
Chesterman, England, date unknown. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/86

Linear standard, brass / wood, maker and place of 
manufacture unknown, date unknown. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/87

Linear standard, brass / wood, maker and place of 
manufacture unknown, date unknown. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/88

Linear standard, brass / wood, maker and place of 
manufacture unknown, date unknown. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/89

Ruler measure, brass, made by L Oertling, London, England, 
1899. Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/90

Two ruler measures in box, brass / wood, made by L Oertling, 
London, England, 1887. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/91

1 metre folding rule, brass / wood, maker and place of 
manufacture unknown, date unknown. Gift of Department of 
Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/92

Yard stick, brass, made by T. Aston, date unknown. Gift of 
Department of Services, Technology and Administration, 
Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/93

Yard stick, brass, made by John Rabone & Sons, Birmingham, 
England, date unknown. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/94

Yard stick, brass, made by Bate, London, England, date 
unknown. Gift of Department of Services, Technology and 
Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/95

Yard stick and box, brass / wood, made by RB Bate, Potter, 
Poultry, London, England, date unknown. Gift of Department 
of Services, Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 
2017/51/96

Yard stick and stand, possibly brass, made by Bate, London, 
England, date unknown. Gift of Department of Services, 
Technology and Administration, Sydney, 2010. 2017/51/97

Furoshiki (wrapping cloth) and packaging, rayon / crepe / 
paper, designed by Kazumasa Nagai, printed in Japan, 1992. 
Gift of DNP Foundation for Cultural Promotion, Japan, 2017. 
2017/52/1

Furoshiki (wrapping cloth) and packaging, rayon / crepe / 
paper, designed by Shin Matsunaga, printed in Japan, 1992. 
Gift of DNP Foundation for Cultural Promotion, Japan, 2017. 
2017/52/2
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Archive, ‘Anglewood’ Special School (for truants), Burradoo, 
New South Wales, 1946-2004 collected by Thelma Fraser, 
Burradoo and Woy Woy, New South Wales, Australia, 1946–
2004. Gift of Pippa Preston, 2017. 2017/53/1

Soft toys (2), printed craft patterns (2), cardboard templates, 
wool, and felt materials used by Thelma Fraser at ‘Anglewood’ 
Special School (for truants) Burradoo, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1946–1980. Gift of Pippa Preston, 2017. 2017/53/2

Aviation tools (9), metal, used by the Australian Flying Corps, 
1914–1918. Ex-museum, 2017. 2017/54/1

Smock, usherette’s uniform from the musical production ‘Hair’, 
cotton / metal, used by Dina Mann, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1969–1970. Gift of Dina Mann, 2017. 2017/55/1

Artwork, ‘Bound’, mixed media, Karla Dickens, Goonellabah, 
New South Wales, Australia, 2015. Purchased with funds from 
the MAAS Foundation, 2017. 2017/56/1

Lamp, planet lamp, Series K, blue, metal / plastic electronic 
components, designed by Bill Iggulden, manufactured by 
Planet Lighting, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia, c. 1970. 
Purchased 2017. 2017/57/1

Stool, ‘New Armor, Bronze stool / blue’, bronze / lacquer 
(ott-chil), designed and made by Kwangho Lee, Seoul, South 
Korea, 2014. Purchased 2017. 2017/58/1

Outfit, mens, comprising jacket, trousers and pair of plimsolls, 
Spring-Summer 2017, Look 7, cotton / wool / woodblock 
printed / hand quilted, designed by Craig Green, London, 
England, 2016. Purchased with funds donated by the Sydney 
TAFE Fashion Students Vocation Club, 2017. 2017/59/1

Tableware, ‘Bareum’ set of five bowls with lids, ‘Binyeo’ set of 
chopsticks and spoon, designed by GIO Kisang / made by GIO 
Kisang and KIM Soo-Young, brass, Korea, 2013–2017. 
Purchased 2017. 2017/60/1

Tableware, ‘Bareum / Areum’, set of five bowls with lids, designed 
by GIO Kisang, made by GIO Kisang and Jeon Sulhee, 
earthenware, Seoul, Korea, 2014–2017. Purchased 2017. 2017/60/2

Book, ‘Flowers of the Holy Land Jerusalem’, souvenir 
comprising pressed flower arrangements, military ribbons (5) 
and fabric sample, wood / fabric / pressed flowers, made by 
Boulos Meo Antique Shop, Jerusalem, before 1916, owned by 
Sergeant Walter (Wally). Ex-museum, 2018. 2018/1/1

Cuberider payload, metal / silicon / plastic, made by 
Cuberider, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2015–2017. 
Gift of Cuberider, 2018. Transportation costs of returning this 
object to Earth were paid with funds donated through the 2017 
annual appeal. 2018/2/1

Tray, Cloisonné Round Tray, copper / enamel / chrome, 
designed by Danful Yang, made by ‘Beijing Xing Cai Li Hua’ 
workshop, Beijing, China, 2011. Purchased with funds from the 
MAAS Foundation, 2017. 2018/3/1

Bowl, ‘Echo’, eggshell porcelain, made by Master Lu Jiande for 
Shang Xia, Jingdezhen, China, 2017. Purchased with funds 
from the MAAS Foundation, 2017. 2018/4/1

Slouch hat, Australian Imperial Force World War I, size 6 7/8, 
khaki / rabbit felt / metal, made by Charles Anderson & Co. 
Ltd, Federal Hat Mills, Albion and Nichols Streets, Surry Hills, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1916, used by Leslie John 
‘Jack’ Roberts Jones, Service No. 918, air mechanic, 4th 
Squadron, Australian Flying Corps, France and Germany, 
1916–1919. Gift of John Jones, 2018. 2018/5/1

Jacket service dress or tunic, Australian Imperial Force World 
War I uniform, size 82, wool / leather / metal, made by 
National Clothing Manufacturing Co. Ltd, Adelaide, South 
Australia, 1916, used by Leslie John ‘Jack’ Roberts Jones, 
Service No. 918, air. Gift of John Jones, 2018. 2018/5/2

Dress, womens, polyester / sequins / cedar wood / brass, 
Incandescent collection, designed and made by Yousef Akbar, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2017. Purchased with the 
assistance of Leanne Megazzano, 2017. 2018/6/1

Vase, glazed earthenware, ‘Aboriginal’ motifs, Martin Boyd 
Pottery, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1950–1963. Gift 
of Gael Newton, 2017. 2018/7/1

Clothing ensemble, mens, comprising ‘NEOLOGISM’ knitted 
jacquard bow cape, ‘NACKTBADEN’ shorts and trainers (pair), 
polyester / viscose / linen / polyamide / acetate, Spring/
Summer 2015 collection, designed by Bernhard Willhelm, 
made in Belgium / Vietnam, 2015. Gift of Bernhard Willhelm 
and Jutta Kraus, 2017. 2018/8/1

Clothing ensemble, mens, comprising ‘BEHAB AND HE’ top 
and ‘HATS N TITS & HE’ athletic shorts, cotton / polyester / 
plastic beads / metal / plastic, Spring/Summer 2016 
collection, designed by Bernhard Willhelm, made in Belgium, 
2016. Gift of Bernhard Willhelm and Jutta Kraus, 2017. 
2018/8/2

Clothing ensemble, unisex, comprising ‘ROAD WARRIOR’ 
dress, ‘TOO SEXY FOR MY OFFICE’ pants and boots (pair), 
cotton / linen / rubber / velcro / metal, Spring/Summer 2016 
collection, designed by Bernhard Willhelm, made in Japan, 
2016. Gift of Bernhard Willhelm and Jutta Kraus, 2017. 
2018/8/3

Clothing ensemble, unisex, comprising ‘RAYMOND & HE’ 
vintage combat jacket and ‘BEANU BEEVES SHORT’ skirt, 
nylon / denim / metal, Spring/Summer 2016 collection, 
designed by Bernhard Willhelm, made in Japan, 2016. Gift of 
Bernhard Willhelm and Jutta Kraus, 2017. 2018/8/4

Clothing ensemble, womens, comprising ‘DISCREET VIRGIN & 
EMB’ dress and socks (pair), cotton / alpaca wool, Autumn/
Winter 2015-2016 collection, designed by Bernhard Willhelm, 
made in Japan, 2016. Gift of Bernhard Willhelm and Jutta 
Kraus, 2017. 2018/8/5

Clothing ensemble, mens, comprising ‘ADORE A DRAG’ top, 
‘RELOADED’ leggings, ‘VEILED DESIRE’ hat and socks (pair) 
with mannequin and silicone head, cotton / rayon / lycra / 
acrylate / alpaca wool / metal / resin / silicone / fibreglass, 
Autumn/Winter 2015–2016 collection, designed by Bernhard 
Willhelm, made in Japan, 2016. Gift of Bernhard Willhelm and 
Jutta Kraus, 2017. 2018/8/6
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Clothing ensemble, womens, comprising ‘REZILLO’ jacket, 
‘TRANSHEIDI’ bikini, ‘RELOADED+DYE’ leggings, 
‘CROISSANT’ belt and trainers (pair), cotton / wool / 
polyurethane / rayon / leather / rubber / nylon, Autumn/
Winter 2012-2013 collection, designed by Bernhard Willhelm, 
made in Belgium / Japan / Vietnam, 2013. Gift of Bernhard 
Willhelm and Jutta Kraus, 2017. 2018/8/7

Clothing ensemble, unisex, comprising ‘FIGURES IN 
LANDSCAPE’ dress, linen / sateen, Spring/Summer 2016 
collection, designed by Bernhard Willhelm, made in Japan, 
2016 and headpiece, plywood / wire, designed and made by 
Duane Paul, California, United States of America, 2016. Gift of 
Bernhard Willhelm and Jutta Kraus, 2017. 2018/8/8

Clothing ensemble, unisex, comprising ‘BANNA WINTOUR’ 
coat and ‘LUSOX’ trousers, printed cotton, Spring/Summer 
2016 collection, designed by Bernhard Willhelm, made in 
Japan, 2016 and headpiece, wire, designed and made by 
Duane Paul, California, United States of America, 2016. Gift of 
Bernhard Willhelm and Jutta Kraus, 2017. 2018/8/9

Sandals (pair), unisex, ‘PLAY’, cotton / rubber, Spring/Summer 
2016 collection, designed by Bernhard Willhelm, made in 
[Japan], 2016. Gift of Bernhard Willhelm and Jutta Kraus, 2017. 
2018/8/10

Socks, two pairs, unisex, ‘BERNI’, cotton / polyester, Spring/
Summer 2016 collection, designed by Bernhard Willhelm, 
made in Belgium, 2016. Gift of Bernhard Willhelm and Jutta 
Kraus, 2017. 2018/8/11

Bag, unisex, ‘THIS BAG+FARM BOY’, cotton, Autumn/Winter 
2015-2016 collection, designed by Bernhard Willhelm, made in 
Japan, 2016. Gift of Bernhard Willhelm and Jutta Kraus, 2017. 
2018/8/12

Sunglasses, unisex, ‘BEPPO’, with case and lens cloth, stainless 
steel / plastic / synthetic materials, Spring/Summer 2016 
collection, designed by Bernhard Willhelm, made by Mykita, 
Berlin, Germany, 2016. Gift of Bernhard Willhelm and Jutta 
Kraus, 2017. 2018/8/13

Vase, ‘Full Bloom’, nylon / mineral coating, designed and made 
by Michael Eden, Milnthorpe, Cumbria, England, 2015. 
Purchased with funds from the MAAS Foundation, 2017. 
2018/9/1

Sculptural dish, ‘Centre Square Black’, aluminium composite, 
designed and made by Gilbert Riedelbauch, Canberra, 
Australian Capital Territory, Australia, 2011. Gift of Gilbert 
Riedelbauch, 2017. 2018/10/1

Ensemble, womens, comprising ‘Rife Dally Dress’ and boots 
(pair), polyester / viscose / cotton / nylon / silk / leather / 
Perspex, designed by Zimmermann, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, made in China / Brazil, 2017. Gift of 
Zimmermann, 2017. 2018/11/1

Ensemble, womens, comprising ‘Maples Temperance Mini 
Dress’ and boots (pair), silk / polyamide / cotton / nylon / 
leather / Perspex, designed by Zimmermann, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, made in China / Brazil, 2017. Gift of 
Zimmermann, 2017. 2018/11/2

Computing device, prototype, WetPC, comprising CPU case, 
control pad, mask-mounted virtual display, metal / plastic / 
fabric, developed by the Australian Institute of Marine 
Science, manufactured by Kord IT, Australian Capital Territory, 
Australia, 1999. Ex-museum, 2018. 2018/12/1

Light fixture, ‘Surface Sconce, Blackened Bronze’, with lamp, 
box and wiring, mixed materials, designed by Henry Wilson, 
made by Central Foundry, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2017. Purchased with funds from the MAAS 
Foundation, 2017. 2018/13/1

Casting pattern, for prototyping ‘Surface Sconce, Blackened 
Bronze’ freestanding light fixture, plastic, designed by Henry 
Wilson, made by Shapeways, designed in Australia, made in 
United States of America, 2015–2016. Purchased with funds 
from the MAAS Foundation, 2017. 2018/13/2

Photographic print, ‘Protector and Aborigine 2017’, Fujiflex 
digital print, numbered 2 of an edition of 15, Fiona Foley, 
Australia, 2017. Purchased with funds from the Myer Bequest, 
2018. 2018/14/1

Breastplate, ‘Protector of Aborigines 2017’, brass / enamel 
paint, numbered 1 of an edition of 3, Fiona Foley, Australia, 
2017. Purchased with funds from the Myer Bequest, 2018. 
2018/14/2

Outfit, mens, comprising jacket, pullover, trousers, shoes and 
socks, Moth collection, Autumn / Winter 2017, wool / cotton / 
acrylic / leather / rubber, designed and made by Song for the 
Mute, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2017. Purchased 
with funds from the MAAS Foundation, 2018. 2018/15/1

Rush lounge chair, designed by Studio Mumbai / Bijoy Jain 
(India) for MANIERA, (Belgium), 2016, teak / henna dye bark 
rope from bimel tree / beeswax / coconut oil, made by Studio 
Mumbai in Mumbai, India, 2018. Purchased with funds from 
the MAAS Foundation, 2018. 2018/16/1

Doctor’s home visit case with pharmaceuticals and 
prescription books, used by Dr Bruce C Terrey of Beecroft, 
New South Wales, plastic / glass / paper / metal, multiple 
makers, Australia, 1967. Gift of A N Davies, 2018. 2018/17/1

Wedding dress, silk / cotton, designed by Akira Isogawa, 
Sydney, Australia, made in China, 2007. Gift of Elsa Whelan, 
2018. 2018/18/1

Scale aircraft model, Douglas DC2, KLM Royal Dutch Air Lines 
‘Uiver’, registration PH-AJU, No. 44, 1934 London to 
Melbourne air race entrant, 1:40 scale, wood, made by Iain 
Scott-Stevenson, Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences, 
Ultimo, New South Wales, Australia, 2012. Ex-museum, 2018. 
2018/19/1

Lamp, planet lamp, Series K, white, metal / plastic electronic 
components, designed by Bill Iggulden, manufactured by 
Planet Lighting, Melbourne, Australia, c. 1970. Purchased 2017. 
2018/20/1
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Dessert service, comprising two comports, four bowls and 
twelve plates, enamelled and gilt porcelain, painted with 
flowers by William Birbeck, made by George Jones & Sons, 
Staffordshire, England, retailed by the Civil Service Stores, 
Sydney, c 1895, used by Mollie Gowing. Gift of Mollie Gowing 
Estate, 2011. 2018/21/1

Hat finials (9), rank insignia, metal / glass / porcelain / stone, 
maker unknown, China c. 1790–1875. Gift of Judith and Ken 
Rutherford, 2018. 2018/22/1

Torsion balance, wood / metal / glass, believed to be made by 
Ernst Leitz Wetzlar, date unknown. Gift of Gerald Gerard, 
2018. 2018/23/1

German equatorial mount model, wood / metal / glass, 
designed by Henry Chamberlain Russell, Sydney, Australia, 
date unknown (1870–1905). Ex Sydney Observatory, 2018. 
2018/24/1

Model, robot, full size, ‘Lost in Space’ television series, metal / 
rubber / plastic/ glass, made by Lewis Morley, 1990. Gift of 
Lewis Morley, 2018. 2018/25/1

Stained glass panel, ‘The heart is a lonely hunter’, kiln formed, 
fused and lampworked glass, lead, paint, wooden frame, 
designed and made by Jan Blum, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1985. Barry Willoughby Bequest, 2017. 2018/26/1

Music score, ‘Die Schoepfung (The Creation)’ first edition, 
paper, by Joseph Haydn, London, c.1800. Barry Willoughby 
Bequest, 2017. 2018/27/1

Vase, ‘Spirales’, frosted and stained press-moulded glass, 
designed by René Jules Lalique in 1930, made by René Lalique 
et Cie, Wingen-sur-Moder, France, 1930s. Barry Willoughby 
Bequest, 2017. 2018/28/1

Vase, ‘Bluets’ (Cornflowers), moulded glass, designed by René 
Lalique in 1914, made by René Lalique et Cie, Wingen-sur-
Moder, France, 1930s. Barry Willoughby Bequest, 2017. 
2018/28/2

Vase, ‘Honfleur’, glass, designed by René Lalique in 1927 and 
made by René Lalique et Cie, Wingen-sur-Moder, France, 
1930s. Barry Willoughby Bequest, 2017. 2018/28/3

Vase, glass, designed and made by Alfredo Barbini, Vetreria 
Alfredo Barbini, Murano, Venice, Italy, 1970-1979. Barry 
Willoughby Bequest, 2017. 2018/29/1

Sculptural panel, ‘Erebus’, press-moulded crystal, designed by 
Victor Vasarely for Rosenthal, Germany, 1982. Barry 
Willoughby Bequest, 2017. 2018/30/1

Vase, ‘Spina’ glass, designed by Ercole Barovier in 1958, made 
by Barovier and Toso (Barovier e Toso), Murano, Venice, Italy, 
1970-1978. Barry Willoughby Bequest, 2017. 2018/31/1

Platter, ‘Spina’ glass, designed by Ercole Barovier, made by 
Barovier and Toso (Barovier e Toso), Murano, Venice, designed 
in 1958, made c.1978. Barry Willoughby Bequest, 2017. 
2018/31/2

Candlestick, ‘Sheringham’, glass, designed by Ronald Stennett-
Willson, made by King’s Lynn Glass, Norfolk, England, 1967–
1969. Barry Willoughby Bequest, 2017. 2018/32/1

Candlesticks (3), ‘Brancaster’, glass, designed by Ronald 
Stennett-Willson, made by Wedgwood Glass, Norfolk, 
England, 1971–1979. Barry Willoughby Bequest, 2017. 2018/32/2

3D printed surgical heart, acrylic, designed by Dr James 
Otton, Victor Chang Cardiac Research Institute, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 2016. Gift of Victor Chang Cardiac 
Research Institute, 2017. 2018/33/1

3D printed surgical heart, red and blue acrylic, designed by Dr 
James Otton, Victor Chang Cardiac Research Institute, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2016. Gift of Victor 
Chang Cardiac Research Institute, 2017. 2018/33/2

Shoes (pair), mens, leather / metal / cloth / synthetic lining / 
plastic, maker unknown, worn by Johnny O’Keefe in 
performance, Australia, 1972–1977. Gift of the O’Keefe family, 
2017. 2018/34/1

Shoes (pair), mens, leather / pigskin / cork / cloth, maker 
unknown, worn by Johnny O’Keefe in performance, Australia, 
1970–1978. Gift of the O’Keefe family, 2017. 2018/34/2

Sample book, ‘The Speedo “Golden Sands” Series, 
Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’, paper / various fabrics, 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, c. 1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/1

Sample book, ‘Presenting Speedo Knitwear 1961 styled in the 
MacRae tradition’, paper / plastic / various fabrics, designed 
by Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, c. 
1961. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 
2018/35/2

Beachniks (2), mens, Block Stripe Helenca design in black and 
white, cotton knit, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/
Swimwear 1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for 
Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 
2018. 2018/35/3

Beachnik, mens, Block Stripe Helenca design in red, cotton, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/4

Tahitian brief, mens, Tropic Stripe design in tobasco red, 
cotton, elastic, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/
Swimwear 1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for 
Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 
2018. 2018/35/5

Breaker short, mens, Tropic Stripe design in tobasco red, 
cotton / metal, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/
Swimwear 1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for 
Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 
2018. 2018/35/6
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Breaker short, mens, Tropic Stripe design in azure blue, cotton 
/ metal, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 
1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift 
of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/7

Breaker short, mens, Malekula design in blue slate, cotton / 
metal, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 
1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift 
of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/8

Breaker shorts (2), mens, Ischia design in aqua, cotton / metal, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/9

Lacer brief, mens, Ischia design in aqua, cotton / metal / cord, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/10

Lacer brief, mens, Ischia design in gold, cotton / metal / cord, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/11

Breaker short, mens, Saratoga design in grey, cotton / metal, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/12

Hawaiian short, mens, Saratoga design in grey, cotton / metal, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/13

Lacer brief, mens, Saratoga design in grey, cotton / metal / 
cord, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 
1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift 
of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/14

Tahitian brief and skirt, mens, Pago Pago design in copper, 
cotton, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 
1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift 
of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/15

Capri brief and skirt, mens, Pago Pago design in copper, 
cotton, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 
1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift 
of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/16

Tahitian briefs (2), mens, Pago Pago design in copper, cotton, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/17

Capri brief, mens, Pago Pago design in blue, cotton, ‘Speedo 
Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/18

Swimming brief, mens, Paisley Helenca design in royal, cotton, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/19

Beachwear set, comprising Top-Rigger and Lacer brief, mens, 
Riviera design in green, cotton knit, ‘Speedo Golden Sands 
Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ collection, designed by 
Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/20

Breaker short, mens, Chainmail design in blue, cotton / metal, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/21

Breaker short, mens, Chainmail design in green, cotton / 
metal, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 
1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift 
of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/22

Lacer brief, mens, Chainmail design in blue, cotton / metal / 
cord, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 
1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift 
of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/23

Lacer brief, mens, Chainmail design in red, cotton / metal / 
cord, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 
1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift 
of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/24

Capri brief, mens, Napoli design in black, cotton, ‘Speedo 
Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/25

Towelling Cabana shirt, mens, Character Print design in 
yellow, cotton, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/
Swimwear 1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for 
Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 
2018. 2018/35/26

Lacer brief, mens, Character Print design in red, cotton / 
metal / cord, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/
Swimwear 1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for 
Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 
2018. 2018/35/27
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Beachwear set, comprising Top-Rigger and Short, mens, 
Valencia design in orange, cotton / plastic, ‘Speedo Golden 
Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ collection, 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/28

Capri brief, mens, Twybeau design in white, nylon lastex, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/29

Top-Rigger, mens, Yeoman design in white, cotton, ‘Speedo 
Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/30

Breaker short, mens, Yeoman design in blue, cotton, ‘Speedo 
Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/31

Lacer brief, mens, Yeoman design in bronze, cotton / metal / 
cord, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 
1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. 
Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 
2018/35/32

Beachwear set, comprising Top-Rigger and Breaker short, 
mens, Salamander design in orange, cotton / metal, ‘Speedo 
Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/33

Tahitian brief, mens, Overlord design in burnished gold, 
cotton, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 
1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. 
Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 
2018/35/34

Capri brief, mens, Overlord design in burnished gold, cotton, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/35

Top-Rigger, mens, Overlord design in charcoal, cotton / metal, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/36

Cabana shirt, mens, Tiger Stripe design in blue, cotton / 
plastic, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 
1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. 
Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 
2018/35/37

Breaker short, mens, Tiger Stripe design in cobalt, cotton / 
metal, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 
1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift 
of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/38

Cabana shirt, mens, Corsica design in cobalt, cotton / plastic, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/39

Breaker short, mens, Corsica design in cobalt, cotton / metal, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/40

Hawaiian short, mens, Guardsman design in navy, cotton / 
metal, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 
1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift 
of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/41

Standard boxer, mens, Milano design in red, cotton / cord, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/42

Breaker short, mens, Westbury design, cotton / metal, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/43

Shirt, mens, Deck Stripe design in mustard, cotton, ‘Speedo 
Golden Sands Series Knitshirts/Walkshirts 1960/61’ collection, 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/44

Shirt, mens, Deck Stripe design, cotton, ‘Speedo Golden 
Sands Series Knitshirts/Walkshirts 1960/61’ collection, 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/45

Mesh cardigan shirt, mens, Veneto design in royal, cotton, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Knitshirts/Walkshirts 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/46

Shirt, mens, Offsider design in sun tan, cotton, ‘Speedo 
Golden Sands Series Knitshirts/Walkshirts 1960/61’ collection, 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/47

Shirt, mens, Seaway design in sun tan, cotton, ‘Speedo 
Golden Sands Series Knitshirts/Walkshirts 1960/61’ collection, 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/48
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Top-Rigger, mens, League Stripe design in sun tan, cotton / 
plastic, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Knitshirts/Walkshirts 
1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. 
Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 
2018/35/49

Top-Rigger, mens, League Stripe design in sun tan, cotton, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Knitshirts/Walkshirts 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/50

Jacket shirt, mens, League Stripe design in tan, cotton / 
plastic, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Knitshirts/Walkshirts 
1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift 
of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/51

Top-Rigger, mens, Zephyr design in mustard, cotton / nylon, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Knitshirts/Walkshirts 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/52

Top-Rigger, mens, Celair design in olive, cotton, ‘Speedo 
Golden Sands Series Knitshirts/Walkshirts 1960/61’ collection, 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/53

Shirt, mens, Breezeway design in gold, cotton knit, ‘Speedo 
Golden Sands Series Knitshirts/Walkshirts 1960/61’ collection, 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/54

Slimliner shirt, mens, Hopsack design in spice, cotton, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Knitshirts/Walkshirts 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/55

Shirt, mens, Blanco design in white, with interior packaging, 
cotton / cardboard, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Knitshirts/
Walkshirts 1960/61’ collection, designed by Peter Travis for 
Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 
2018. 2018/35/56

Pullover, mens, Objective design in caramel, cotton, ‘Speedo 
Knitwear 1961 Dimensional Look’ collection, designed by Peter 
Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/57

Pullover, mens, Alisdair design in light green grey, cotton, 
‘Speedo Knitwear 1961 Dimensional Look’ collection, designed 
by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/58

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Overlord design, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, made in France, 1959–1962. Gift of Graeme Clarke, 
in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/59

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Stromboli design, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, made in France, 1959–1962. Gift of Graeme Clarke, 
in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/60

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Discus design, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, made in France, 1959–1962. Gift of Graeme Clarke, 
in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/61

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Pago Pago design, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, made in France, [1959–1962]. Gift of Graeme Clarke, 
in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/62

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Napoli design, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, made in France, [1959–1962]. Gift of Graeme Clarke, 
in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/63

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Aitape design, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, made in France, [1959–1962]. Gift of Graeme Clarke, 
in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/64

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Saratoga design, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, made in France, [1959–1962]. Gift of Graeme Clarke, 
in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/65

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Character Print 
design, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 
1960/61’ collection by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, made in France, [1959–1962]. Gift of Graeme Clarke, 
in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/66

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Ripple Stripe 
design, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 
1960/61’ collection by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, made in France, [1959–1962]. Gift of Graeme Clarke, 
in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/67

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Hyderabad 
design, ‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 
1960/61’ collection by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, made in Sweden, [1959–1962]. Gift of Graeme 
Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/68

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Yeoman design, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, made in Sweden, [1959–1962]. Gift of Graeme 
Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/69
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Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Blanco design, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1959–1962. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/70

Fabric sample, cotton, used for Kokopo design, ‘Speedo 
Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1959–1962. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/71

Fabric sample, cotton, used for Metropolis design, ‘Speedo 
Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1959–1962. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/72

Fabric sample, cotton, used for Heraldry design, ‘Speedo 
Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1959–1962, made by Biltmore Textile Co. Inc., New 
York, Manhattan, United States of Am. Gift of Graeme Clarke, 
in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/73

Capri brief, mens, Club Stripe design in brown and blue, 
cotton, ‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961-62’, 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1959–60. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/74

Swimming brief, mens, Club Stripe design in blue and green, 
cotton, ‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/75

Breaker short, mens, Flotilla design, cotton / metal, ‘Speedo 
Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed by 
Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/76

Breaker short, mens, Regatta Stripe design in chocolate, 
cotton / metal, ‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 
1961–62’, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/77

Standard boxer, mens, Regatta Stripe design in royal, cotton, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed 
by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/78

Capri brief, mens, Regatta stripe design in royal, cotton, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed 
by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/79

Capri brief, mens, Nordic design in light neutral, cotton, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed 
by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/80

Capri brief, mens, Nordic design in dark neutral, cotton, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed 
by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/81

Breaker short, mens, Nordic design in dark neutral, cotton / 
metal, ‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/82

Beachwear set, comprising Top-Rigger, Breaker short and 
Capri brief, mens, Starboard design in white and blue, cotton / 
metal, ‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/83

Beachwear set, comprising Top-Rigger, Breaker short and 
Capri brief (2), mens, Viking design in navy, cotton / metal, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed 
by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/84

Beachwear set, comprising Top-Rigger and Beachniks, mens, 
Navigator design in royal and white, cotton / metal, ‘Speedo 
Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed by 
Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/85

Beachwear set, comprising Cabana shirt and Standard boxer, 
mens, Jungle design in amber, cotton / cardboard / plastic, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed 
by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/86

Beachwear set, comprising Cabana shirt and Beachnik short, 
mens, Poncho design in green, cotton, ‘Speedo Seven Seas 
Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed by Peter Travis for 
Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 
2018. 2018/35/87

Beachwear set, comprising Cabana shirt and Standard boxer, 
mens, Tampico design in gold, cotton / plastic, ‘Speedo Seven 
Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed by Peter Travis 
for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 
2018. 2018/35/88
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Top-Rigger, mens, Todos Santos design in white, cotton, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed 
by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/89

Breaker shorts (2), mens, Todos Santos design in purple, 
cotton / metal, ‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 
1961–62’, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/90

Breaker short, mens, Todos Santos design in copper, cotton, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed 
by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/91

Capri brief, mens, Todos Santos design in purple, cotton / 
cord, ‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1959-1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/92

Top-Rigger, mens, Acapulco design in green and blue, cotton, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed 
by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/93

Capri brief, mens, Acapulco design in red and green, cotton, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed 
by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/94

Shorts, mens, Brigade design in red, cotton / cord, ‘Speedo 
Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed by 
Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/95

Breaker short, mens, Bengal Stripe design in red, cotton / 
metal / cardboard, ‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 
1961–62’, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/96

Capri brief, mens, Bengal Stripe design in blue, cotton, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed 
by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/97

Breaker short, mens, Royal Spot design in olive, cotton, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed 
by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/98

Capri brief, mens, Royal Spot design in brown, cotton, ‘Speedo 
Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed by 
Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/99

Top-Rigger, mens, Amalfi design in moss, cotton mesh / metal, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed 
by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/100

Top-Rigger, mens, El Torro design in blue, cotton / plastic, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, designed 
by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/101

Hawaiian short, mens, Madras design in putty, cotton / plastic 
/ metal, ‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/102

Standard boxer, mens, Corsica design in white and black, 
cotton / plastic, ‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 
1961–62’, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/103

Standard boxer, mens, Herringbone design in string, cotton / 
metal, ‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’, 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/104

Breaker short, mens, Herringbone design in white and 
chocolate, cotton / metal, ‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for 
Summer 1961–62’, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. 
Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 
2018/35/105

Breaker short, mens, Herringbone design in electric blue, 
cotton / metal, ‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 
1961–62’, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/106

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Starboard design, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’ collection 
by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in 
Germany, 1959–1962. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/107

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Assam design, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’ collection 
by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in 
Germany, 1959–1962. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/108
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Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for El Torro design, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’ collection 
by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in 
Paris, 1959–1962. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter 
Travis, 2018. 2018/35/109

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Nordic design, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’ collection 
by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in 
Sweden, 1959–1962. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/110

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Acapulco design, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’ collection 
by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in 
France, 1959–1962. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter 
Travis, 2018. 2018/35/111

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Samoa design, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’ collection 
by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in 
France, 1959–1962. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter 
Travis, 2018. 2018/35/112

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Amalfi design, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’ collection 
by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in 
Germany, 1959–1962. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/113

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Solerno design, 
‘Speedo Seven Seas Collection for Summer 1961–62’ collection 
by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in 
Germany, 1959–1962. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/114

Shirt, mens, cotton / cardboard, Chevron design, ‘1961 
Summer Range’, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/115

Shirt, mens, cotton / cardboard, Cross Current design, ‘1961 
Summer Range’, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/116

Shirt, mens, cotton / cardboard, Strata design, ‘1961 Winter 
Range’, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme 
Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/117

Shirt, mens, cotton / cardboard, [‘1961 Winter Range’], 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/118

Shirt, mens, cotton / cardboard / plastic, Matchstick design in 
blue and grey, ‘1961 Summer Range’, designed by Peter Travis 
for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 
2018. 2018/35/119

Shirt, mens, cotton / plastic, ‘1961 Summer Range’, designed 
by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/120

Shirts (2), mens, cotton / plastic, ‘1961 Summer Range’, 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/121

Daywear set, comprising shirt and shorts (2), mens, cotton, 
‘1961 Summer Range’, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. 
Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 
2018/35/122

Shirt, mens, cotton / plastic, Slipway design, ‘1961 Summer 
Range’, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme 
Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/123

Shirt, mens, cotton, ‘1961 Summer Range’, designed by Peter 
Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/124

Shirt, mens, cotton, ‘1961 Summer Range’, designed by Peter 
Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/125

Shirt, mens, cotton, ‘1961 Summer Range’, designed by Peter 
Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/126

Shirt, mens, cotton, ‘1961 Summer Range’, designed by Peter 
Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/127

Shirt, mens, cotton, Samarai design, ‘1961 Summer Range’, 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/128

Shirt, mens, cotton, ‘1961 Summer Range’, designed by Peter 
Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/129

Shirt, mens, cotton / plastic, designed by Peter Travis for 
Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
1959-1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 
2018. 2018/35/130

Mesh cardigan shirt, mens, cotton / plastic, designed by Peter 
Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/131

Shirt, mens, cotton, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. 
Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 
2018/35/132
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Shirt, mens, Vittorio design in fawn and brown, cotton, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Knitshirts/Walkshorts 1960/61’ 
collection, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/133

Shirt, mens, cotton, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. 
Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 
2018/35/134

Shirt, mens, cotton, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. 
Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 
2018/35/135

Shirt, mens, cotton / plastic, designed by Peter Travis for 
Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 
2018. 2018/35/136

Beachnik, mens, cotton, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. 
Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 
2018/35/137

Shirt, mens, cotton, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. 
Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 
2018/35/138

Pullover, mens, cotton, designed by Peter Travis for Speedo 
Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. 
Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 
2018/35/139

Lacer brief, mens, cotton / cord / metal, [Speedo Summer 
Range for 1959], designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/140

Tahitian brief, mens, cotton, [Speedo Summer Range for 1959], 
designed by Peter Travis for Speedo Australia, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/141

Tahitian brief, mens, cotton, designed by Peter Travis for 
Speedo Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
1959–1960. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 
2018. 2018/35/142

Fabric swatch, cotton / cardboard, used for Valencia design, 
‘Speedo Golden Sands Series Beachwear/Swimwear 1960/61’ 
collection by Peter Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, made in France, [1959–1962]. Gift of Graeme Clarke, 
in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/143

Booklet, ‘The Speedo Story’, paper / plastic, published to 
commemorate the opening of the new Speedo factory at 
Artarmon, New South Wales, Australia, on 21st February, 1957. 
Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 
2018/35/144

Clothing ensemble, girls, comprising top, skirt and 
cummerbund sash, cotton, designed by Peter Travis for his 
‘Rumpus’ label, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1957–
1959. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 
2018/35/145

Clothing ensemble, comprising top and skirt, cotton, designed 
and made by Peter Travis possibly for a fashion parade, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, c. 1960. Gift of Graeme 
Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/146

Clothing ensemble, girls, comprising top and pants, cotton, 
designed by Peter Travis for his ‘Rumpus’ label, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1957–1959. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/147

Clothing ensemble, girls, comprising top and pants, cotton, 
designed by Peter Travis for his ‘Rumpus’ label, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1957–1959. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/148

Dresses (2), girls, cotton, designed by Peter Travis for his 
‘Rumpus’ label, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1957–
1959. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 
2018/35/149

Skirt, girls, cotton, designed by Peter Travis for his ‘Rumpus’ 
label, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1957–1959. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/150

Skirt, girls, cotton, designed by Peter Travis for his ‘Rumpus’ 
label, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1957–1959. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/151

Frilled sleeve top, girls, cotton, designed by Peter Travis for his 
‘Rumpus’ label, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1957–
1959. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 
2018/35/152

Clothing ensemble, comprising top, pants and cummerbund 
sash, girls, cotton, designed by Peter Travis for his ‘Rumpus’ 
label, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1957–1959. Gift of 
Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/153

Tahitian brief, mens, with design drawing, cotton / paper, 
designed and made by Peter Travis for a fashion parade 
associated with Manly Art Gallery’s ‘Peter Travis — Designer; 
The Revolution: men’s leisurewear 1959–61’ exhibition during 
the Sydney Mardi Gras Festival, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2002. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter 
Travis, 2018. 2018/35/154

Tahitian brief, mens, with design drawing, cotton / paper, 
designed and made by Peter Travis for a fashion parade 
associated with Manly Art Gallery’s ‘Peter Travis — Designer; 
The Revolution: men’s leisurewear 1959–61’ exhibition during 
the Sydney Mardi Gras Festival, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2002. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter 
Travis, 2018. 2018/35/155
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Tahitian brief, mens, with design drawing, cotton / paper, 
designed and made by Peter Travis for a fashion parade 
associated with Manly Art Gallery’s ‘Peter Travis — Designer; 
The Revolution: men’s leisurewear 1959–61’ exhibition during 
the Sydney Mardi Gras Festival, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2002. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter 
Travis, 2018. 2018/35/156

Tahitian brief, mens, with design drawing, cotton / paper, 
designed and made by Peter Travis for a fashion parade 
associated with Manly Art Gallery’s ‘Peter Travis — Designer; 
The Revolution: men’s leisurewear 1959–61’ exhibition during 
the Sydney Mardi Gras Festival, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2002. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter 
Travis, 2018. 2018/35/157

Tahitian brief, mens, with design drawing, cotton / paper, 
designed and made by Peter Travis for a fashion parade 
associated with Manly Art Gallery’s ‘Peter Travis — Designer; 
The Revolution: men’s leisurewear 1959–61’ exhibition during 
the Sydney Mardi Gras Festival, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2002. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter 
Travis, 2018. 2018/35/158

Tahitian brief, mens, with design drawing, cotton / paper, 
designed and made by Peter Travis for a fashion parade 
associated with Manly Art Gallery’s ‘Peter Travis — Designer; 
The Revolution: men’s leisurewear 1959–61’ exhibition during 
the Sydney Mardi Gras Festival, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2002. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of Peter 
Travis, 2018. 2018/35/159

Tahitian brief, mens, cotton, designed and made by Peter 
Travis for a fashion parade associated with Manly Art Gallery’s 
‘Peter Travis — Designer; The Revolution: men’s leisurewear 
1959–61’ exhibition during the Sydney Mardi Gras Festival, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2002. Gift of Graeme 
Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/160

Tahitian brief, mens, cotton, designed and made by Peter 
Travis for a fashion parade associated with Manly Art Gallery’s 
‘Peter Travis — Designer; The Revolution: men’s leisurewear 
1959–61’ exhibition during the Sydney Mardi Gras Festival, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2002. Gift of Graeme 
Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/161

Tahitian brief, mens, cotton, designed and made by Peter 
Travis for a fashion parade associated with Manly Art Gallery’s 
‘Peter Travis — Designer; The Revolution: men’s leisurewear 
1959–61’ exhibition during the Sydney Mardi Gras Festival, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2002. Gift of Graeme 
Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/162

Tahitian brief, mens, cotton, designed and made by Peter 
Travis for a fashion parade associated with Manly Art Gallery’s 
‘Peter Travis — Designer; The Revolution: men’s leisurewear 
1959–61’ exhibition during the Sydney Mardi Gras Festival, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2002. Gift of Graeme 
Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/163

Tahitian brief, mens, cotton, designed and made by Peter 
Travis for a fashion parade associated with Manly Art Gallery’s 
‘Peter Travis — Designer; The Revolution: men’s leisurewear 
1959–61’ exhibition during the Sydney Mardi Gras Festival, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2002. Gift of Graeme 
Clarke, in memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/164

Capri brief, mens, cotton, designed and made by Peter Travis 
for a fashion parade associated with Manly Art Gallery’s ‘Peter 
Travis — Designer; The Revolution: men’s leisurewear 1959–61’ 
exhibition during the Sydney Mardi Gras Festival, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, 2002. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in 
memory of Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/165

Photographs (158), colour, Manly Art Gallery’s ‘Peter Travis — 
Designer; The Revolution: men’s leisurewear 1959–61’ 
exhibition and fashion parade during the Sydney Mardi Gras 
Festival, photographed by Jamie Travis, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 2002. Gift of Graeme Clarke, in memory of 
Peter Travis, 2018. 2018/35/166

Sculpture, ‘Enlightenment’, cotton webbing / timber cane / 
goose feathers / cotton and wool thread, designed and made 
by Grace Lillian Lee, Cairns, Australia, 2017. Purchased with 
funds from the Yasuko Myer Bequest, 2018. 2018/36/1

Wallpaper length, ‘Bloody Empire’, paper / paint, designed 
and made by Timorous Beasties, Glasgow, Scotland, 2013–
2018. Gift of Timorous Beasties, 2018. 2018/37/1

Postcards (9) in original envelope, ‘GENERAL DYNAMICS 
atoms for peace / power for peace’, colour lithographic prints 
on paper, designed by Erik Nitsche, printed by Lithos R 
Marsens, Lausanne, Switzerland, for General Dynamics, New 
York, USA, 1955. Gift of Judith Campbell, 2018. 2018/38/1

Journals (20), ‘Australia National Journal’, paper, colour 
photo-lithographic engraving, various cover designers, printed 
by Benjamin Waite of Waite & Bull, 486 Elizabeth Street, 
Sydney, published by Sydney Ure Smith, ‘Manar’, Macleay 
Street, Potts Point for Ure Smith Pty Ltd, 166 Phillip Street, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, November 1942 – 
February 1947. Gift of Peter Povey, 2018. 2018/39/1

Sculpture, ‘Gorgonia 15’, ‘Coral Works’ series, nickel-plated 
bronze and mirrored blown glass, designed and made by 
Timothy Horn, Provincetown, Massachusetts, United States of 
America, 2018. Purchased with funds from the Barry 
Willoughby Bequest, 2018. 2018/40/1

Evening dress, silk / metallic bullion work / acetate / 
diamantes, designed by Alexander McQueen, Great Britain, 
made in Italy, Autumn / Winter ready-to-wear collection 2010. 
Purchased with funds from the MAAS Foundation, 2018. 
2018/41/1

Reusable menstrual pads (6), packaging and ephemera, cotton 
/ cardboard, designed and made by hannahpad, South Korea, 
2017. Gift of hannahpad, 2017. 2018/42/1

Menstrual underwear (3), bamboo, designed and made by 
Modibodi, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2017. Gift of 
Modibodi, 2018. 2018/43/1
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Tote bag, ‘#justsayperiod’, cotton, designed by Katrin 
Friedmann for Clue, Berlin, Germany, 2017. Purchased 2018. 
2018/44/1

Menstrual products in zipped case, cotton / rayon / plastic, 
made by Libra, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia, 2017. Purchased 
2018. 2018/45/1

Tampon tins (2) and coupon in box, ‘Moxie Regular Tampons’, 
rayon / plastic / steel, designed by Moxie, Melbourne, 
Victoria, Australia, 2017. Purchased 2017. 2018/46/1

Women of NASA toy Lego set, 3 mini displays featuring 4 
accomplished people, original box and instruction booklet 
with their life stories, made by The Lego Group, 2017. 
Purchased 2018. 2018/47/1

‘Research Institute’ toy Lego set, original box and instruction 
booklet with outline of three science careers, made by The 
Lego Group, 2014. Purchased 2018. 2018/47/2

Hand drawn map, ‘Snowy Mountains Scheme’, paper / ink / 
wood, made by Edgar Ford, 1960. Gift of Malcolm Anderson, 
2018. 2018/48/1

Medal set in presentation box, Order of Australia in the 
General Division, with associated certificate and photographs, 
metal / fabric / paper / [wood / leatherette], made by the 
Royal Australian Mint, presented to Gloria Smythe, Australia, 
2009. Gift of John Banham, 2018. 2018/49/1

Eyebrows (6 pairs) and shoes (4 pairs), Siren, plastic / leather / 
spraypaint, shoes made by Siren, designed and customised by 
Romance Was Born, Sydney, Beserkergang Collection, 
Summer 2012/2013. Gift of Luke Sales and Anna Plunkett, 2017. 
2018/50/1

Fastskin LZR Elite 2 crossback kneeskin swimsuit with tag and 
packaging, womens, polyamide / elastane / paper / plastic, 
designed by Speedo International for the 2016 Rio Olympic 
Games, made in Portugal, 2016. Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 
2018/51/1

Fastskin LZR Racer X high waist jammer swim short, mens, 
polyamide / elastane / paper, designed by Speedo 
International for the 2016 Rio Olympic Games, Portugal, 2016. 
Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/51/2

Fastskin LZR Racer Elite 2 jammer swim shorts (2), mens, 
polyamide / elastane / paper, designed by Speedo 
International for the 2016 Rio Olympic Games, made in 
Portugal, 2016. Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/51/3

Fastskin LZR openwater crossback kneeskin swimsuit, 
womens, polyamide / elastane / paper, designed by Speedo 
International and Aqualab for the 2016 Rio Olympic Games, 
made in Portugal, 2016. Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 
2018/51/4

Fastskin LZR openwater crossback kneeskin swimsuit, mens, 
polyamide / elastane / paper, designed by Speedo for the 2016 
Rio Olympic Games, made in Portugal, 2016. Gift of Speedo 
Australia, 2018. 2018/51/5

Waterpolo medalist swimsuit, womens, nylon polyamide / 
elastane / polyester / paper, designed by Speedo International 
for the 2016 Rio Olympic Games, made in China, 2016. Gift of 
Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/51/6

Strikeback training swimsuit, womens, nylon polyamide / 
elastane / polyester / paper, designed by Speedo International 
for the 2016 Rio Olympic Games, made in China, 2016. Gift of 
Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/51/7

Strikeback Competition swimsuit, womens, nylon polyamide / 
elastane / polyester / paper, designed by Speedo International 
for the 2016 Rio Olympic Games, made in China, 2016. Gift of 
Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/51/8

Training Trickback swimsuit, womens, nylon polyamide / 
elastane / polyester / paper, designed by Speedo International 
for the 2016 Rio Olympic Games, made in China, 2016. Gift of 
Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/51/9

Diving Competition swim brief, mens, nylon polyamide / 
elastane / polyester / paper, designed by Speedo International 
for the 2016 Olympic Games, made in China, 2016. Gift of 
Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/51/10

Diving Training swim brief, mens, nylon polyamide / elastane / 
polyester / paper, designed by Speedo International for the 
2016 Olympic Games, made in China, 2016. Gift of Speedo 
Australia, 2018. 2018/51/11

Training swim brief, mens, nylon / paper, designed by Speedo 
International for the 2016 Olympic Games, made in China, 
2016. Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/51/12

WaterpoloTurbo swimsuit, womens, polyester / paper, 
designed by Speedo International for the 2016 Olympic 
Games, China, 2016. Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/51/13

Robe, mens / womens, polyester / polyamide, made by 
Speedo International for the Rio Olympic Games, China, 2015. 
Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/51/14

Fastskin swimming cap, silicon, designed by Speedo 
International and Aqualab for the 2016 Rio Olympic Games, 
China, 2016. Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/51/15

One-piece racer back swimsuit, mens, cotton, designed by 
Speedo, Australia, 1930-1939. Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 
2018/51/16

Training swim brief, mens, nylon polyamide / elastane / 
polyester / paper, designed by Speedo International for the 
2016 Olympic Games, made in China, 2016. Gift of Speedo 
Australia, 2018. 2018/51/17

Surveillance drone, ‘Observatine’, metal / fabric / electronics, 
designed and made by Zina Kaye and members of the Sydney 
Model Airplane Club, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
1999. Gift of Zina Kaye, 2017. 2018/52/1

3D printed object, ‘Waratah Decanter’, selective laser sintering 
/ nylon plastic, based on design by Lucien Henry, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1889–1891, modelled by Vert Design 
with Danil Gorskikh, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
2016, 3D printed by Shapeways, New York, United States of 
America, 2016. Commissioned by MAAS, 2016. 2018/53/1
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3D printed object, ‘Protea Cup’, selective laser sintering / 
nylon plastic, based on design by Lucien Henry, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1889–1891, modelled by Vert Design 
with Danil Gorskikh, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
2016, 3D printed by Shapeways, New York, United States of 
America, 2016. Commissioned by MAAS, 2016. 2018/53/2

3D printed object, ‘Waratah Punchbowl and Ladle’, selective 
laser sintering / nylon plastic, based on design by Lucien 
Henry, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1889–1891, 
modelled by Vert Design with Danil Gorskikh, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 2016, 3D printed by Shapeways, New 
York, United States of America, 2016. Commissioned by 
MAAS, 2016. 2018/53/3

Naval flag teaching kit, wood / paper / metal, c. 1900–1910. 
Purchased, 2013. 2018/54/1

Part coffee set (9 pieces), ‘Piemonte’, porcelain, designed by 
Hans T. Baumann and Emilio Pucci (decoration), made by 
Rosenthal AG, Germany, 1965–1974. Barry Willoughby 
Bequest, 2017. 2018/55/1

Sculpture, ‘Yellow with chair’, glass / metal stand, designed by 
Kjell Engman, made by Kosta Boda, Sweden, 1998. Barry 
Willoughby Bequest, 2017. 2018/56/1

Sculptural platter, glass / paint, made by Stephen Skillitzi, 
Adelaide, South Australia, c. 1984. Barry Willoughby Bequest, 
2017. 2018/57/1

Bottle form, blown glass, designed and made by Sam Herman, 
Adelaide, South Australia, 1975. Barry Willoughby Bequest, 
2017. 2018/57/2

Vase, glass, decorated by Tony Hanning on form blown by 
Richard Morrell, Victoria, Australia, c. 1988. Barry Willoughby 
Bequest, 2017. 2018/57/3

Skirt-suit, womens, comprising jacket and skirt, rayon / 
acetate, Cheap and Chic designed by Moschino, Milan, Italy, 
c. 1995. Gift of Clare Taylor, 2018. 2018/58/1

Outfit, mens, comprising suit jacket, trousers (pair), boots 
(pair), socks (pair), prescription glasses (pair), cap, rings (2), 
synthetic material / paint / metal / plastic / leather / glass / 
wood, hand painted and worn by Harold ‘The Kangaroo’ 
Thornton / Ian Carter, Sydney / Griffith, New South Wales, 
Australia, [1980]–1995. Gift of Philip Thornton, 2018. 2018/59/1

Handpainted tabard, synthetic twill fabric / leather / paint, 
handmade and worn by Harold ‘The Kangaroo’ Thornton, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1990–1995. Gift of Philip 
Thornton, 2018. 2018/59/2

Pair of leggings and shirt, mens / womens, synthetic mix 
fabric / polyacetate / plastic, worn by Harold ‘The Kangaroo’ 
Thornton, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1990–1995. 
Gift of Philip Thornton, 2018. 2018/59/3

Handpainted shirt, mens, [cotton poylester] / plastic / metal, 
painted and worn by Harold ‘The Kangaroo’ Thornton, made 
by Elsbach, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1988–2000. 
Gift of Philip Thornton, 2018. 2018/59/4

Handpainted shirt, mens, cotton polyester / plastic, painted 
and worn by Harold ‘The Kangaroo’ Thornton, made by 
Whitmont, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1988–2000. 
Gift of Philip Thornton, 2018. 2018/59/5

Handpainted shoes (pair), mens, leather / metal, painted and 
worn by Harold ‘The Kangaroo’ Thornton, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1995–2000. Gift of Philip Thornton, 2018. 
2018/59/6

Handpainted guitar, wood / nylon / plastic / metal / paper, 
painted and used by Harold ‘The Kangaroo’ Thornton, made 
by Lorenzo, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia / Japan, 
1980–2000. Gift of Philip Thornton, 2018. 2018/59/7

Handpainted suitcase, card / metal, painted and used by 
Harold ‘The Kangaroo’ Thornton, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1980–1995. Gift of Philip Thornton, 2018. 2018/59/8

Print, ‘Dr Brown and Green Old Time Waltz’, paper, from an 
original painting by Harold ‘The Kangaroo’ Thornton, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, 1985. Gift of Philip Thornton, 
2018. 2018/59/9

Doll and packaging, ‘Minnie Peters’, textile / porcelain / paper, 
made by Anne Keane Dolls, Western Australia, Australia, 
1985–1990. Gift of Serena Potts, 2018. 2018/60/1

T-shirt, ‘The Pope Is Wrong, Put A Condom On’, fabric / vinyl, 
NoToPope Coalition for World Youth Day 2008, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 2008. Gift of John Petersen, 2018. 
2018/61/1

Textile lengths (2), screenprinted, Susan Marawarr ‘Mandjabu 
/ Fish Trap’ and Linda Gurawana ‘Kun-madj  / Dilly Bags’, 
Bábbarra Women’s Art Centre, Maningrida, Arnhem Land, 
Northern Territory, Australia, 2017. Purchased 2017. 2018/62/1

Banners (2), marriage equality, ‘Vote Yes’, fabric / metal, made 
for Sydney City Council, displayed in Oxford Street Sydney in 
September and October 2017, New South Wales, Australia, 
2017. Gift of Sydney City Council, 2017. 2018/63/1

Research Reports (4), Gelatine and Glue Industry, Jack S. 
Oxnam for Davis Gelatine, paper, Germany and England, 1946. 
Gift of Pamela Evans, 2018. 2018/64/1

Documents, (8), travel authorisations, Jack S. Oxnam for Davis 
Gelatine, paper, England / Germany, 1946. Gift of Pamela 
Evans, 2018. 2018/64/2

Photographs (26), black and white, paper, Jack S. Oxnam, 
England / Germany, 1946. Gift of Pamela Evans, 2018. 
2018/64/3

Ration Book, Ministry of Food, 1946-1947, paper / cardboard / 
metal, issued to Jack S. Oxnam, England, 1947. Gift of Pamela 
Evans, 2018. 2018/64/4

Travel documents (2), and Post Office receipt, travel England 
to Australia via India, paper, for Mr Jack S. Oxnam, England, 
1947. Gift of Pamela Evans, 2018. 2018/64/5

Identity card, permit, World War 2, cardboard / paper / 
leather, owned by Jack S. Oxnam, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1941–1943. Gift of Pamela Evans, 2018. 2018/64/6
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Travel documents (3), Sydney to Johannesburg, paper, for Mr 
Jack S. Oxnam, Australia, 1951. Gift of Pamela Evans, 2018. 
2018/64/7

Flying boots, RAF 1941 Pattern, suede / wool / metal / leather 
/ rubber, owned by Jack S. Oxnam, made by ITS Rubber 
Company Ltd, England, c. 1941. Gift of Pamela Evans, 2018. 
2018/64/8

Suitcase, ‘Globite’, cardboard / paper / metal / leather / 
plastic, owned by Jack S. Oxnam, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia. Gift of Pamela Evans, 2018. 2018/64/9

Railway souvenir, ‘New South Wales By Train / Travel by Train 
Service Speed Safety’, volvelle or circular slide chart featuring 
information about 48 railway towns in New South Wales, 
cardboard, designed and printed by Waite and Bull, Sydney, 
made for New South Wales Railway’s exhibit at Royal 
Agricultural Society’s Show (Easter Show), Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1938. Gift of Laurie King, 2018. 2018/65/1

Railway souvenir, ‘Travel by Train Consign by Rail’, volvelle or 
circular slide chart featuring information about 48 railway 
stations in New South Wales, cardboard, made by North 
Sydney Printing Pty Ltd, North Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1950s, made for New South Wales Department of 
Railways’ exhibit at Royal Agricultural Society’s Show (Easter 
Show), Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1950s. Gift of 
Laurie King, 2018. 2018/65/2

Painting, portrait of Quong Tart, canvas / oil paints / wood, 
Jiawei Shen, Australia, 2003. Gift of Jiawei Shen, 2018. 
2018/66/1

Collection of textile samples in box, titled ‘Peace Collection’, 
designs by Robyn Caughlan, produced by Signature Prints, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2001–2002. Gift of David 
Lennie, 2018. 2018/67/1

Optical flat, glass, made and used by Sydney Elwin, probably 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1970. Gift of George 
Smith, 2018. 2018/68/1

Protest material (5), ‘Socogzilla takes over the park’, consisting 
of posters (3) ‘Socogzilla rids the city of the homeless’, and 
‘Keep taking your medication’, t-shirt ‘ Keep taking your 
medication’, sticker ‘Keep taking your medication’, fabric / 
paper, designed by Nick Bleasel, Sydney, New South Wales. 
Australia, 1999. Gift of Nick Bleasel, 2018. 2018/69/1

Platter, ‘Refugees Series No: 2’, earthenware, designed and 
made by Paul Scott, England, 2016. Purchased 2018. 2018/70/1

Jacket, wool/ silk satin, designed by Hedi Slimane, made in 
Italy by Dior Homme, Paris, ‘Strip’ collection, Spring-Summer 
2004. Purchased with funds donated by the Sydney TAFE 
Fashion Students Vocation Club, 2018. 2018/71/1

Scarf (hijab) in box, ‘Pride’, silk, designed by MOGA Fashion, 
Melbourne, Victoria, Australia, 2017. Purchased, 2018. 
2018/72/1

Meccano model of a railway breakdown crane, operating, 
metal, of old Meccano parts made by Meccano Ltd, Liverpool, 
England, 1901–1970, reconditioned and assembled by Malcolm 
Booker, Belrose, New South Wales, Australia, 2015–2016, 
using Meccano Model Plan 211. Gift of June Booker and family, 
in memory of the late Malcolm Booker, 2018. 2018/73/1

Meccano model of a 1937 Morgan three-wheeler sports car, 
made of parts by Meccano Ltd, Liverpool, England, assembled 
by Malcolm Booker, Belrose, New South Wales, Australia, 
2015–2016, using Meccano Model Plan 207 by Peter 
Matthews, 2014. Gift of June Booker and family, in memory of 
the late Malcolm Booker, 2018. 2018/73/2

Hansom cab licence, ‘Form of Licence for Proprietors and 
Drivers’, No.243, in the name of Patrick Joseph Horan (Ryan’s 
Hotel) for Cab No.3, paper, issued by Municipality of 
Goulburn, New South Wales, Australia, 12 January 1905, 
printed by [W.S. Foxall], Goulburn, New South Wales, 
Australia, before 1905. Gift of Mrs R. J. Kearns, 2018. 2018/74/1

Fastskin3 Super Elite kneeskin swimsuits (2), womens, with 
gloves, ‘Hydro-K Zone 3D Fabric & Pulse Flex Fabric’ (2), and 
product information sheets (2), polyamide / elastane / paper, 
designed and made by Speedo International for the London 
2012 Olympic Games, Australia / Portugal, 2012. Gift of 
Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/75/1

Fastskin3 Super Elite jammer swim shorts (2), mens, with 
gloves (1), ‘Hydro-K Zone 3D Fabric & Pulse Flex Fabric’ (2), 
product information sheet (2), caps (2) and goggles (2) in box, 
polyamide / elastane / synthetic / silicone / cardboard / 
paper, designed and made by Speedo International for the 
London 2012 Olympic Games, Australia / Portugal, 2012. Gift 
of Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/75/2

LZR Racer Elite jammer swim shorts (2), mens, polyamide / 
elastane, designed and made by Speedo International for the 
London 2012 Olympic Games, Australia / Portugal, 2012. Gift 
of Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/75/3

LZR Racer Elite Recordbreaker kneeskin swimsuits (2), 
womens, polyamide / elastane, designed by Speedo 
International for the London 2012 Olympic Games, Australia / 
Portugal, 2012. Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/75/4

Waterpolo competition swimsuits (2), womens, PBT polyester 
/ polyester, designed and made by Speedo Australia for the 
London 2012 Olympic Games, Australia / China, 2012. Gift of 
Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/75/5

Waterpolo competition swim brief (2), mens, PBT polyester / 
polyester, designed and made by Speedo Australia for the 
London 2012 Olympic Games, Australia / China, 2012. Gift of 
Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/75/6

Diving competition swimsuit (2), womens, polyester / 
elastane, designed and made by Speedo Australia for the 
London 2012 Olympic Games, Australia, 2012. Gift of Speedo 
Australia, 2018. 2018/75/7

Training swim briefs (2), mens, nylon, designed and made by 
Speedo Australia for the London 2012 Olympic Games, 
Australia / China, 2012. Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 
2018/75/8
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Training swim briefs (2), mens, PBT polyester / polyester, 
designed and made by Speedo Australia for the London 2012 
Olympic Games, Australia / China, 2012. Gift of Speedo 
Australia, 2018. 2018/75/9

Training swimsuit (2), womens, PBT polyester / polyester, 
designed and made by Speedo Australia for the London 2012 
Olympic Games, Australia / China, 2012. Gift of Speedo 
Australia, 2018. 2018/75/10

Training two-piece swimsuit (2), womens, PBT polyester / 
polyester, designed and made by Speedo Australia for the 
London 2012 Olympic Games, Australia / China, 2012. Gift of 
Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/75/11

Swimsuit, womens, polyester elastane (S2000), designed and 
made by Speedo for the Barcelona 1992 Olympic Games, 
Australia / China, 1992. Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 
2018/75/12

Fastskin LZR Racer Suit with case, polyamide / elastane, 
designed and made by Speedo for the Australian team 
competing at the Beijing 2008 Olympic Games, Australia / 
Portugal, 2008. Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/75/13

LZR Racer Suit, womens, polyamide / elastane, designed and 
made by Speedo for the Beijing 2008 Olympic Games, 
Australia / Portugal, 2008. Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 
2018/75/14

Speedo jammer swim short, mens, polyamide / elastane, 
designed and made by Speedo for the Beijing 2008 Olympic 
Games, developed in the Speedo Aqualab, Australia / 
Portugal, 2008. Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/75/15

Speedo jammer swim short, ‘Jammer 26’, mens, polyamide / 
elastane, designed and made by Speedo for the Beijing 2008 
Olympic Games, developed in the Speedo Aqualab, Australia / 
Portugal, 2008. Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/75/16

LZR Racer Suit, womens, polyamide / elastane, designed and 
made by Speedo for the Beijing 2008 Olympic Games, 
Australia / Portugal, 2008. Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 
2018/75/17

Fastskin FS-Pro Bodysuit (2), mens, polyester / elastane, 
designed and made by Speedo for the World Swimming 
Championships 2007, Australia / Portugal, 2007. Gift of 
Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/75/18

Swimsuit, ‘Commes des Garçons for Speedo’, and cap, 
womens, nylon / polyamide / elastane, designed and made by 
Commes des Garçons for Speedo, Australia / Portugal, 2008. 
Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/75/19

Collection of swimwear advertising booklets (18), CDs in 
covers (2) and photographic publication (1), Speedo, Australia, 
2003-2012. Gift of Speedo Australia, 2018. 2018/75/20

Electronic synthesizer, ARP Odyssey Mk I (Model 2800), 
plastic / metal / electronic components, used by Ash 
Wednesday, Australia, designed and manufactured by ARP 
Instruments, Inc. USA, 1975-1978. Gift of Ash Wednesday, 
2018. 2018/76/1

Mini centrifuge and micro test tube holder, plastic / metal / 
electronic components, made by Bio-Rad, used by The Garvan 
Institute, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2017. Gift of 
Garvan Institute, 2018. 2018/77/1

Container, for needle disposal, needle and syringe, plastic / 
metal, made by Becton Dickinson ‘Vacutainer’ Systems, 
Franklin, New Jersey, United States of America, used by The 
Garvan Institute, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2005. 
Gift of Garvan Institute, 2018. 2018/77/2

Biopsy punch, plastic / metal, made by Stiefel Laboratories, 
Melbourne, Victoria, Australia, used by The Garvan Institute, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2005. Gift of Garvan 
Institute, 2018. 2018/77/3

Magnetic stirrer, magnetic flea and beaker, plastic / magnet / 
glass / electronic components, stirrer made by IKA, Germany, 
used by the Garvan Institute, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2005. Gift of Garvan Institute, 2018. 2018/77/4

Vacutainer tubes (2), glass / plastic, made by Becton 
Dickinson VACUTAINER Systems, Franklin Lakes, New Jersey, 
United States of America, used by The Garvan Institute, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2005. Gift of Garvan 
Institute, 2018. 2018/77/5

Precision balance, Adventurer Pro model ‘AV412’, metal / 
plastic / electronic components, made by Ohaus Corporation, 
Pine Brook, New Jersey, United States of America, used by 
The Garvan Institute, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
2017. Gift of Garvan Institute, 2018. 2018/77/6

Electronic pipette gun, Thermo Scientific model ‘S1’, plastic / 
metal / electronic components, made by Thermo Fisher 
Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, United States of America, 
used by The Garvan Institute, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2017. Gift of Garvan Institute, 2018. 2018/77/7

Bench top centrifuge, ‘Heraeus Biofuge 13’, plastic / metal / 
electronic components, made by Heraeus Instruments, used 
by The Garvan Institute, Sydney, Australia, 2017. Gift of Garvan 
Institute, 2018. 2018/77/8

Sculpture ‘Lyrebird 2’, glazed earthenware, designed and 
made by Peter Cooley, Leura, New South Wales, Australia, 
2017–2018. Purchased 2018. 2018/78/1

Digital photographs (65) and digital video footage (2–3 min) 
from ‘Life of an Island Man’ taken by Trevor Graham, Mer 
(Murray Island) Canberra, Townsville, Thursday Island, 1989–
1997. Purchased with funds from the MAAS Foundation, 2018. 
2018/79/1
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6. LEGISLATIVE CHANGES 

There was one legislative change which affected the Museum 
in 2017/18. 

In 1961 the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Regulation 
was introduced to deal with aspects of meeting procedures 
and management of the Museum. There is a statutory 
requirement to review the Regulation every five years. The 
most recent regulation came into force on 1 September 2017.

7. OVERSEAS TRAVEL (LIST) 

D Merrillees, Director, 16–23 Aug, USA. To meet with key 
institutions in Washington D.C. including the National Air and 
Space Museum and National Museum of African American 
History and Culture (recall to duty, accommodation and daily 
allowance only).

M Pitkin, Curator, 29 Aug – 14 Sept, USA, Germany. Presented 
a paper at two international conferences following the success 
of the MAAS’s Egyptian Mummies: Exploring Ancient Lives 
exhibition (part external funding).

D Merrillees, Director, 11–22 Sept, Germany, UAE. Invited to 
present at the Aedes Network Campus Berlin and DFAT 
Australia Now Symposium and to meet with museum 
professionals in Abu Dhabi (part external funding).

P Denham, Director Curatorial, Collections and Exhibitions,  
21–28 Sept, South Korea. Awarded K-Fellowship for Arts and 
Culture, met with artists involved in current MAAS exhibition 
Common Good (externally funded) 

D Merrillees, Director, 9 – 30 Oct, U.K., France, Morocco. To 
attend the Applied Arts Director’s Conference in Paris and 
meet with Museum professionals in London, Paris and 
Marrakech to discuss possible opportunities for collaboration 
on the MAAS forward exhibition plan.

M Kim, Curator, 22 Oct – 5 Nov, South Korea. To participate in 
the 2017 Korean Art Workshop for Overseas Curators (part 
external funding).

K Ford, Exhibition Project Coordinator, 27 Oct – 5 Nov, 
Malaysia. To install the MAAS travelling exhibition Faith, 
Fashion, Fusion in Kuala Lumpur (externally funded).

G Jones, Curator, 27 Oct – 5 Nov, Malaysia. To install the 
MAAS travelling exhibition Faith, Fashion, Fusion in Kuala 
Lumpur (externally funded). 

S Chee, Conservator, 12–27 Nov, China, Hong Kong. To take 
part in a textile conservation workshop in Beijing which 
preceded a symposium at the Hong Kong Polytechnic 
University (part external funding).

T Sharp, Director Programs and Engagement, 12–22 Nov, 
Japan. To attend the Science Centre World Summit 2017 in 
Tokyo and meet with cultural institutions to discuss visitor 
experience, science and technology and children’s museums.

S Chee, Conservator, 27 Jan – 1 Feb, Malaysia. To de-install 
the MAAS travelling exhibition Faith, Fashion, Fusion in Kuala 
Lumpur (externally funded).

J McLean, Registrar, 27 Jan – 1 Feb, Malaysia. To De-install the 
MAAS travelling exhibition Faith, Fashion, Fusion in Kuala 
Lumpur (funded externally).

K Ford, Exhibition Project Coordinator, 25 Feb – 2 Mar, 
Indonesia. To install the MAAS travelling exhibition Faith, 
Fashion, Fusion in Jakarta (funded externally).

G Jones, Curator, 25 Feb – 2 Mar, Indonesia. To install the 
MAAS travelling exhibition Faith, Fashion, Fusion in Jakarta 
(funded externally).

P Denham, Director Curatorial Collections and Exhibitions,  
15–19 Mar, New Zealand. To meet with Te Papa Toi Art Gallery.

S Winston, Registrar, 18 Mar – 23 Mar, Indonesia. To de-install 
the MAAS travelling exhibition Faith, Fashion, Fusion in 
Jakarta (funded externally).

J Latief, Exhibition Project Coordinator, 18 Mar – 23 Mar, 
Indonesia. To de-install the MAAS travelling exhibition Faith, 
Fashion, Fusion in Jakarta (funded externally).

A Baskaran, Digital Studio Manager, 17–25 Apr, Canada, USA. 
To attend and present at the Museum of the Web conference 
in Vancouver and meet with institutions and partners in 
Seattle including Microsoft.

8. MAJOR WORKS STATEMENT 

There was no major capital work project undertaken by the 
Museum over the 2017/18 financial year. The Museum 
classifies major works as a single project funded by NSW 
Treasury Capital Grant in excess of $5 million.
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9. STAFFING NUMBERS (AGAINST LAST 3 YEARS) 

FTE at June 30 2016 2017 2018 Difference
Directorate

Executive Support 3 4.8 4.4 -0.4

Infrastructure Engagement 0.8 0 0 0

Directors 5 5 4 -1

Total 8.8 9.8 8.4 -1.4
Curatorial Collections & Exhibitions

Curatorial 22.4 20.6 20.8 0.2

Library Services 4 4 4 0

Strategic Collections 3 2 2 0

Indigenous Engagement & Strategy 2 2

Exhibitions 8.6 9.6 11 1.4

Workshop 5 4 4 0

Registration 17.2 19.8 15.4 -4.4

Conservation 16.6 15.6 15.8 0.2

Production 1 1 -1

Editorial & Publishing 4 5 4.6 -0.4

Total 81.8 81.6 79.4 -2.2
Corporate Resources

Human Resources 5 4 4 0

Governance, Planning and Reporting 3.8 3 3 0

Finance 12.6 11.4 11.2 -0.2

Property Services 4 5 4 -1

Mechanical Services 4 1 0 -1

Facilities and Asset Management 3 4 3 -1

Security Operations 5 5 5 0

Records 2 2 2 0

Volunteer Programs 2.5 2.5 2.4 -0.1

Commercial 1 1 1 0

Events 4.6 4.6 5.6 1

Shop 1 1 0

Information and Communications Technology 6.6 5.6 6.6 1

Total 41.9 37.9 48.8 10.9
Communications & External Affairs

Communications 3.8 5.6 5.6 0

Development 4 5.2 3.2 -2

Audience Research & Analysis 1 0 1 1

Government Relations and External Affairs 1 0 0 0

Memberships Program 0.8 1.8 2.8 1

Total 16.2 19.2 12.6 -6.6
Programs & Engagement

Sydney Observatory 4.4 2.8 1 -1.8

Regional Programs 1 0 0

Discovery Centre 3 3 1 -2

Digital and Media 2 3 -3

Media Technologies 5 5 6 1

Partnerships and Festivals 5 5 5 0

Education and Digital Learning 5 7 5 -2

Programs 3 3 1.6 -1.4

Visitor Services and Venues 22.4 25.4 24.4 -1

Digital Studio 7.8 8 9 1

Total 65.2 67.8 53 -14.8
MUSEUM TOTAL (non-casual) 213.9 216.3 202.4 -13.9
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10. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY (EEO) STATISTICS 

A. Trends in the Representation  
of EEO Groups % of Total Staff

EEO Group Benchmark  
or Target 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Women 53% 48% 47% 53% 58% 62% 63% 68%

Aboriginal people and Torres Strait 
Islanders

1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1.20% 1.20% 1%

People whose first language was 
not English

38% 17% 16% 17% 11% 10% 8% 8%

People with a disability 9% 7% 7% 7% 5% 0% 5% 5%

People with a disability requiring 
work-related adjustment

1% 1% 1% 2% 0% 0% 0% 0%

B. Trends in the Distribution of 
EEO Groups Distribution Index

EEO Group Benchmark  
or Target 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Women 108 108 105 108 107 108 108 107

Aboriginal people and Torres Strait 
Islanders

n/a n/a n/a 2 n/a n/a n/a n/a

People whose first language was 
not English

97 97 97 62 n/a n/a n/a n/a

People with a disability n/a n/a n/a 16 n/a n/a n/a n/a

People with a disability requiring 
work-related adjustment

n/a n/a n/a 4 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Notes:
1. Includes casual staff.
2. A Distribution Index of 100 indicates that the centre of the distribution of the EEO group across salary levels is equivalent to that of other staff. 

Values less than 100 mean that the EEO group tends to be more concentrated at lower salary levels than is the case for other staff. The more 
pronounced this tendency is, the lower the index will be. In some cases the index may be more than 100, indicating that the EEO group is less 
concentrated at lower salary levels. The Distribution Index is automatically calculated by the software provided by the Department of Premier and 
Cabinet.

3. The Distribution Index is not calculated where EEO group or non-EEO group numbers are less than 20.

 
Comparison of staff by occupational category:

Staff Numbers (EFT) Powerhouse Museum (non-casual)

Occupation Group 2010–11 2011–12 2012–13 2013–14 2014–15 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18

Manager and administrators 32 33 30 31.8 36.6 35 36 33

Professionals 118 110 102 60.5 53.7 77 78 75

Technicians and associate professionals 35 36 31 49 41.1 40 42 40

Tradespersons and related workers 18 17 12 20 12 13 10 6

Advanced clerical, sales and service workers 7 6 5 5 1 3 4 3

Intermediate clerical, sales and service workers 63.2 63.6 61.8 69.5 41 37 37 37

Intermediate production and transport workers 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0

Elementary clerical, sales and service workers 4 4 3 3 2.6 8 9 8

Labourers and related workers 6 7 6 3 0 0 0 0

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 284.2 277.6 251.8 242.8 188 213 216 202

Notes:
Staff employed at the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences are part of the Department of Planning & Environment
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11. SENIOR EXECUTIVE

During 2017–18 the following were members of the State 
Government Senior Executive Service

Band Position title Gender

2 Director — Dolla Merrillees Female

1
Director Corporate Resources, Chief 
Financial Officer — Andrew Elliott

Male

1 Director Public Engagement — Tristan Sharp Male

1
Director Curatorial Collections and 
Exhibitions — Peter Denham

Male

1
Director New Museum Project — Michael 
Parry

Male

1
Director Development & External Affairs — 
Leann Meiers

Female

Band 30-Jun-16 30-Jun-17 30-Jun-18

4 0 0 0

3 0 0 0

2 1 1 1

1 5 5 4

CEO under s11A 0 0 0

Total 6 6 5

Number of female SES 4 2 2

Band RANGE $ 
Average Remuneration 

2016/7 2017/18 

3 $337,101.00 $520,133.00 0 0 

2 $268,001.00 $370,837.00 $307,500 $315,187 

1 $187,900.00 $290,491.00 $220,671 $226,461 

0.37% of MAAS employee-related expenditure was related to 
senior executives, compared with 0.42% in 2016–17.

12. DIGITAL INFORMATION SECURITY 
ATTESTATION STATEMENT 

I, Andrew Elliott, Acting Director, am of the opinion that the 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences had an Information 
Security Management System in place in the 2017–18 financial 
year that is consistent with the Core Requirements set out in 
the NSW Government Digital Information Security Policy. 

I, Andrew Elliott, Acting Director of the Museum of Applied 
Arts and Sciences am of the opinion that the security controls 
in place to mitigate identified risks to the digital information 
and digital information systems of the Museum of Applied 
Arts and Sciences are adequate for the foreseeable future. 

13. GUARANTEE OF SERVICE

Our commitment to our customers. 

The Museum is committed to continuous improvement in its 
quality of service. We regularly evaluate our exhibitions, 
programs and services. 

Our service standards 

When you visit the Museum you will find: 

• friendly, responsive and efficient staff; 

• well-maintained exhibitions and buildings; 

• a commitment to caring for objects in the collection and on 
loan to the Museum; 

• accurate and appropriate information in response to your 
inquiries; 

• a high standard of safety and security; 

• appropriate facilities (rest areas, cafes, toilets, baby change 
room) for you to use; 

• appropriate access and services for those with special 
needs (eg people with disabilities and those with a 
language background other than English); 

• signage and information brochures that are helpful and 
easy to understand; 

• printed information about Museum events in plain English; 

• special services including:  

 – guided tours in community languages, including sign 
language, on a booked basis (minimum two weeks’ 
notice), depending on availability of guides;  

 – guided tours for visitors with blindness or low vision on a 
booked basis (minimum two weeks’ notice) depending 
on availability of guides. For bookings and enquiries 
please call (02 9217 0222) or email book@maas.museum.  

Our expectations of our visitors  

We expect you to treat our staff, volunteers and exhibitions 
with care and respect. We reserve the right to refuse 
admission to patrons who behave inappropriately.  

What to do if you have a suggestion or 
complaint  

We welcome your comments and any suggestions you may 
have for improving our services. If you are visiting the Museum 
and have any comments, please talk to one of the staff. A 
comments form is available at the cloaking desk if you have a 
compliment, suggestion or complaint you wish to put in 
writing. You may also contact us through the Museum’s 
website: powerhousemuseum.com. Alternatively, please feel 
free to email the Museum (feedback@maas.museum).  
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Our commitment to you  

Any written suggestion or complaint you make to the Museum 
will be responded to within 10 working days. 

MAAS engages with stakeholders and receives feedback 
(including information, comments, opinions and criticism) 
which is valued and considered. During the last reporting year, 
MAAS received feedback from 323 stakeholders which 
contributed to the planning and delivery of services to the 
general public. Specifically, the following improvements were 
made as a result of feedback received:

• Clarification of content on the MAAS website relating to 
parking, wayfinding and content improvement for programs

• Organised sensory sessions in the exhibition Future Park
• Additional seating throughout the Museum
• Provision of big print guides in exhibitions

14. PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURE 
REPORTING AS REQUIRED BY PUBLIC 
INTEREST DISCLOSURE ACT 1994 (ALSO TO 
BE PROVIDED TO THE NSW OMBUDSMAN)

Public Interest Disclosures:

Number of officials who made PIDs — 0
Number of PIDs received — 0
Number of PIDs finalised — 0 

15. PRIVACY REVIEWS UNDER THE PRIVACY 
AND PERSONAL INFORMATION PROTECTION 
ACT 1998 

The Museum did not receive any privacy reviews during the 
reporting year under the Privacy and Personal Information 
Protection Act 1998.

16. PUBLIC ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Under section 7(3) of the Government Information (Public 
Access) (GIPA) Act 2009 the Museum has reviewed the 
currency and nature of information made publicly available 
and has reported on this in the reporting template below.

MAAS releases information regarding exhibitions, programs 
and venues on the MAAS website. In addition to this, the 
online collection is a rich source of information made available 
to the public with over 130,000 object records available as at 
30 June 2018.

MAAS publishes the following blogs online: Inside the 
Collection and Observations (a blog to help the public learn 
about the southern night sky, with Sydney Observatory 
providing an audio guide or podcast with a transcript of that 
audio and a sky map or chart each month) and also publishes 
articles from the MAAS Magazine.

Following the recent Government announcement regarding 
the relocation of the Powerhouse Museum to Parramatta,  
MAAS developed a website dedicated to the MAAS Project 
and proactively releases information about the project, 
consultation undertaken, frequently asked questions and 
media releases regarding the MAAS Project.

The Museum received 2 access applications in regard to the 
Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009 in 2017–18 
and accepted both of these applications as valid applications 
under the GIPA Act.

The following information has been submitted to the NSW 
Information and Privacy Commission as part of annual 
reporting obligations of agencies under section 125 of the 
Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009.
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Government Information (Public Access) Act – Annual Report for Agency Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences

Page: 1By  on  for FY: 2017-18Larissa Kotlaroff 05/10/2018 12:26 PM

Clause 7A: Details of the review carried out by the agency under section 7 (3) of the Act during the reporting year and the details
of any information made publicly available by the agency as a result of the review

Reviews carried out by the agency Information made publicly available by the agency

Yes Yes

Following a review undertaken by MAAS for this reporting year, MAAS continues to release information regarding exhibitions,
programs and venues on the MAAS website. In addition to this, the online collection is a rich source of information made
available to the public with over 130,000 object records available as at 30 June 2018. MAAS publishes the following blogs
online: Inside the Collection and Observations (a blog to help the public learn about the southern night sky, with Sydney
Observatory providing an audio guide or podcast with a transcript of that audio and a sky map or chart each month) and also
publishes articles from the MAAS Magazine. Following the recent Government announcement regarding the relocation of the
Powerhouse Museum to Parramatta, MAAS developed a website dedicated to the MAAS Project and proactively releases
information about the project, consultation undertaken, frequently asked questions and media releases regarding the MAAS
Project.

Clause 7B: The total number of access applications received by the agency during the reporting year (including withdrawn
applications but not including invalid applications)

Total number of applications received

6

Clause 7C: The total number of access applications received by the agency during the reporting year that the agency refused
either wholly or partly, because the application was for the disclosure of information refered to in Schedule 1 to the Act
(information for which there is conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure)

Number of Applications
Refused

Wholly Partly Total

  0 0 0

% of Total 0% 0%  
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Schedule 2 Statistical information about access applications to be included in annual report 

Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome*

  
Access
Granted
in Full

Access
Granted
in Part

Access
Refused
in Full

Information
not Held

Information
Already

Available

Refuse to
Deal with

Application

Refuse to
Confirm/Deny

whether
information is

held

Application
Withdrawn

Total
% of
Total

Media 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
Members of
Parliament

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

Private sector
business

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

Not for profit
organisations
or community
groups

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

Members of
the public (by
legal
representative)

0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 50%

Members of
the public
(other)

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 50%

Total 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

% of Total 50% 50% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

* More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made in relation
to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.
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Table B: Number of applications by type of application and outcome*

  
Access
Granted
in Full

Access
Granted
in Part

Access
Refused
in Full

Information
not Held

Information
Already

Available

Refuse to
Deal with

Application

Refuse to
Confirm/Deny

whether
information is

held

Application
Withdrawn

Total
% of
Total

Personal
information
applications*

0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 50%

Access
applications
(other than
personal
information
applications)

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 50%

Access
applications
that are
partly
personal
information
applications
and partly
other

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

Total 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

% of Total 50% 50% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

* A personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of Schedule 4 to
the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual).
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Table C: Invalid applications
Reason for invalidity No of applications % of Total

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 0 0%

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 0 0%

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0 0%

Total number of invalid applications received 0 0%

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 0 0%

Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure: matters listed in Schedule 1 of Act

    
Number of times

consideration used*
% of Total

Overriding secrecy laws 0 0%

Cabinet information 0 0%

Executive Council information 0 0%

Contempt 0 0%

Legal professional privilege 0 0%

Excluded information 0 0%

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0 0%

Transport safety 0 0%

Adoption 0 0%

Care and protection of children 0 0%

Ministerial code of conduct 0 0%

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0 0%

Total 0  

*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and if so, each such
consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also applies in relation to Table E
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Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure: matters listed in table to section 14 of Act

    
Number of times

consideration used*
% of Total

Responsible and effective government 0 0%

Law enforcement and security 0 0%

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 1 100%

Business interests of agencies and other persons 0 0%

Environment, culture, economy and general matters 0 0%

Secrecy provisions 0 0%

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation 0 0%

Total 1  

Table F: Timeliness
     Number of applications* % of Total

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 2 100%

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 0 0%

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 0 0%

Total 2  
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Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and outcome)
     Decision varied Decision upheld Total % of Total

Internal review 0 0 0 0%

Review by Information Commissioner* 0 0 0 0%
Internal review following recommendation under
section 93 of Act

0 0 0 0%

Review by NCAT 0 0 0 0%

Total 0 0 0

% of Total 0% 0%    

*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendations to the original
decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision has been made by
the Information Commissioner. 

Table H: Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant)

 
Number of applications

for review
% of Total

Applications by access applicants 0 0%
Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access
application relates (see section 54 of the Act)

0 0%

Total 0  

Table I: Applications transferred to other agencies.

 
Number of applications

transferred
% of Total

Agency-Initiated Transfers 0 0%

Applicant - Initiated Transfers 0 0%

Total 0  
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17. VOLUNTEERS

John A’beckett 
Joanne Acton 
Vinod Ahluwalia 
Isha Ahmad 
Samirah Ali 
Chloe Appleby 
Beth Bailey 
Gara Baldwin 
Erica Balilo 
Peter Bamford 
Clare Banks 
Marion Barker 
Sarah Barns 
Afifa Batool 
Daisy Beattie 
Judith Bedford 
Kate Belfield 
Lachlan Bell 
Celia Berry 
Kimberley Bezuidenhout 
Tanya Blake 
Terry Blanch 
George Bolton 
Alexandra Boyd 
Edna Boyd 
Mark Boyle 
Joyce Bradbury 
Hannah Bradshaw 
Rowland Broady 
Emily Brokenshire 
Ken Bruce 
Robert Burford 
Maree Burnett 
Neil Burtt 
Roderick Byatt 
Audrey Byrne 
Judith Campbell 
Victor Candor 
Wei Cao 
Sam Cejvan 
John Chambers 
Jaz Chan 
Rebecca Chan 
Yifei Chan 
Angie Chen 
Maggie Chen 
Lesley Cherry 
Lynne Cheshire 
Aliza Chin 
Stephanie Chinneck 
Ka Ngor Choy 
Kenneth Chuang 
Wendy Circosta 
Jean Clark 
Aileen Claydon 
Greg Coan 
Geoff Cocks 
Robert Cole 
Jacqueline Colefax 
Shannon Collis 

Jon Comino 
John Cooper 
Leon Corn 
Maddison Cox 
Raffaela Daboval 
Abigail Danao 
Graham Dare 
Alvin Darmawan 
Nakita Dass 
Caitlin Davies 
Paige Davis 
Katherine Day 
Marcus Day 
Ian Debenham 
Siobhan Dickson 
Michelle Ding 
Kevin Dodds 
Elizabeth Doepel 
Jing Dong 
Alice Dove 
Denise Driver 
Lucy Dumitrescu 
Wayne Eagle 
John Ebner 
Alan Edwards 
Jay Ekers 
David Elliott 
Roger Elliott 
Vicki Elsom 
Larissa Fedunik-Hofman 
Grant Feng 
Shuo Feng 
Julia Foong 
Rebecca Forster-Osborne 
Nicholas Fung 
Emma Gallagher 
Nicole Gammie 
Robert Gardiner 
Aileen Gardner 
Katrina Garlick 
Lynnette Gaze 
Christina Geeves 
Shima Gholami 
Maureen Gibson 
Ellie Godworth 
Cindy Gordon 
Emily Graham 
Andrew Grant 
Scarlet Gray 
Dorothy Green 
Mary Green 
Steve Green 
Josephine Greenall-Ota 
Isaac Gunther 
Nicholas Gysi 
Dinah Hales 
Megan Hall 
Anthony Harris 
Emma Harrison 
Lina Harvey 
Lesley Harwood 
Annabell Hawtin 

Lauren Hearne 
Kim Hebden 
Jacqueline Hewish 
Cherie Hingee 
Susanne Hledik 
Kenny Ho 
Garry Horvai 
Ashleigh Hosemans 
John Howse 
Zhi-Qing Huang 
Ray Huckin 
Debra Hudson 
Nina Huelin 
Hana Ishibashi 
Tessa Iversen 
Kristal Jackson 
Christina Jameson 
Anna Jamieson 
Angell Jin 
Marina Jin 
Alfred Johnson 
Cierwen Jones 
Johanna Jones 
Leslie Jones 
Kate Juttner 
Sandra Kallarakkal 
Kate Keeble 
Matti Keentok 
Bree Kelly 
Danika Kennett 
Aman Khalid 
Harkiran Khanna 
Isabelle King 
Wesley Kington 
Lara Knight 
Ron Koenig 
Edna Koritschoner 
Marlon Kuan 
Mandy Kwong 
Kathy Ky 
Egmont Lademann 
Suet Yi  Lai 
Ya-Lin Lai 
Gemma Lambourne 
Denise Larcombe 
Kim Chun Lau 
John Lauder 
Paul Laxton 
Dinh-Dai Le 
Cathy Lee 
David Lee 
Shannon Lee 
Michael Leslie 
Winnie Leung 
Pamela Leuzinger 
Monty Leventhal 
Wenjie  Li 
Xin Li 
Alice Liang 
Vivian Liao 
Emilia Lin 
Eric Lin 
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Jasmin Lin 
Lizi Lin 
Anthony Liu 
Matthew Lloyd 
Tom Lockley 
Ada Luong 
Kadie Luong 
Gail Luthy 
Mai-Anh Ly 
Ann MacArthur 
Patricia MacDonald 
Molly Anne Macinante 
Ruby Madden 
Agra Maia 
Hong Man 
Peter Martin 
Georgia Mason-Cox 
Kai-Christian Mather 
Herb Mathews 
Heba Mattar 
Julie McFarland 
Geoff McGirr 
Sandra McKirdy 
Jason McLachlan 
Sue McMunn 
Sharon Mee 
Megan Meredith 
Tingyi Miao 
Kathleen Mist 
Jenny Mitchell 
Cindy Mititelu 
Hette Mollema 
Ernie Mollenhauer 
Jill Monro 
Cherie Montgomery 
Denis Moore 
Luella Moore 
Jasmine Munder 
Emma Muzzatti 
Norman Myers 
forough Najarbehbahani 
Shizuka Nakajima 
Isabel Navarro Marote 
Elana Nerwich 
Chiu Ng 
Melisa Ng 
Brandon Nguyen 
Franklin Nieh 
Barry Nielson 
Helen Nowell 
Luis Nunez Delgado 
Trevor Oates 
Ross O’Brien 
Tess O’Brien 
Kelvin O’Keefe 
Tom O’Keeffe 
Rachael O’Toole 
Grace Park 
Ashlea Parsons 
Christinne Patton 
Natalie Pavela 
David Peddar 

James Pettigrew 
Dinh Thang Pham 
Jade Pham 
Joshua Pham 
Michael Pham 
Jasmin Pike 
Richard Pike 
Jim Poole 
Lauren Poole 
Megan Prasad 
Yasodara Puhule Gamayalage 
Chun Yin Pun 
Weicheng Qian 
Peter Radcliffe 
Ivana Radix 
Shaiyana Rafiq 
Judith Rainsford 
Angelique Ray 
Diane Reed 
Elizabeth Reed 
Peter Rennie 
Ronette Reyes 
Sarah Rish 
Joanne Ritchie 
Tandarra Rothman 
Jacqueline Ruston 
Robert Ryan 
Christina Salopek 
Alexis Sawyer 
Olga Sawyer 
Edith Scerri 
Leyla Schmittheisler 
Vikram Shah 
Mary Shoard 
Daniel Simmonds 
Ajay Singh 
Bonita Siu 
Lakshmipriya Sivasankaran 
Sue Slattery 
Ilana Slobedman 
Keryn Smart 
Alexander So 
Seungrok SONG 
Edward Winston Stearn 
Heather Stevens 
Meg Stevenson 
Meredith Stewart 
Christina Sumner 
Jessica Suwart 
Ainsley Sydun 
Diana Tilley-Winyard 
Emma Tippett 
Belinda Tomov 
Maria Townsend 
Claudia Tran 
Phoebe Tsui 
Kate Tuart 
David Uren 
Cooper Van Wijick 
Nicholas Vella 
Claire Vincent 
Eva Vo 

Kim Vo 
Jim Vodanovich 
Paul Waite 
Michelle Walker 
Yan Wan 
Xinlei Wang 
Xiaodi Wang 
Yixing Wang 
Norma Warnecke 
Peter Warren 
Meagan Warwick 
Colin Watts 
Erica Watts 
Robyn Wienholt 
Karen Wilcox 
Ken Williams 
Correa Wilson 
Erin Wilson 
Antony Wober 
Megan Wong 
Peter Wong 
Victor Wongdoo 
John Wright 
Christine Wu 
Rebekah Wu 
Jenny Yang 
Pak-Luan Yeoh 
Emma Yeung 
Joseph Yiu 
Mary Zarate 
Yunyang Zhang 
Liya Zhu 
Stefan Zolin 
Danise Zuvela
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18. AWARDS 

Gravity (and Wonder) 
Winner — IMAGinE Awards Capacity Building, Capital & 
Sustainability Program — (Small/Medium organisations with 
3-10 paid staff) Curators: Katie Dyer, Deborah Vaughan,  
Dr Lee-Anne Hall

Winner — Museums Australia Multimedia and Publication 
Design Awards 2018 (MAPDA) — Poster, Level B 
Designer: Fil Bartkowiak, Editorial Manager: Judith Matheson

Museums Discovery Centre 
Winner — IMAGinE Awards Capacity Building, Capital & 
Sustainability Program — Large Organisation (MDC Shared 
Museums Collection Storage Project) MAAS, Australian 
Museum, Sydney Living Museums

Faith, Fashion, Fusion 
Winner — ICOM Awards — Innovation Award for an 
innovative project. Curator: Glynis Jones.  Exhibition Project 
Coordinator: Kate Ford

Love is … Australian Wedding Fashion 
Highly Commended — Museums Australasia Multimedia and 
Publication Design Awards 2018 (MAPDA) Exhibition catalogue 
(small), Level B, Designers: Filip Bartkowiak, Lucy McGinley

MAAS Magazine — Winter and Summer 
Highly Commended — Museums Australasia Multimedia and 
Publication Design Awards 2018 (MAPDA) Magazine, Level B 
Designer: Filip Bartkowiak, Editorial Manager: Judith Matheson

19. SPONSORS/DONOR LIST

Sponsors (1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018)

Strategic sponsor 
Destination NSW

Principal partners 
Ferrari 
IWC Schaffhausen 
Mr Porter 
Net-a-Porter 
Office of NSW Chief Scientist & Engineer 
Toyota 
Western Sydney University

Major Partners 
Bentley Sydney 
ERCO 
Garde Robe 
Re 
Sydney Airport 
Veolia

Supporting Partners 
Bird in Hand 
Grey Goose 
IMG 
Micador 
Moët & Chandon 
UTS

Airline Partner 
Etihad Airways

Media partners 
APN Outdoor 
GQ Australia

Preferred hotel partner 
QT Sydney

Preferred wine partner 
Tamburlaine Organic Wines

Corporate members 
Mathworks Australia

Donors (1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018)

Governor ($50,000+) 
A bequest by Barry John Willoughby to the Powerhouse 
Museum 
Australian Business and Community Network

President’s Circle ($10,000 – $49,000) 
The British Council  
City of Sydney 
Crown Resorts Foundation 
NSW Department of Family and Community Services 
Packer Family Foundation

Leader ($5,000 – $9,999) 
Scentre Group Limited 
Robert Cameron AO and Paula Cameron of the Cameron 
Family Charitable Endowment 
Lisa Chung 
University of Technology, Sydney

Custodian ($1,000 – $4,999) 
AGB Events Pty Ltd 
AMP Foundation 
Sophie Baker 
Ken Barton 
Andrew Butler 
Kirsten Carriol 
Kate Cato 
Linda Chung 
Sophie Clark

Grace Gedeon 
Prof. Barney Glover and Maree Collins 
Dr Elizabeth Houlihan 
The Japan Foundation, Sydney 
Alexandra Joel 
David Kinniburgh 
Juliet Lockhart 
Alasdair and Prue MacLeod 
Murrays Australia Pty Ltd 
Viktoria Novak 
Ogilvy Public Relations Pty Ltd 
Elizabeth Pakchung 
Dr Dick Quan 
Lucille Scomazzon 
Caroline Sherman 
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Dr Gene Sherman in honour of Gina Kantor 
Sherman Centre for Culture and Ideas 
Robert Swieca and John Robinson 
Van Cleef & Arpels

Investor ($500 – $999) 
Adam Worling Public Relations 
Prudence Burns 
John Buttle 
Annie Cannon-Brookes 
Chic Management 
Holly Garber 
Esti Gruceta 
Kathryn Haynes 
Sally Herman 
Andrew Low 
Ross McNair 
Leanne Menegazzo 
Lorraine Loredana Mercuri 
Dolla Merrillees 
Michael Parry 
Ian Thom 
Louise Watson 
Karyn Westren

Supporter ($2 – $499) 
Nicole Antonini 
Elli Atkins 
Matt Baddiley 
Peter Bailey 
Anna-Rosa Baker 
Susnata Banerjee 
Dr Nadeena Beck 
Anjali Belani-Datt 
Martin Benney 
Sheron Blesadale 
Yael Bornstein 
Sarah Brasch 
Brigette Braun 
Nicky Briger 
Pam Brock 
Anastasia Cammaroto 
Selena Choo 
Kate Cox 
Ruth Cox 
Alisa Danylevych 
Shane Darcy 
Anne Darmann 
Peter Denham 
Fiona Doherty 
Capt. Murray Doyle AAM 
Arani Duggan 
Trent Edmonds 
Yvette M. Egan 
Karen Ezzy 
Jesinta Franklin 
Peter Gould 
David Green 
Alison Greenland 
Jacob Grossbard 
William Harvey 
Yuko Imai 

Craig Jewiss 
Graham Johnson 
Monica Kerr 
Kyung Mi Kwon 
Andrew Lamond 
Olive Langham 
Eugenia Langley 
Dorothy Lewis 
Linxu Li 
Ronesa Lin-Hua 
Ivana Matekalo 
Lien McGowan 
Kim Miller 
Doris Montana 
Tuyen Nguyen 
Anne Nolan 
Claire O’Donel 
Chris Payne 
Eesha Phanse 
Jade Phipps 
June Playford 
Dr Simon Poole 
Melissa Porter 
Jesse Price 
Jake Redfern 
Mary Rogers 
Michele Samuelson 
Edward Sexton 
Tristan Sharp 
Hun Sung Shin 
Mark Sieckman 
Elizabeth Smith 
David Stanton 
Elizabeth Steindler 
Rowan Stenhouse 
Haijing Sun 
Ron Tevita 
Kate Thomas 
John Thorn 
Michelle Tromp 
Jan Van Dyk in honour of Oscar Van Dyk 
John A Vipond 
Alexander Wilson 
Ang Xu 
Alan Yu

and those who have asked to remain anonymous
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20. PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

Payment Performance Indicators 2017/18

Value of accounts due and payable by the Museum at the end of each quarter 

As at
30-Sep-17

$

As at
31-Dec-17

$

As at
31-Mar-18

$

As at
30-Jun-18

$

Current 381,061 694,441 199,751 190,019

Less than 30 days overdue 9,404 1,652 - 7,569

Between 30 & 60 days overdue - - - 7,103

Between 60 & 90 days overdue - 100 - -

More than 90 days overdue -2,121 -1,739 -1,280 -2,191

388,344 694,454 198,471 202,500

These amounts do not include accruals of expenses for which no claim for payment had been made at the end of the quarter.

 
Amount & value of accounts paid by the Museum on time in each quarter

Quarter ending
Accounts Paid Paid on Time

No. $000 No. % $000 %

30 September 2017 1,894 6,888 1,863 98.4 6,794 98.6

31 December 2017 1,899 6,431 1,890 99.5 6,424 99.9

31 March 2018 1,972 6,882 1,900 96.3 6,663 96.8

30 June 2018 2,049 7,362 2,040 99.6 7,344 99.8

The Museum’s policy is to endeavour to ensure that all payments to suppliers are made promptly and in line with State Government 
guidelines. In some circumstances, certain issues relating to claims for payment require further clarification with suppliers. In such cases 
payment is made promptly once agreement is reached on matters requiring clarification. No interest was paid in relation to late payments.

21. BUDGET ESTIMATES

Budgets for the year under review and for the next financial year are set out hereunder in accordance with section 7 (1)(a)(iii) of 
the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984. The budgets have been prepared on an accrual basis.

Expenditure 2017/18
$000

2018/19
$000

Operating Expenses

Employee Related 26,282 26,675

Other Operating Expenses 14,821 16,317

Depreciation and Amortisation 6,228 6,047

Total Expenditure 47,331 49,039

Revenue

Recurrent Grant 28,555 29,641

Capital Grant 2,368 1,868

Sale of Goods and Services 7,450 9,245

Investment Income 265 165

Grants and Contributions 4,500 4,000

Other Revenue 249 248

Acceptance of State Liabilities 971 879

Total Revenue 44,358 46,046

22. CONSULTANTS

The Museum did not engage any consultants during the  
financial year.
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POWERHOUSE MUSEUM
500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 
Postal address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 
Administration hours: 9.00am to 5.00pm Monday to 
Friday  
Phone (02) 9217 0111 
Open 10.00am to 5.00pm every day (closed Christmas 
Day) 
Powerhouse Infoline (for information about what’s on): 
phone (02) 9217 0111 
info@maas.museum

Admission charges 
Adults $15 
Children (under 16) free 
Concessions (Australian Pensioners, Seniors, Social 
Security and Veterans Affairs cardholders) $8 
Student card holders $8 
Education group bookings (contact the Museum for 
charges) 
Members free 
Members of ICOM, Members of Museums Australia Inc 
free 
Group concessions: discounts apply for groups of 10 or 
more  
Additional admission charges apply to some temporary 
exhibitions 

SYDNEY OBSERVATORY
1003 Upper Fort Street, Millers Point NSW 2000 
Postal address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 
Phone: (02) 9217 0111 
Open daily 10.00am to 5.00pm 
Open nightly Monday to Sunday 
Evening Tour start times vary according to time of year 
Bookings required 
booking@maas.museum 
Closed Christmas day/night, Boxing day/night and New 
Year’s Eve

Admission Charges — Day 
Adult $10 
Children (under 16) or concession $8 
Family (1 adult and up to 3 children; or 2 adults and up to 
2 children) $26 
Member adult $8  
Member child (under 16 years) or concession $6 
Member family (1 adult and up to 3 children; or 2 adults 
and up to 2 children) $22 

Admission Charges — Night 
Adult $27 
Children (under 16) $20 
Concession $25 
Family (1 adult and up to 3 children; or 2 adults and up to 
2 children) $80 
Member (adult or concession) $25 
Member (child) $18 
Member (family) $65 
Includes 3-D Space Theatre, telescope viewing and a 
guided tour 
Discounts are offered to MAAS Members for all 
activities 
Other discounts may apply

MUSEUMS DISCOVERY 
CENTRE
172 Showground Road, Castle Hill NSW 2154 
Postal address: PO Box 8025, Baulkham Hills NSW 2153 
Administration hours: 9.00am to 4.30pm Monday to 
Friday 
Phone: (02) 9217 0111 
Open Monday to Friday: 10am to 5pm 
museumsdiscoverycentre.com

Admission Charges 
Adult $10 
Concession $8 (Australian Pensioners, Seniors, Social  
Security and Veterans Affairs cardholders) 
Children (under 16) free

MAAS MEMBERS
Members Lounge open 10.00am to 4.30pm every day 
(closed Christmas Day) 
Phone: (02) 9217 0600 
Email: membership@maas.museum

VOLUNTEERS
If you are interested in volunteer work or have any 
enquiries, please contact (02) 9217 0676 for details.
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